
Democratic Services Section
Chief Executive’s Department
Belfast City Council
City Hall
Belfast 
BT1 5GS

23rd August, 2018

MEETING OF CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE

Dear Alderman/Councillor,

The above-named Committee will meet in the Lavery Room - City Hall on Wednesday, 
28th August, 2019 at 5.15 pm, for the transaction of the business noted below.

You are requested to attend.

Yours faithfully,

SUZANNE WYLIE

Chief Executive

AGENDA:

1. Routine Matters  

(a) Apologies  

(b) Declarations of Interest  

2. Cultural Strategy  (Pages 1 - 258)

3. Presentations  (Pages 259 - 268)

(a) Northern Ireland Water (NIW)  (Pages 269 - 286)

(b) Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company (NITHC)  (Pages 287 - 308)

(c) Department for Infrastructure (DfI) Roads  (Pages 309 - 374)

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION 
COMMITTEE

Subject: Cultural Strategy Update

Date: 28 August 2019

Reporting Officer: Alistair Reid, Strategic Director of Place and Economy

Contact Officer: Eimear Henry, Cultural Regeneration Manager, Ext 3582

Restricted Reports

Is this report restricted? Yes No

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                               

After Committee Decision
After Council Decision
Some time in the future
Never

Call-in

Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                 Yes No

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members on the proposed ten year cultural 

strategy for Belfast, A City Imagining, including:

- The findings from the public consultation

- The emerging investment model including plans for a new multi-annual grant

- Draft implementation plans

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that Members:

x

x

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 Note the findings of the public consultation and approve the updated strategy 

document as the final version for publication.

 Approve the final Equality Impact Assessment and Rural Needs Assessment.

 Approve the opening of a new cultural multi-annual grant scheme in October 

2019 to enable that funding awards are in place for April 2020. Officer 

recommendations will be brought back to Committee in February 2020 for 

ratification by Council in March 2020. 

 Note the contents of the draft implementation plans and the full investment 

model and agree to receive a further report in October 2019 with the final plan 

and budget approved in advance of April 2020. 

 

3.0 Main report

3.1

3.2

Background

In December 2018 Members of City Growth and Regeneration Committee agreed for 

officers to develop a 10 year cultural strategy for Belfast to drive transformation in the 

city. For the first time the scope of this strategy would bring together under one 

compelling vision a number of areas including:

- Support Belfast to become a recognised cultural destination through a coherent 

approach to events and festivals. This would include a range of approaches from 

bidding for major events to supporting local festivals and importantly creating a 

portfolio of Signature homegrown Belfast Events.

- Support sustainability and growth of the cultural sector across the city.

- Build on the work undertaken during European Capital of Culture to make the 

approach to cultural development more people centred and support cultural 

expression, identity and diversity. 

- Support significant strategic projects that celebrate Belfast’s unique culture and 

positions the city internationally.

- Build local capacity and skill development through specific initiatives such as 

neighbourhood tourism.

Members will be aware that in March 2019 the City Growth and Regeneration 

Committee approved that the draft ten-year cultural strategy for Belfast, A City 

Imagining, be subject to a 12-week public consultation exercise. 

Page 2



3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

The draft strategy was the culmination of an extensive research, engagement and 

development programme including a co-design process with citizens and city partners 

that amounted to: 

 Holding 62 civic conversations

 Engaging with 5361 citizens

 Supporting 625 creators

 Working with 106 artists

 Across 85 places

 Through 137 events

The strategy was also informed by a review of existing programmes and frameworks 

including:

 Review of Tourism Strategy 2015-2020

 Review of Cultural Framework for Belfast 2016-2020

 Events and Festivals Review 2017/18

 Review of core multi-annual funding for arts and heritage organisations 2016-2020

 Review of project funding for arts and heritage organisations

 Review of Community Festivals Funding

The draft strategy was shaped by two external bodies of work. The first is Agenda 21 for 

Culture – an international methodology that supports cultural development in cities and 

regions. The focus of Culture 21 is to embed culture as the fourth dimension of sustainable 

cities alongside existing economic, social and ecological pillars. Belfast’s participation in 

the Culture 21 pilot cities programme has already been approved and this programme will 

support the implementation of the strategy.

The second set of recommendations that have helped inform this strategy is the recently 

published Cultural Enquiry by the Core Cities network of which Belfast is a partner 

member. This enquiry presents a number of practical recommendations on investment 

and governance of culture in cities. This presents an opportunity for a collaborative model 

to be taken forward that complements the community planning process and sets shared 

priorities for culture along with a more effective approach to investment to maximise the 

overall return. This involves working closely to leverage new sources of finance including 

public-private models. 

Page 3



3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

The draft strategy
The draft strategy, A City Imagining, opens with a cultural statement for the city shaped 

by the thousands of conversations that have taken place since 2017 as part of the ongoing 

public engagement programme. This is then taken forward through an overall cross-

cutting thematic approach to the strategy with each theme having a particular area of 

focus as follows.

Theme 1: A City Belonging – focuses on supporting active citizenship and participation in 

cultural life.

Theme 2: A City Challenging – focuses on diversity through use of public and cultural 

spaces.

Theme 3: A City Creating – focuses on supporting innovation and creativity across the 

cultural sectors.

Theme 4: A City Exploring – focuses on Belfast’s relationship to the rest of the world both 

inward and outward including support for cultural tourism. 

Four strategic priorities are set out for each theme. The result is a strategic framework 

consisting of 16 key priorities to be delivered by 2030. Each of these priorities have been 

further developed in the detailed draft implementation plans. 

The document also sets out a number of key strategic milestones throughout the ten-year 

period. These include:

 Launching a new approach to events and festivals in the city

 Producing an international year of culture At Home in 2023

 Bidding for UNESCO City of Music in 2021

 Delivering a new visitor attraction in the city centre 

 Developing a long-term local neighbourhood tourism programme 

These specific initiatives are considered to be central to delivering on the city’s overall 

targets for the period and to attract new forms of investment into the city with significant 

cultural, social and economic impacts. Critically the strategy considers the governance 

and investment model required to deliver this type of long-term transformation clearly 

positioning Belfast as a regional driver. 

Page 4



3.12

3.13

3.14

3.13

3.14

3.15

The purpose of the strategy document is to present the overall approach and 

commitments with the intention of developing detailed implementation and actions plans 

to support the delivery of the strategy over the ten-year period. 

The public consultation 
The draft cultural strategy, A City Imagining, was open for public consultation between 

17 April and 10 July 2019. In keeping with this ethos of citizen-led design and 

engagement, Council committed to an in-depth consultation process for this new 

strategy. This involved various engagement strands from the traditional online platform, 

Citizen Space, to opening a consultation hub in the city centre.

Other methods included citywide exhibitions and one to one meetings led by officers. 

The results of the overall process have been extensive reaching over 3000 residents 

and visitors, in one to one engagement through 80 events taking place in Belfast. A 

further 134 responses were received online or in writing. Additional awareness raising 

was achieved through the distribution of the full strategy document, a citizen summary 

and a short film.

There has been overwhelming support for the vision set out in A City Imagining from 

citizens and the cultural, creative and tourism sectors. However with this support has 

come a recognition that for this strategy to be successful it will need resources, 

investment and new levels of partnership working both within Belfast City Council and 

externally.

The public consultation aimed to:

 Test whether the strategy effectively represented the long-term engagement 

process that had taken place

 Identify clear areas for reconsideration or revision

 Inform the development of the implementation plans including the investment 

model.

In order to ensure the aims of the consultation were realised all feedback was assigned 

an action as follows:

Supports Strategy: the comment specifically supports/agrees with an aspect of the 

strategy

Do nothing/ Commentary: the comment doesn’t need action and is general commentary

Page 5



3.16

3.17

3.18

3.19

Consider Revising: consider taking on board the feedback and revising the strategy

accordingly

Implementation Plans: the issue raised will be dealt with in the Implementation Plans

Equality Impact: a specific equality issue has been highlighted and will be addressed.

Through this process the following changes have been made:

 Revisions in language to the Cultural Statement and Tourism Narrative to ensure 

that the vision for inclusivity and diversity is explicitly articulated.

 The 16 priorities are valid and however, some revisions have been made to a 

number of them in order to increase clarity or extend focus. Such examples 

include:

o Ensure that cultural rights includes the principle of respect for other 

people’s rights.

o Increase references to heritage.

A number of recommendations in relation to the strategic projects have helped to shape 

the proposed approach and actions to be taken forward in the implementation plans.

 Further detail on the proposed governance model has been included with 

emphasis on the need for cross-sector partnerships in line with feedback 

received.

 Feedback on the investment model has been considered as part of the design 

of new funding programmes. Specific feedback taken on board is that the open 

definition of culture within the strategy while positive must then be supported by 

robust investment criteria. Each funding stream will have very clearly defined 

eligibility criteria and quality assessment.

Full details of the public consultation are included at Appendix 1 with the revised 

strategy included at Appendix 2. 

Draft implementation plans
A significant amount of feedback received during the engagement and public consultation 

process has helped to inform the draft implementation plans. From the outset, whilst there 

was a recognised need for a long-term commitment through a ten-year strategy, this 

approach required shorter implementation phases that could both support the overall 

vision and be responsive to constantly changing local and global environments. The first 

implementation phase will be 2020 -2023. Appendix 3 sets out full details, however it is 

Page 6



3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

important to note that this is a draft document and Committee are asked only to note the 

work to date and agree to receive future updates in advance of agreeing the final plan. 

Between September 2019 and March 2020 further consideration will be given to these 

plans including internal and external engagement and the setting of baselines and key 

performance indicators. Annual service plans will also be developed. 

The following areas are covered in the draft Implementation plans:

 Actions to support the 16 strategic priorities set out in A City Imagining

 Actions to support specific strategic projects or areas of focus such as UNESCO 

City of Music and At Home in 2023

 Priority areas and actions for tourism development

 Overview of the proposed investment model

 Details of the proposed governance model

 Proposed approach to Communications and Evaluation

Subsequent reports will be taken to the City Growth and Regeneration Committee with 

final approval due following rate setting in early 2020. Final plans will become operational 

from April 2020. 

The investment model
To support the delivery of the cultural strategy consideration has been given to a fit for 

purpose investment model. Full details of this draft model is included at Appendix 4 

however this is subject to further consideration and budget allocation. The 

recommendation is that this model is introduced in phases with the first phase being 

approval for a new multi-annual grant to replace the existing core multi-annual funding for 

arts and heritage (due to end in March 2020) and previous one-off funding agreements to 

events and festivals awarded via Committee on either a year to year or adhoc basis. 

Members are asked to approve the opening of the multi-annual scheme in October 2019 

in line with the criteria outlined below and on pages 7-11 of Appendix 4: DRAFT Approach 

to investing in culture.

Core multi-annual grants
In April 2013, Council introduced core multi-annual funding for arts and heritage 

organisations. In April 2016 this scheme was repeated with 56 organisations receiving 

funding. 

Page 7



3.24

3.25

3.26

3.27

3.28

The purpose of the core multi-annual funding was to support core costs and associated 

programme costs, offering longer term sustainability for Belfast based arts or heritage 

organisations that have full time staff and ongoing annual costs, and that produce work 

which substantially benefits the city.  

 

Assessments were made only on the basis of information supplied by the applicant within 

their submission.  This included the application form, programme of activities and 

supporting documentation such as business plans and strategies. Assessors considered 

the strategic fit of the proposed programme against the agreed Cultural Framework. 

Contracts associated with this programme are due to come to an end in March 2020. 

The extensive monitoring and evaluation of core multi annual funding indicates the 

success of a multi-annual approach, however, revisions were necessary such as the 

introduction of a tiered approach including a 4 year and 2 year option as this would offer 

greater equality of opportunity especially for developing or newer organisation. It is 

therefore recommended that a new multi-annual funding programme is opened in 

October 2019 to support organisations from April 2020 onwards in line with the priorities 

set out in the new cultural strategy, A City Imagining. 

Events and Festivals 

In 2017/18 an independent review of events and festivals was carried out by Festivals 

and Events International (FEI). This review recommended that in line with the 

established approach for arts and heritage that a multi-annual funding programme with 

published criteria was also introduced for festivals and events in the city. This was 

considered critical to ensuring greater accountability and transparency of funding and to 

increase the impact and return on investment. 

The proposed approach

The recommendation is that a new cultural multi-annual grant (MAG) is introduced with 

two strands of multi-annual grants (MAGs) available, that is grants for: 

1. Festivals and events with an audience of more than 10,000 

2. Arts and heritage organisations with a year-round programme of activity 

There are also two tiers of investment available: two- and four-year. 

Page 8



3.29

3.30

3.31

3.32

3.33

Arts and heritage MAGs

Arts and heritage MAGs are designed to help sustain our existing cultural offer. They are 

open to organisations that have a recurrent, year-round programme of work and ongoing 

costs. It is expected that organisations sustain their programme over the period making a 

significant contribution to the cultural life of the city. It is not intended for short- or fixed-

term projects or single or one-off events. 

Festivals and events MAGs

A festival or event is an activity or a series of activities with a common theme that occurs 

on one day or over a period of several successive days.

Festivals and events MAGs are designed to develop large events and festivals that will 

help Belfast become an events destination. Applicants will have to demonstrate how they 

will grow their audience by the end of the contract period. This means that new festivals 

and events, and festivals with audiences less than 10,000 people, can still apply.

Eligibility and Criteria

The eligibility criteria has been drawn up in relation to the potential scale and impact of 

the organisation and programme and takes into consideration areas such as turnover, 

audience and staffing. An online eligibility quiz will guide organisations through this stage 

of the process. 

Quality criteria 

The quality criteria for all strands and tiers are directly related to the priorities of the new 

cultural strategy. If an application is deemed eligible, it will be scored against the following 

criteria.   

Criteria Weighting %
Quality of programme

 Vision

 Quality of content 

 Quality of audience experience 

 Marketing 

30 

Impact of activity

 Targets 

 Contribution to 

o A City Belonging (impact on people) 

40 

Note: 

applicants 

must score 75 

Page 9



3.34

3.35

3.36

3.37

3.38

o A City Challenging (impact on place) 

o A City Creating (impact on sector) 

o A City Exploring (impact on worldview/our place in the 

world) 

 Monitoring and evaluating impact 

per cent or 

over (that is, 30 

marks or more) 

in this section 

to be eligible 

for a MAG

Readiness for investment 

 Planning 

 Financial management 

 Governance 

 Skills 

 Environmental impact      

30 

Applications must score at least 65 per cent overall to be considered for investment. 

Even if an application scores 65 or over, this is not a guarantee of funding as this scheme 

is expected to be very competitive, and the funding threshold will depend on demand, 

quality of applications and resources available.

Principles of the Assessment Process

Applications received will be eligibility checked by the Central Grants Unit before being 

passed to Tourism, Culture, Heritage and Arts or City Events officers for scoring.  

A five day rule is implemented by the Central Grants Unit at the eligibility check stage for 

missing information such as accounts. This only applies to information that is not 

scored. Thereafter, officers do not return to applicants to request any additional details 

in relation to their applications.  

Officers undertake a thorough assessment of all eligible applications.  Assessments and 

applications are discussed and agreed at an internal moderation panel.  

An independent assessment panel co-ordinated by Central Grants Unit and made up of 

Head of Service and Unit managers is also convened. The role of this assessment panel 

is ‘to ensure that the scoring of applications has been undertaken in an appropriate 

fashion and to provide verification or validation of sampled applications and the overall 

process’.

Page 10



3.39

3.40

3.41

3.42

3.43

3.44

3.45

It is recommended that for applications to 4 year funding for large festivals (Imagine) 

that the assessment and moderation stages include input from an external independent 

expert to be appointed via quotation. 

Officer recommendations will be brought back to Committee in February 2020 for 

consideration and approval. Letters of offer will be issued following Council ratification in 

March 2020. In order to mitigate against any impact of the new multi-annual scheme 

project funding for arts, heritage, festivals and events will remain unchanged in 2020/21. 

Promotion of grants

In recognition that this core funding programme is an open and competitive process the 

necessary measures will be taken to ensure that all eligible organisations have an equal 

opportunity to apply. This will include:

 Public advertisements via newspapers and websites

 Email notifications 

 General Information Sessions  in locations across the city

 An offer of one to one advice session to any potential applicant with a Tourism, 

Culture, Arts & Heritage officer or a City Events officer

Full details of the multi-annual grant are available in the relevant section of the 

Investment Model included at Appendix 4. 

Other considerations for City Events

It is important to note that the proposed multi-annual grant for events and festivals will 

not be the only investment available. Project funding including support for 

neighbourhood festivals will continue through the Community Festivals Fund. 

Council will also continue to directly deliver a number of city events including the 

Maritime Festival and St Patrick’s. However these events will be reviewed with an 

increased focus on partnership working and delivery. 

Finally, Council will continue to work in partnership with other stakeholders to bid for and 

secure major events for the city. A report will be taken back to Committee in October 

with an update on proposals for the period 2020-2025. 

Page 11



3.46

3.47

3.48

Financial & Resource Implications

There are no direct financial resource implications at this time. The recommendations 

for funding will be presented to Committee for approval in February 2020 and will be 

subject to agreed budgets for subsequent years.

The full delivery of the strategy will be considered as part of the rate setting and final 

implementation plans will be agreed pending the outcome of this process. A further 

detailed report setting out operational and financial implications will be taken to City 

Growth and Regeneration Committee in October 2019. 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/ Rural Needs Assessment

The cultural strategy has been subject to an Equality Impact Assessment (EAIQ) 

included at Appendix 5 and a Rural Needs Assessment (RNS) at Appendix 6. Where 

any issues were raised during the public consultation these have been addressed in the 

strategy, implementation plans and investment model and the EQIA and RNIA have 

been updated accordingly. The multi-annual grant has also been equality screened and 

rural needs assessed. All subsequent strands of the investment model will be equality 

screened and rural needs assessed. 

4.0 Appendices – Documents Attached

4.1 Appendix 1: A City Imagining Public Consultation Report

Appendix 2: A City Imagining Final Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 – 2030

Appendix 3: A City Imagining Draft Implementation Plan 2020 – 2023

Appendix 4: A City Imagining Draft Approach to investing in culture

Appendix 5: A City Imagining Final Equality Impact Assessment

Appendix 6: A City Imagining Final Rural Needs Impact Assessment

Page 12



A cIty 
ImaGinIng

A cIty 
ImaGinIng

Cultural Strategy for 
Belfast 2020 - 2030

Public Consultation 
Report

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

1
Page 13



Belfast Is…
 
 
Belfast is
Family.
Mad kids. Bear hugs.
Not a minute to yourself
But you wouldn’t change it.
Friendship.
Nights out, nights in.
Movies, PJs and sneaky drinks.
Accepting me for me,
They’ve got my back.
Belfast is
my girls.
Confrontational.
Loud. Lawless.
Keep yourself to yourself.
Keep quiet.
Staying inside, peering through windows.
Belfast is
challenging.
Overcoming the hardest times.
When you thought you’d stop.
When you think you can’t go on without them.
There are people:
Belfast people,
Who pick you up.
Who make you laugh.
Who look out for everyone.
And you know there is love.
Belfast is…
Getting there.

Poem by Sure Start  
Parents, East Belfast

A City Imagining

2
Page 14



Contents
Executive Summary  05

Introduction  08

Approach & Methodology  09

Citizen Space Survey & Written Responses  11

The Hub 20

City Wide Exhibition & Workshops  24

Sector & Stakeholder Engagement  26

Tourism Workshops  27

BCC Internal Engagement  28

Wider Public Engagement  29

Extended Reach  32

Influence on Strategy – taking things forward  34

Next Steps  39

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

3
Page 15



A City Imagining

4
Page 16



Executive Summary

The Belfast Agenda, our city’s first community plan, sets a vision for 
2035 that imagines a culturally vibrant city. As part of this ambition, 
Council recently launched a draft ten-year cultural strategy, A City 
Imagining. This draft plan was open for public consultation from 17 
April until 10 July 2019.

The strategy
The strategy, A City Imagining, opens with a 
cultural statement for the city shaped by the 
thousands of conversations that have taken 
place since 2017 as part of an ongoing public 
engagement programme. This is taken forward 
through a cross-cutting thematic approach to the 
strategy with each theme having a particular area 
of focus.

Theme 1: A City Belonging – focuses on 
supporting active citizenship and participation in 
cultural life.

Theme 2: A City Challenging – focuses on 
diversity through use of public and cultural spaces.

Theme 3: A City Creating – focuses on supporting 
innovation and creativity across the cultural 
sectors.

Theme 4: A City Exploring – focuses on Belfast’s 
relationship to the rest of the world both inward 
and outward including support for cultural tourism. 

The document also sets out a number of key 
strategic milestones throughout the ten-year 
period. 

• Launching a new approach to events and 
festivals in the city

• Producing an international year of culture in 
2023

• Bidding for UNESCO City of Music in 2021
• Delivering a new visitor attraction in the city 

centre and local neighbourhood tourism 
programme to open in 2024

These specific initiatives are considered central to 
delivering the city’s overall targets for the period 
and to attract new forms of investment into the 
city with significant cultural, social and economic 
impacts. 

Critically the strategy considers the governance 
and investment model required to deliver this type 
of long-term transformation clearly positioning 
Belfast as a regional driver. 

The purpose of the strategy document is to present 
the overall approach and commitments over a 
ten-year period. This will then be supported by 
an additional body of work that will give detailed 
consideration to how this will be delivered. This 
will include the development of initial three-
year implementation plans that will specifically 
address:

• Each of the priorities set out in the strategy
• Each of the strategic projects set out in the 

strategy
• Detail of the proposed investment model
• Detail of the proposed governance model

Public Consultation

The preparation for this strategy has included 
thousands of one to one conversations with 
citizens from across the city. This work recognised 
our city’s complex cultural challenges and 
presented an opportunity to recognise the 
transformative power of culture, art and creativity. 
We have also built on the commitments and 
achievements of previous strategies and 
frameworks, promoting culture led development 
with the individual citizen at the heart of the 
process. 

In keeping with this ethos of citizen-led design and 
engagement, Council committed to an in-depth 
public consultation process for this new strategy. 
This involved various engagement strands from 
the traditional online platform, Citizen Space, to 
opening a consultation hub in the city centre.

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

5
Page 17



Other methods included citywide exhibitions and 
one to one meetings led by officers. The results of 
the overall process have been extensive reaching 
over 3000 residents and visitors, in one to one 
engagement through 80 events taking place in 
Belfast. This was further supported by additional 
awareness raising through the distribution of the 
full strategy document, citizen summary and a 
short film.

There has been overwhelming support for the 
vision set out in A City Imagining from citizens 
and the cultural, creative and tourism sectors. 
However with this support has come a recognition 
that for this strategy to be successful it will 
need resources, investment and new levels of 
partnership working both within Belfast City 
Council and externally. 

Conclusion

The public consultation aimed to:
• Test whether the Strategy effectively 

represented the long-term engagement 
process that had taken place

• Identify clear areas for reconsideration or 
revision

• Inform the development of the implementation 
plans including the investment model.

In order to ensure the aims of the consultation 
were realised all feedback has been assigned an 
action as follows: 

• Supports Strategy – the comment specifically 
supports/agrees with an aspect of the strategy

• Do nothing/ Commentary – the comment 
doesn’t need action and is general 
commentary 

• Consider Revising – consider taking on 
board the feedback and revising the strategy 
accordingly

• Implementation Plans – the issue raised will be 

dealt with in the Implementation Plans
• Equality Impact – a specific equality issue has 

been highlighted and should be addressed.

Through this process we have come to the 
following decisions:
• Some revisions in language will be made to 

the Cultural Statement, Tourism Narrative and 
Tourism Themes to ensure that the vision for 
inclusivity and diversity in explicitly articulated. 

• The 16 priorities are all valid and will continue 
into the final draft, however, some revisions 
will be made to a number of them in order to 
increase clarity or extend focus. Examples 
include:  
• Ensure that cultural rights includes the 

principle of respect for other people’s rights. 
• Increase references to heritage.

• A number of recommendations in relation to 
the strategic projects have helped to shape the 
proposed approach and actions to be taken 
forward in the implementation plans. 

• Further detail on the proposed governance 
model has been included with emphasis on the 
need for cross-sector partnerships in line with 
feedback received. 

• Feedback on the investment model has 
been considered as part of the design of new 
funding programmes. Specific feedback 
taken on board is that the open definition of 
culture within the strategy while positive must 
then be supported by robust criteria for any 
investment. Each funding stream will have very 
clearly defined eligibility criteria and quality 
assessment. 

Total number 
of people

3,264

No. of citywide 
event engagements

Strategy documents

1,390

Online 
responses

95

No. of people at 
citywide workshops

731

OUr stoRyiN nUmbErs 

Total number 
of events

86

Written responses

39
No. of people 

city centre 
consultation hub 

1,089

Film

1

Citizen 
summaries

4,000

2,000

A City Imagining

6
Page 18



Total number 
of people

3,264

No. of citywide 
event engagements

Strategy documents

1,390

Online 
responses

95

No. of people at 
citywide workshops

731

OUr stoRyiN nUmbErs 

Total number 
of events

86

Written responses

39
No. of people 

city centre 
consultation hub 

1,089

Film

1

Citizen 
summaries

4,000

2,000

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

7
Page 19



Introduction

The proposal sets out in the strategy included:

• A cultural statement for Belfast
• 16 Strategic Priorities over the ten-year period
• 4 strategic projects
• A new approach of governance
• An investment model 

The consultation aimed to understand people’s 
views towards each of the components of 
the strategy and to inform the next phase of 
implementation. The consultation set out to 
engage with a broad range of people including 
residents, visitors, members of the creative and 
cultural sector, tourism providers and businesses. 

Introduction

This report provides a summary of the consultation undertaken 
by Belfast City Council on the draft Cultural Strategy for Belfast 
2020 – 2030, A City Imagining. At a meeting of City Growth and 
Regeneration Committee on 28 March 2018 it was agreed that the 
draft be subject to a 12 week public consultation. 

A City Imagining

8
Page 20



Approach & Methodology

In 2017, Belfast City Council began the process 
of bidding for European Capital of Culture 2023 
designation in partnership with Derry City and 
Strabane District Council.  Part of the requirement 
for the bid application process was to involve the 
local population and civil society in the preparation 
of the application.  Due to the constraints of time 
and the desire to experiment with new methods of 
engagement, a radical decision was taken to adopt 
a different approach to engagement to that which 
Council often operates.  

Rather than using the standard methodology of 
asking people to come to formal meetings, we 
mobilised a cohort of willing volunteers and sent 
them out into the spaces where we knew we could 
meet people – to train stations, bus stations, 
shopping centres, community centres and the 
workplace to ask people two open questions; 
• What makes you happy? 
• What keeps you awake at night? 

By the time it came to submitting our bid we had 
been involved in over 15,000 conversations across 
the region and a clear trend emerged.  For most 
people, their feelings of happiness and anxiety 
sprang from the same source – their connection 
to their family and their sense of ‘home.’  To further 
investigate this we added a third question, ‘What 
does home mean to you?’ and introduced a cluster 
of traditional and less traditional engagement 
methods (graffiti walls, surveys, focus groups, 
visual art, pop-up gazebos with ‘social sofas’) to 
create opportunities for people to be more active in 
their responses.  

Regrettably, the European Commission decided 
that the UK would not be eligible to compete for 
the designation of European Capital of Culture 
due to on-going Brexit negotiations.  However, 

Belfast City Council took the decision to follow 
through on the ambition and momentum of the bid 
by developing a ten-year cultural strategy. It was 
noted that a key strength of the bid was the level 
of civic engagement that had fed directly into the 
development of bid’s concept, ‘At Home,’ and the 
draft cultural programme that emerged.  

Our approach to developing the ten-year cultural 
strategy has built upon the work undertaken 
during the bid process with a commitment that 
the engagement and consultation process 
should itself embody the principles of active civic 
participation. 

• Be innovative, creative, participatory and 
empowering for the people involved

• Be cognisant of the specific context (social 
and demographic)

• Support active forms of engagement that help 
to build self-confidence and efficacy  

• Use a mixture of ‘audience-by-surprise’ in 
keeping with the European Commission’s 
recommendation for engaging with ‘people 
who are hard to reach or do not participate in 
cultural activity for a complex range of reasons, 
related to social exclusion factors, education 
and accessibility’.  [Source: Directorate-
General for Education, Youth, Sport and 
Culture Creative Europe Programme: Study on 
Audience Development: How to place citizens 
at the centre of cultural organisations, 2017]

We therefore wanted to ensure that the impact of 
the consultation was greater than the qualitative 
and quantitative outputs that would we would use 
to inform the strategy. There should be outcomes 
directly associated with participation in the 
engagement process. 

Anticipated Primary Outcomes:

1 Participants build self-confidence and self-efficacy

2 Participants feel more able to effect change in their lives

3 Positive changes in attitudes and perceptions are created

4 Participants are more likely to engage in high quality culture and arts activities

5 Participants feel encouraged to embrace their role as creative place makers in Belfast

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

9
Page 21



The strong sense of civic ownership taken forward 
into the new cultural strategy for 2020 – 2030 A 
City Imagining has had an enthusiastic response. 
The cultural sector has been reassured and 
inspired to see the energy placed into the bidding 
process for European Capital of Culture has not 
been wasted. 

“BCC is to be congratulated on not 
letting the hard work, significant 
public engagement, enthusiasm and 
momentum from the bid for European 
Capital of Culture 2023 get lost. 
Instead by bringing much of the effort 
into this draft strategy and how it has 
been developed, it feels that despite 
the bid process being taken away from 
Belfast, it was well worth the time that 
was spent in preparing the Bid Book.” 

CEO, thrive

There was however also a need to move beyond 
the European Capital of Culture bid to look at more 
sustained forms of engagement. Creative practice 
continued to be at the heart of both the pre-
consultation period from January to March 2019 
and for the official public consultation process 
from April to July 2019. As well as garnering views 
it began to look at fostering a sense of agency and 
collective responsibility for delivering on what had 
the potential to become a shared vision for the city.   

“First and foremost, thank you to BCC 
once again for making this such a 
genuinely consultative process, as a 
sector we feel listened to and that we 
have an input, and that makes this 
document exciting.” 

Eibhlin De Barra, Young at Art

“I feel the engagement process has 
been well curated and got a significant 
amount of investment in people’s time 
and energy to explore what this means 
for Belfast.” 

Anon, Citizen Space Survey

“This has been a phenomenal 
undertaking that has been inspirational 
in the way in which it has been carried 
out. Like many working in the arts and 
culture sector I am immensely excited 
and encouraged by the vision and 
ambition of the strategy and I really 
hope the City Council fully embraces 
the cultural strategy and allows it to 
realise its potential for the city.” 

Member of Public, Citizen Space Survey

The depth of engagement has ensured that the 
responses received through the consultation 
are authentic, well-considered and insightful. 
There has been a level of critical and constructive 
discourse that has challenged elements of the 
proposals.  This can now help inform the next 
version of the strategy and the development 
of implementation plans not to mention value 
feedback on services delivered across the Council. 

Delivering a multi-faceted approach to public 
consultation created opportunities for connection 
and a choice for people as to how they wanted to 
engage. The process helped to build trust with the 
sector and citizens. However with this has come 
an expectation that this marks only the beginning 
of a new way of working. We must continue 
engagement-led design of future cultural projects 
as well as exploring the opportunity to embed 
this approach in the design and delivery of other 
Council services. 

A City Imagining

10
Page 22



Citizen Space Survey 

• We specifically requested feedback on:
• Cultural Statement
• Four themes and their associated priorities
 - A City Belonging
 - A City Challenging
 - A City Creating
 - A City Exploring
• Strategic projects such as The Hub, At Home in 

2023 and UNESCO City of Music
• Governance
 - A City Connecting 
• Investment
 - A City Investing

The Citizen Space responses evidenced high levels 
of support for the priorities set out in the strategy: 

Council’s formal online consultation platform, Citizen Space 
hosted the response survey for Draft Cultural Strategy 2020 – 
2030, A City Imagining. During the 12 weeks of public consultation 
between April and July 2019 we received 95 responses to this 
detailed questionnaire. Of respondents 73% identified themselves 
as being members of public rather than affiliated to a specific 
group or organisation. 

Theme/ Strategic Project Agree/ Broadly Agree

A City Belonging & priorities 79%

A City Challenging & priorities 75%

A City Creating & priorities 80%

A City Exploring & priorities 79%

A City Connecting (Governance) 72%

A City Investing (Investment) 72%

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

11
Page 23



Written responses to the draft strategy were also welcomed, with 39 received in total via email and post, 
the majority of which came from cultural and creative organisations within the sector as well as other 
funding bodies, heritage organisations and some members of the public. 

As with the Citizen Space Survey responses there was high levels of support for the themes and priorities 
set out in the strategy. While there was support for the strategic projects 2023 Year of Culture and 
UNESCO City of Music alongside, there were some concerns about ensuring additional investment and 
legacy. The written responses also reinforced how valuable the in- depth engagement process has been 
and that the work put into the pre-consultation process was very evident in the draft strategy. 

A selection of comments from both Citizen Space Survey and the written responses are included below. 

Written Responses 

A City 
Belonging

Comments

“I certainly agree that it is vital to guarantee 
the cultural rights of people to identify with 
multiple cultures and adapt as they evolve 
and it goes without saying that the arts and 
creative practice can foster the confidence to 
imagine greater diversity of belonging.” 

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

It’s great that this theme is so empowering, 
but I feel it’s important to also encourage 
people to listen and to help and to collaborate, 
as well as finding their own voice.” 

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

As the capital city, Belfast 
belongs to more than just its 
residents with a much wider 
section of the population who 
work and visit Belfast feeling 
like it is “home” to them. 
Some acknowledgement 
of this would be good as 
currently the wording 
excludes non-residents.

Visual Arts Forum, written response

A City Imagining

12
Page 24



A City 
Challenging Comments

This is an incredibly important theme for me. 
Our public spaces are often unused, unloved 
and unwelcoming and the city can be very 
off-putting in many ways - poor lighting, 
anti-social behaviour and litter.  Cultural use 
needs to be integrated into planning at the 
outset and properly resourced. We need to 
be ambitious and to learn from other cities 
examples eg Manchester MIF, Durham 
Lumiere, Liverpool, Edinburgh festivals.” 

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

“We strongly agree with the priorities 
under this strategic theme.  Particularly 
the commitment to investment into 
unused spaces for cultural purposes and 
the commitment to support high quality 
accessible cultural events

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

We agree with this strategic 
theme and welcome the inclusion 
of Belfast’s open spaces within 
it. The National Trust looks after 
open spaces across the city 
including Divis and the Black 
Mountain, Minnowburn and 
Lisnabreeney. We would welcome 
the opportunity to be involved in 
creating the conditions at these 
places to enable the diverse 
encounters contained within this 
strategic theme.

The National Trust, written response

A City 
exploring

Comments

“I support this strategic theme wholeheartedly. 
There is a tendency to work in silos and the 
existing cultural sector is very fragmented so 
a focus on building collaboration and networks 
is very welcome.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

“It is important to stress that a city exploring 
and confident of its place in the world is about 
people telling and exploring the stories of the 
city.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

 
 

We concur that there is 
significant potential to strengthen 
and grow our city’s cultural 
tourism offer and subsequently 
realise the benefits of inward 
investment as well as improved 
local placemaking. 
 
CEO, Strand Arts Centre, written response

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

13
Page 25



A City 
Creating

Comments

liFt oFF Comments

“I feel that this priority is particularly important, 
providing opportunities for artists and 
organisations to take risks and develop work that 
isn’t prescribed to tackle a social or economic 
issue. The benefits of a multicultural, secure and 
risk-taking arts and cultural sector has benefits 
that ripple into these areas anyway.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

“There is little focus on audiences and 
consumers of arts. The phrase citizens could be 
replaced with visitors and residents to make it 
sound more inclusive and using the language 
people use about each other.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

A&B NI agrees that a culturally vibrant 
city must take risks and that cultural, 
arts and heritage organisations have 
a key role to play as creative leaders, 
innovators and challengers. 

CEO, Arts & Business NI

2023 
 
“This year designated to a year of events is 
to be welcomed and enjoyed. Lifting Belfast 
to the world stage is critical in developing 
sustainable partnerships across the globe. 
Projects and partnerships that engage our 
communities that educate and develop space 
for our citizens to build cross-community 
friendships and understanding can only assist 
in bringing cultural and economic wealth to 
our city.” 
 
MoP, Citizen Space Survey

“The capacity and skillset of the city’s creative 
producers and artists needs to be supported 
and invested in to make this the success it 
could be.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

 
 

The festival welcomes the ambition 
to make 2023 a designated year 
of culture and are fully prepared 
to play our role in what could be a 
transformative programme 
of events.

 Cathedral Quarter Arts Festival Director, 
written response

A City Imagining

14
Page 26



City events & Festivals 
 
“Sounds very positive.  Great to see the arts 
given the recognition they deserve and if this 
is to be believed some tangible support.  Quite 
a radical (but welcome) departure.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

“Using local artists and residents to tell local 
stories and insights, celebrating the city. I 
think this is an excellent step towards building 
confidence from the inside up and for visitors 
they will get to see the area in an intimate and 
illuminated way” 

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

“There needs to be ambition and a willingness 
to take risks, and there needs to be a realistic 
level of investment and support given. There 
also needs to be a more long-term approach 
taken to planning, funding and developing 
large scale events so they can be realised to 
their full potential.” 

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

 

 
“In terms of the civic events we advocate 
for building a stronger relationship with 
the cultural sector and development of a 
co-design approach to civic events such as 
Halloween and St Patrick’s Day.” 
 
CEO Artsekta, written response 

There needs to be a much more 
strategic and objective approach to 
events within the city and the role they 
play within the annual calendar. There 
needs to be ambition and a willingness 
to take risks, and there needs to be 
a realistic level of investment and 
support given. There also needs to be 
a more long-term approach taken to 
planning, funding and developing large 
scale events so they can be realised to 
their full potential. 
 
MoP, Citizen Space Survey

the destinAtion Hub 
 
“I think this is much needed for the city and is 
a brave and ambitious initiative. This could be 
truly transformational in terms of tourism and 
profile and could establish an international 
reputation for Belfast.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

“Whilst Belfast’s destination Hub is very 
much a driver for tourism, we would also like 
to see this be representative of, created by 
and also for Belfast’s communities. Such an 
experience has great potential to instil a sense 
of pride in the city and help connect Belfast’s 
residents with the place they call home. We 
would like to see more clarity around how the 
people of Belfast and cultural and heritage 
organisations can be involved in the shaping 
of this project.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

 
Whilst Belfast’s destination Hub is very 
much a driver for tourism, we would 
also like to see this be representative 
of, created by and also for Belfast’s 
communities. Such an experience has 
great potential to instil a sense of pride 
in the city and help connect Belfast’s 
residents with the place they call home. 
 
MoP, Citizen Space Survey

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

15
Page 27



City oF music 
 
“Wholeheartedly in support - about time our 
amazing musical heritage and talent was 
recognised and celebrated.”  
 
MoP, Citizen Space Survey 
 
“It’s important here to nurture and celebrate 
the diversity of the music offering in Belfast.  
If this is approached properly it’s a great idea. 
Important to not let the ‘music story’ of Belfast 
become just about one genre/idol/etc. and 
that the range of talent and achievements 
across the board here are recognised and 
supported.” 
 
MoP, Citizen Space Survey

 
 
We are supportive of the 
UNESCO City of Music 
ambitions and as Belfast’s 
dedicated music hub, Oh 
Yeah is hoping that along with 
many other music and related 
partners and public we will play 
a part in making this happen. 
 
CEO, Oh Yeah Music Centre written response

tourism narrative 
& tHemes 
 
“So happy to see that Belfast is looking to 
Culture as a bastion of our tourism narrative, 
without culture we have nothing to offers 
visitors on the world stage. It is of utmost 
importance to build a sustainable arts sector 
with myriad cultural offerings to encourage 
the world to see how we have grown from our 
troubled past.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey
 
“Whilst I share the vision that we grow tourism 
and visitor nights in the city. We have already 
seen areas of the city be demolished, history 
eroded and the beginning of gentrification. 
First and foremost a city has a responsibility 
to its citizens and if we can develop a tourism 
model which doesn’t bend over backwards 
to accommodate the overseas visitors at the 
expense of local people then well and good.”
 
MoP, Citizen Space Survey

 
 
 
 
Rousing. Beautifully written 
and we expect anyone from 
our city can relate to the 
characteristics of our city which 
it highlights and celebrates. 
 
CEO, Strand Arts Centre written response

A City Imagining

16
Page 28



A City 
ConneCting Comments

“Communication between City Council and 
the people is key.  You have been brilliant at 
this during the Consultation - long may it 
continue across all departments and levels of 
authority in Belfast.”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

 
 
 

I support the proposal for improving 
connections. These need to relate to physical 
access and infrastructure also. Public 
transport needs to improve beyond the 
radial access. Cycle infrastructure needs to 
further improve to encourage sustainable 
connections. These are all linked to 
welcoming tourism and being inclusive 
in the approach to culture.

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

A City 
investing

Comments

“This is great to see.  New thinking and 
creativity in planning investment - how 
exciting!”

MoP, Citizen Space Survey

“To drive significant change and realistically 
sustain the cultural sector for the next decade 
and beyond, the number one priority needs to 
be finding fresh and flexible means of funding 
the arts, including creating new income 
streams” 

Emily De Dakis, self-employed writer & 
theatre maker

 

 
 
A&B NI agrees that a funding 
model for the Arts needs to 
include public investment and 
income from private sources.  
There are opportunities for 
raising new income from non-
grant sources but this needs to 
be coupled with investment in 
core infrastructure and 
artistic excellence. 
 
CEO, Arts & Business NI

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

17
Page 29



A City Imagining

18
Page 30



Leadership & staffing

Overall the ambition of the strategy was 
celebrated. However there was a note of caution 
in that the successful implementation was in 
part dependent on ensuring that the organisation 
developed fit for purpose structures, skills and 
resources to deliver. 

“Culture requires a properly resourced team 
with senior roles inputting into the BCC Chief 
Executive.” 
Claire Hanna, MLA

Outside of the given themes and strategic priorities set out in A 
City Imagining it is important to note these two key areas were 
raised several times across the consultation responses.

The Culture team itself needs 
to be adequately resourced 
to deliver on the ambitions of 
‘A City Imagining’ and itself 
become investment ready. 
More staff, more resources, 
more time to liaise with the 
sector are key to the success 
of the plans outlined. 
 
Director, Out to Lunch Festival

Built Heritage

A number of respondents emphasised the 
need for clearer and explicit recognition of built 
heritage as part of the key priorities focussed 
on cultural heritage. There was also a concern 
that this strategy needed to clear connect with 
other services within Council. A suggestion as 
to how this could be achieved was through the 
development of a cross-cutting heritage strategy. 

“We believe that our built heritage is a fundamental 
part of what makes Belfast so vibrant. It provides 
a sense of place and contributes to the quality of 
life. Culture and heritage are intrinsically linked- 
often forming the backdrop within which activities 
take place and also in the form of our public parks, 
public spaces, our private spaces of retreat in 
the very many places of worship in the city. Our 
shared heritage draws people into the city, making 
it attractive for businesses- for example the tech 
businesses who have recently expanded in the 
historic Ormeau Baths, it is important to tourists 
and as a place to live.” 
Historic Environment Division

“I feel that saving, protecting and respecting our 
historic built heritage should be given the highest 
possible priority.  This is what defines Belfast and 
should be core to a city belonging where people 
have the link to the areas and history.” 
MoP, Citizen Space Survey

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

19
Page 31



A City Imagining

20
Page 32



A City 
imagining Hub

The City Imagining Hub was a pop-up public consultation shop on 
Royal Avenue that ran for five weeks from 5 June until 12 July.  
The shop was designed to make the key priorities from the strategy 
tangible to the people of Belfast through interactive and engaging 
activities. The hub welcomed a wide range of different groups from 
across Belfast to engage in structured workshops about the future 
of the city. However, the city centre location also made it accessible 
as a drop-in space for shoppers and pedestrians in the city centre to 
engage in the strategy. 

Casually having a game of table tennis with a 
stranger on Royal Avenue....This is why my heart 
will always stay in Belfast. Belfast Council you 
nailed this. Your ‘A City Imagining’ is a brilliant 
concept and I love your creative pop up store on 
Royal Avenue. Love and thanks.

Clare McIvor

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

21
Page 33



The Hub

There were varied groups from across Belfast 
with differing workshop content depending on 
the objectives of the meeting. They included 
organisations such as:

• The Belfast Youth Forum to create narratives of 
being a young person in Belfast

• The Public Health Agency seeking to develop 
an active travel strategy for the city

• Moonbase adults with learning disabilities to 
understand what home means

• Belfast Council Senior Management team to 
discuss priorities

• A photography workshop to discuss public 
space design for better mental health

• An asylum seeker group on the meaning of 
belonging and using art as a form of expression

• Environmental groups on creating a greener 
Belfast and developing a green pledge for local 
businesses to sign up to

Through this process a number of key themes 
re-occurred across the groups and participants. 
These included creating a city where there was 
more access to vibrant and green public spaces 
within the city centre, having inclusive spaces to 
grow naturally in the city for all interest groups 
and having accessible and pedestrianised public 
squares. 

Since the opening by the Lord Mayor, the shop hosted more than 
45 workshops, meetings, events and gigs and heard thousands of 
conversations about what the people of Belfast and those visiting 
thought about the city and the new Cultural Strategy. Through 
a series of programmed activities, close to 1,100 people of all 
ages, professions, backgrounds and walks of life participated in 
conversation about the city. 

A City Imagining

22
Page 34



String Data Wall

The data wall served as an engaging and 
alternative form of data collection that recorded 
key priorities, personal information and opinions 
similar to a paper questionnaire. However, the 
interactivity of tying a string and following the 
wall was a great ice-breaker and sparked initial 
conversation with visitors, often leading onto 
further discussion around the themes of the 
cultural strategy. With over 400 participants 
adding to the wall, we were able to establish some 
of the key priorities people in the city have.

Most notably, ‘A city where creativity pushes 
boundaries’ was the most popular priority (30.4%) 
from 408 responses, narrowly followed by a city 
with ‘vibrant public spaces’ (27.5%). 

The participants, from a range of backgrounds, 
ages and interests had a clear aspiration for the 
future of Belfast. Nearly two thirds of participants 
voted for Belfast to be a ‘greener’ city (35.2%), 
whilst many people wanted a more ‘playful’ or 
‘colourful’ city (19.6% and 18.6% respectively). 
Interestingly, 30.9% of participants felt the barrier 
to this was a lack of ‘interest’ or ‘people’ (16.1%), 
whilst 8.9% agreed ‘money’ was the biggest 
challenge. 

As well as the huge amount of insights from the 
hub consultation about the priority areas and 
future direction for the city, the creative and 
interactive nature of the shop in the city centre 
location also proved popular.  

The fact that Belfast is doing something like 
this shows how much we’ve grown as a city. 
I can’t wait to see what comes out of it. 
 
Older People’s Forum Workshop Participant

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

23
Page 35



City wide Exhibition & Workshop Programme

In addition to day long exhibitions in each location 
there were also a number of scheduled workshops 
facilitated by Council officers. The format of these 
was structured around the 16 priorities presented 
in the strategy and encouraged participants to 
respond to three questions:

1. What does your Belfast look like in 30 years?
2. What can creativity and culture do to make 

change happen?
3. What can you do to make change happen?

The participants engaged with these questions 
with enthusiasm. Common themes included 
wanting Belfast to have more green space, as 

well as the understanding that arts and creativity 
can help build new perspectives and bring 
communities together. Many people recognised 
active citizenship, such as voting, played a key 
role in making change happen in the city. Having 
considered the response it was felt that these are 
largely an endorsement of the priorities set out in 
the draft strategy and therefore while they have 
been noted in the wider engagement process, 
they have not resulted in any direct revision to the 
themes and strategic priorities. The comments 
received were ambitious, insightful and hopeful 
and a selection is included below. These comments 
are neither ordered nor weighted.

Continuing the ethos of engagement led public consultation, it 
was important that Council met people where they are, in addition 
to the opportunity given by the ‘Hub’ in the city centre. A series of 
city wide exhibitions and workshops led by Council officers were 
held across north, south, east and west of the city allowing people 
the opportunity to drop in, chat about the strategy and what it can 
mean for the people of Belfast. This approach followed the informal, 
relaxed and non-prescriptive methodology used during the ECOC bid 
process and the strategy’s pre-consultation process. 

Crescent Arts Centre 2 - 4 University Road BT7 1NH 27 June 2019

Duncairn Arts Centre Duncairn Ave BT14 6BP 29 May & 14 June 2019

East Side Visitors 
Centre

278 -280 Newtownards 
Rd BT4 1HE 7 May 2019

Vault Artist Studios 4 -84 Tower St BT5 4FH 29 May, 12 & 19 June 2019

Accidental Theatre 12 - 13 Shaftesbury Sq BT2 7BD 26 June 2019

A City Imagining

24
Page 36



What does your Belfast look 
like in 30 years?

What can creativity and culture do to 
make change happen?

What can you do to make 
change happen?

Inclusive & diverse Creates spaces for conversation Get involved in culture

More green spaces Brings people together Participate

Pedestrianised & car free Makes people happier Vote

Spaces for young people Shares our stories Plant more trees

Young people leave, learn & return Gives new perspectives Take part in this process

Late night economy Opens minds Not giving up

Environmentally resilient New forms of civic activism Place more trust in myself

More playful Opportunities for expression Become an ambassador for 
Belfast

Less grey, more colour Combats loneliness & isolation Shout from the rooftops how 
brilliant we are!

Better connected Creates awareness Organise collective action

Life along the riverfront Gives a sense of pride Lobby politicians

City centre living Allows for collaboration Encourage leaders to lead!

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

25
Page 37



While Belfast has enjoyed a relative growth in 
tourism over recent years, the city needs to push 
the development of cultural tourism on to the next 
level and engaging with our tourism partners and 
the wider tourism sector has been a vital part of 
the development of this new cultural strategy. 
Council worked alongside consultancy Blue Sail 
to develop a specific engagement programme for 
the Tourism Sector consisting of two facilitated 
workshops as part of pre-consultation process in 
February and March 2019 the results of which fed 
directly into the new outward facing city narrative 
and positioning framework for Belfast. A further 
workshop was held in July during the official 
public consultation period to test the narrative and 
themes. These workshops were well attended by 
a wide cross section of tourism sector following 
direct invitation to public and private industry 
partners and representatives. The sessions gave 
an opportunity for this sector to collectively 
discuss and explore Belfast’s current tourism 
offer and the potential growth and development 
opportunities for the city in the coming years.  

Specific consideration was given to how the 
ambitions set out in the strategy could now be 
supported by sector initiatives and programmes. In 
particular feedback focussed on:

• Clearer articulation of the roles and 
responsibilities of tourism agencies in the city 
and region including Belfast City Council

• A more joined up approach to city marketing 
and relationship to regional positioning

• Need for Council to take a more active role 
in facilitating cross-sector collaboration and 
networking

• Opportunity to strengthen current tourism 
offer and to ensure maximum return on future 
investment such as the Destination Hub 
through a more integrated city approach

This feedback does not directly impact the draft 
strategy however each of these areas have been 
addressed in the implementation plans. 

Tourism workshops 

Sector and Stakeholder Engagement

These were widely publicised through direct mail, 
social media and online sector networks and were 
open to anyone who wished to attend. During the 
public consultation we wanted to test whether the 
draft strategy had responded to the challenges and 
opportunities identified through the consultation 
process and whether the initial enthusiasm from 
the sector had been sustained. Organisations were 
invited to submit their own official response to 
the draft strategy, either via Citizen Space, email 
or post. They were also encouraged to take part in 
sector-wide engagement workshops.

One to ones
Throughout the consultation period officers 
responded to requests for one-to-one meetings 
and presentations with a variety of stakeholders 
across the city, giving the opportunity for focused 
and in-depth engagement with stakeholders. This 
helped to foster a greater understanding of how 
the new strategy can feed into their field of work, 
as well as identifying opportunities for city wide 
partnership working and collaboration.

The cultural and creative sector are core to the success of this 
strategy and it was imperative they felt that they have been 
genuinely consulted, and involved, in the process of developing the 
vision and priorities for culture for this city over the next decade. 
The pre-consultation period had consisted of more than 40 group 
conversations, two sector wide forums in January 2019 and 15 
focus panels throughout February. 

A City Imagining

26
Page 38



Events & Festivals 
Monday 1 July – 9am to 2:30pm.

The events and festivals sector play a significant 
role in the cultural offering of this city. Council 
gathered this sector together to discuss the 
ambitions in the new strategy with regards to scale 
and scope of the festival and event offering in the 
city, including benchmarking what other cities 
around the world have to offer. Group discussions 
took place to gain consensus on what priorities the 
events and festivals sector, and Council, should 
focus on in the first 3 years of delivering this new 
strategy: 

a. A City Belonging – Enabling a sense of 
belonging and sense of place through cultural 
participation. 
b. A City Challenging – Embedding cultural 
impact in city development and local place 
making. 
c. A City Creating – Strengthening our city, 
regional and international networks. Connecting 
our city to the world around us.
d. A City Exploring – Growing our sustainable 
cultural tourism product through local place 
making. Immersing visitors in our local Belfast 
experience. 

Creative Lock-in 
Tuesday 2 July 2019, 3pm to 9pm.

The cultural and creative sector in Belfast rarely get 
the opportunity to be creative as a collective. If we 
are to achieve the ambitions of this strategy the 
city as a whole will need to embrace their creativity, 
looking to the sector for leadership and inspiration. 
The public consultation hub offered the perfect 
location and atmosphere to get cultural and 
creative sector together outside of the usual formal 
settings, such as the Culture Forum held at City 
Hall. The purpose of this session was to provide 
opportunity for the sector to explore creative 
partnerships and collaborative approaches to 
problem solving and designing projects, embracing 
the ethos we will foster in the development of our 
Year of Culture in 2023.
More than 90 participants attended throughout 
the day including independent artists, graphic 
designers, architects, festival organisers, 
producers and venue managers. 

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

2727
Page 39



Engagement Workshops for Council Staff 

Engagement workshops for Council staff in the 
canteen over the consultation period, allowing 
time for staff from various departments to engage 
with the priorities in the strategy as well asking 
questions and finding out more on what the new 
strategy means for their area of work. These 
workshops were well attended, with participants 
from across Council including legal, financial, 
environmental and planning. 
In the delivery of this strategy officers will 
continue to seek out partnership and collaborative 
opportunities across Council. This strategy will 
lay a strong foundation for what we will now take 
forward as a new lateral and integrated approach 
to cultural development and placemaking.

Engagement Workshop City Regeneration and 
Development

A key partnership in the delivery of this strategy will 
be with the City Regeneration and Development 
team due to a significant focus on place-
making and clear synergies with the City Centre 
Regeneration and Investment Strategy. 
A workshop was facilitated to garner feedback on 
proposals and identify areas for collaborative of 
working. The new partnership working is already 
evident through the development of a new Lighting 
and Dressing Strategy for the city and the ongoing 
city centre revitalisation programme. 

Language Strategy Workshop

Officers presented the cultural strategy as part 
of a workshop on our current Language Strategy. 
Internal and external stakeholders attended this 
workshop. The cultural strategy recognises the 
importance of language therefore this was an 
opportunity to explore how language initiatives and 
projects should form part of our implementation 
plans and strategic projects including City of Music 
and 2023 Year of Culture. 

Resilience Team 

The strategy recognises resilience as a critical 
dimension to the future of the city. It also provides 
a framework in which to consider the importance 
of cultural resilience and the role that culture and 
creativity have in supporting key themes such 
a children and young people or environmental 
responsibility. A number of opportunities have 
been identified for collaboration as part of the 
implementation phase. 

A City Imagining is a cross-departmental strategy for Council, it touches on the areas of work across the 
organisation from tourism, culture, heritage and arts to events, leisure, city regeneration, green spaces, 
planning, diversity and the environment. Putting culture at the heart of what we do is essential if the 
Belfast Agenda’s vision is to be achieved. For this strategy’s delivery to be successful over the coming 
decade it is imperative that all departments and units within Council understand how their work can feed 
into this ambitious vision for Belfast. 

Internal Engagement

A City Imagining

28
Page 40



Section 75 workshops & discussions
Despite the extensive engagement opportunities 
provided by this public consultation process there 
was still the risk that a number of people wouldn’t 
be reached or feel comfortable or confident 
enough to engage with the process. Often this was 
consistent with having barriers to accessing public 
life and being limited in having an active role in 
civic society. 

An experienced facilitator Fionnuala Kennedy 
was engaged to run a series of discussions 
and workshops throughout June 2019 with 
marginalised groups she was already currently 
working with, creating an open, welcoming and 
comfortable space for participants. Groups 
included:

• Springboard: Gener8 Group – 14 participants 
aged 16yrs – 22yrs

• Sure Start: East Belfast Parents’ Group – 6 
participants, various ages

• VOYPIC (Voice of Young People in Care) – 9 
participants aged 13 – 18yrs

• Working Against Poverty Group  - 6 
attendees, various ages

• Refugees and Asylum Seekers Group – 7 
attendees, various ages

In all of the workshops, barriers to participating in 
the civic and cultural life of the city were identified. 
These clearly impact people’s sense of belonging 
in Belfast. 

Safety is an issue for all these groups and is a 
barrier to participation. There is a perception of 
Belfast as unsafe, especially at night.

Young People– The relationship between young 
people and the city (and citizens) feels slightly 
broken but there is a huge willingness from young 
people to engage and become more active in the 
city if the right opportunities are created.

The Past – a number of participants felt that space 
need to be created to tell more diverse stories of 
Belfast and beyond. These should be stories of the 
city’s past from many different perspectives but 
also of new communities. 

Price is a significant barrier for all of these 
groups - How do we ensure that they get to truly 
experience and express culture? There was a sense 
that a number of targeted projects simply provide 
discounted one-off opportunities rather than 
sustained engagement led initiatives.

Connection - with all groups, culture is about 
connecting with others. There is huge potential 
for cultivating connections with diverse groups 
through culture and tackling isolation. 
The themes of A City Imagining are clearly relevant 
and have the potential to be transformative 
however this will clearly be dependent on how 
successful the implementation of the strategy is 
in ensuring a more inclusive approach to cultural 
engagement and investment. The specific barriers 
to participation will be addressed in the design of 
future programmes. 

Wider Public Engagement

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

29
Page 41



The draft cultural strategy presents Tell Me More, a 
City of Stories as one of distinctive characteristics 
of the city. In Belfast people love to talk, to tell and 
share stories and Ten x 9 is the embodiment of 
this. Established in Belfast in 2008, Ten x 9 is a live 
storytelling event and podcast, where 9 people 
from across the city are given 10 minutes to tell 
their story based on a theme. The initiative has had 
global success running in cities across the world 
including New York and Melbourne. 

As part of the open approach to engagement 
and consultation for this strategy Ten x 9 offered 
the perfect opportunity to explore the theme of 
belonging in a creative way. Twelve ‘Belonging in 
Belfast’ workshops took place in local communities 
reaching and supporting people who would not 
normally feel confident enough to tell their story. 
These workshops then culminated in a series of 
local public events. Storytellers from each of the 
areas were selected to take part in a larger event 
and to tell their story on the main stage in the 
Black Box. 

Participation in the project was clearly connected 
to the draft cultural strategy raising awareness 
of the themes and proposals for a new way of 
working. A sell-out audience attended the final 
event in the Black Box on 3 July 2019. A selection of 
feedback and reflections on belonging in Belfast is 
included below:

There was always the visible 
and at times, invisible pull of 
Belfast, looming.
Donna

I loved the freedom of living in 
Belfast, I woke up every morning 
with a smile on my face.
Heather

I really enjoyed myself. I made 
some new friends... it feels like 
a real sense of community. 
There’s something very special 
about sharing your story and 
hearing other people’s stories.
Jesse

Ten x 9 

I never left. I belong to Belfast and 
it belongs to me and my family. 
Two of my daughters moved to 
England for work but returned 
before long, feeling the pull of 
family and roots too strongly to 
allow them to settle elsewhere.
Linda

A City Imagining

30
Page 42



Belfast City Council Youth Forum
The Council’s Youth Forum were invited to the  
A City Imagining Hub to attend a specific workshop 
on 24 June 2019 on what the new cultural strategy 
means for them and how they can get involved in 
projects going forward. This session explored the 
Strategy’s themes. This group of young people 
specifically connected with the priority laid out in A 
City Exploring on environmental sustainability with 
a desire to continue to collaborate with Council on 
this issue going forward. 

(Y)Our Home Workshops
As part of the legacy of the ECOC Bid in 2017, 
Council ran a series of in-depth, deep-dive, long-
term engagement projects in 2018 with a variety of 
groups across the city. Two of these projects were 
focused on working with children and young people 
to use art and creativity to respond the theme of 
Home. 

Fly on the wall - September 2018 - January 2019
Visual Artist Robin Price worked with young people 
in care aged 14 - 19yrs in care to create a series 
of ‘fly’ sculptures telling personal stories of the 
challenges of what home means to them. 

Little  Inventors - September 2018 - December 2018 
The Nerve Centre worked with six primary schools 
across the city to create a series of inventions 
and prototypes to improve people’s homes in the 
future.

Both these groups were invited to ‘takeover’ the 
A City Imagining Hub (Young Inventors 29 June & 
Fly on the Wall 2 July 2019) where they ran further 
design workshops to engage with the new strategy 
and explore how their involvement and outcomes 
from the (Y)Our Home engagement projects have 
fed into the development of the principles and 
priorities presented in A City Imagining. 

Bookmarks
Through a partnership with Libraries NI 1000 A City 
Imagining bookmarks were places in children’s 
books in 17 libraries across the city. 

Drawing Book
It was important that younger children also 
felt included in this process. A bespoke A City 
Imagining activity book was designed and 
through creative activities children were given the 
opportunity to use their imagination to draw the 
city they want Belfast to be. Examples included 
imagining what buried treasure there might be 
in the depths of the Lagan. We piloted these 
activity books in the A City Imagining Hub with 
great success and hope to launch in September 
a city wide schools competition using the activity 
books, with winners having the opportunity to be 
exhibited. 

Involving Young people

As part of the consultation process it was important to create 
opportunities for children and young people to engage with the 
proposals in an age-appropriate and creative way. 

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

31
Page 43



A City Imagining Strategy Document
The A City Imagining Cultural Strategy document is 
a 52 page document designed for those who want 
to fully understand and engage with the detail of 
the proposals. 2,000 strategies were distributed 
mainly to stakeholders with a direct connection to 
cultural policy. 

A City Imagining Citizen Summary
 It was important to create a version of this 
strategy that everyone and anyone across the city 
and beyond could engage with, understanding the 
priorities set out and the timeline for the major 
projects over the next decade. 

Over 4,000 copies of the citizen summaries for 
A City Imagining were circulated across the city 
and we received very positive feedback on the 
accessibility of language and format. 

Extended reach 
To complement the Belfast Brand the A City Imagining visual identity 
was created which includes an extensive suite of signature images 
and assets. As well as increasing the visibility and accessibility 
of the public consultation the strong visuals associated with the 
project will be used across the lifecycle of the strategy. 

We AreHerE

2

1

3

4

6

7

11 

12

5

13

A cIty 
ImaGinIng

10

9

8

EC
O

C
 B

id
 P

rocess

A cIty 
ImaGinIng

New Investment Programme

2023 
Planning

Public Consultation Ratified at Committee

Implementation/ Action Plan Development 

C
it

y
 o

f 
M

us
ic 2021

Y
(O

u
r)

 H

om
e Projects

Focus Panels

Your City Your Say 

  
  
 C

ul
tu

re Forum I

  
  
 C

ul
tu

re Forum II

Strategy Development

A City Imagining

32
Page 44



A City Imagining Animations
For the two week period after the launch of 
the public consultation a series of animations 
promoting A City Imagining were played across 
the city centre on the new Pulse Screens. For the 
duration of the public consultation a longer version 
of this animation was played on screens in various 
cultural venues in the city such as The MAC, The 
Lyric, The Crescent Arts Centre and Queen’s Film 
Theatre.

Bank Buildings Hoarding
The reconstruction of Bank Buildings offered a 
great opportunity to use the A City Imagining 
brand and suite of images on the extensive 
hoarding around the building. Over 60 metres of 
visual imagery inspired by the strategy and its 
themes was placed on the hoardings around Royal 
Avenue and Castle Street since. Included is a 
bespoke illustration of Bank Buildings in the A City 
Imagining style.

Facebook Group
It was important to engage with people in a 
digital space during this consultation beyond 
the traditional survey. We therefore launched a 
Facebook Group for A City Imagining offering a 
space for people to discuss certain aspects of the 
strategy as well as giving opportunity to promote 
the consultation events happening across the 
city. The group was a success with just under 200 
members joining in the first few weeks. This was a 
first time Council had taken this approach and it is 
a platform we can continue to use to engage with 
the city as we deliver the new strategy. 

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

33
Page 45



Theme/Section You said We listened 

Cultural Statement Overall the responses to this statement 
were positive however there were opposing 
views on whether the statement was too 
focused on the past or not enough. Also 
there was concern there wasn’t enough of a 
focus on cultural diversity in the city in the 
statement.

Revision to include more references 
to diversity ensuring the statement 
embraces cultural diversity including new 
communities.

A City Belonging Overall the responses to this theme were 
positive. There were some concerns that 
there wasn’t explicit focus on encouraging 
respect for other cultures. 

Revision to reflect commitment to 
create and promote opportunities to engage 
with and encourage respect for 
all cultural traditions.  

A City Challenging In addition to the positive feedback on this 
theme a number of responses called for the 
commitments to go further. In particular for 
explicit reference to the connection between 
regeneration, placemaking and quality of 
life. Responses also identified the need 
for a clearer and long-term relationship 
between investment in infrastructure and in 
programming. While there was high level of 
support for transforming underused public 
spaces there were calls to extend this to 
include buildings and that that this would 
require targeted initiatives that addressed 
some of the existing barriers to temporary 
and medium term uses.

Investment in infrastructure and 
programming and targeted initiatives 
for re-purposing of under-used 
buildings will be addressed in the 
Implementation Plans.

The 12-week consultation period closed on 10 
July. During this process Council had direct 
engagement with over 3,000 people at over 80 
events and workshops taking place across the city. 
All feedback and responses have been collated and 
reviewed. 

In line with the structure of the strategy document 
the comments have been categorised under each 
theme or strategic project as follows:
• Cultural Statement 
• A City Belonging
• A City Challenging
• A City Creating
• A City Exploring
• Lift Off
 - At Home in 2023
 - Events and Festivals
  -A City of Music
 - Destination Hub
 - Tourism narrative and themes

• A City Connecting
• A City Investing
• Other

All feedback has been assigned an action as 
follows: 
• Supports Strategy – the comment specifically 

supports/agrees with an aspect of the strategy
• Do nothing/ Commentary – the comment 

doesn’t need action and is general 
commentary 

• Consider Revising  - consider taking on 
board the feedback and revising the strategy 
accordingly

• Implementation Plans – the issue raised will 
be dealt with in the Implementation Plans

• Equality Impact – a specific equality issue has 
been highlighted and should be addressed. 

Influence on strategy – taking things forward

You said, we’ve listened
Below is a summary of key findings and revisions that will be made 
in response to the public consultation on the strategy. 

A City Imagining

34
Page 46



Theme/Section You said We listened 

A City Creating This theme received the highest levels 
of support. However important areas of 
feedback included the need to support 
cross-sector collaborations. Another 
common thread was the importance 
of recognising existing cultural 
infrastructure and organisations. In 
particular the new should not be at the 
expense of the existing

The implementation plans will set 
out a clear strand that supports and 
strengthens the ability of people and 
organisations to adapt and evolve as 
initiatives and infrastructure in the city 
develop.  

The investment programmes will 
support both existing organisations 
as well as creating new pathways for 
support. 

A City Exploring A number of responses emphasised the 
need to embed heritage throughout this 
theme. Comments also recommended 
that priorities on environmental 
responsibility should extend to 
sustainable tourism development.  

The majority of concerns for this theme 
focused on areas that will be addressed 
in the implementation plans such as on 
how the priorities will be supported with 
investment in networking and export 
development. 

2023 – Year of Culture There was overwhelming support for 
2023 with one caveat about ensuring 
that additional investment was secured 
and that the approach supported long-
term transformation. Other comments 
were based on suggestions as to how 
we ensure the year is as successful 
as possible. This included the need to 
make the programme inclusive of the 
traditional as well as contemporary 
cultural events. There was also the call 
for all communities across the city to 
feel that this is an invitation to celebrate 
and participate.

The concerns around investment, 
legacy and inclusion around the 2023 
Year of Culture will be addressed in the 
implementation plans with focused 
initiatives on fundraising, capacity 
building and a targeted, in-depth 
engagement programme. 

City Events & Festivals The main consensus in feedback 
here was a need for a new approach 
to events and festivals in the city 
especially regarding concerns about 
hierarchy of festivals, using the 
city’s existing assets, diversity in 
programming and audiences, lack of 
collaboration, scheduling of festivals 
in the year and investment and lack 
thereof.   

The following feedback will be taken on 
board in the design of the investment 
programmes and implementation plans:

• Segmentation of Festivals and 
Events is necessary but shouldn’t 
create a hierarchy. Scale should not 
be the only measure of impact. 

• Events should make better use of 
the city’s existing cultural assets

• There is an opportunity to embrace 
cultural diversity as part of the 
Council’s city events programme

• Greater collaboration across cultural 
sector and co-design approach

• A more joined up approach between 
public-funded, commercial and 
Council delivered events

• Consideration should be given to 
balancing the events calendar at 
appropriate times across the year

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

35
Page 47



Theme/Section You said We listened 

City of Music City of Music is one of the elements 
of the strategy that has received the 
highest levels of support from both 
the public and across all sectors. 
Feedback however has stressed the 
need to ensure that the diversity of 
the city’s music heritage is core to 
proposals. 

The focus will not be on the UNESCO 
designation but how the process 
allows for a more joined up approach 
across the music industry and 
other sectors, and there will be 
further investment in local talent, 
infrastructure and programming.

The process will result in a long-term 
plan and implementation model of 
which UNESCO is only one milestone.

Destination Hub Support for the concept was strong 
however feedback centred on 
ensuring that the approach was open 
and inclusive. 

The two areas highlighted that will 
require consideration as part of 
implementation plans:
• The hub must support cultural 

and tourism infrastructure across 
the city

• The Belfast Story must connect 
with and be driven by local people 
and ensure that the story is multi-
faceted and authentic

• To respond to this feedback:
• A city tourism plan will be 

developed.
• A public engagement 

programme will be delivered. 

Tourism Narrative & Themes The feedback to the narrative and 
themes clearly highlighted the 
challenge in balancing the importance 
of the past and how this has shaped 
the city with the present and the 
future. 

The narrative and themes will be 
reviewed to ensure that we support 
the principle of authenticity and can 
still be outward looking, ensuring 
this section doesn’t come across as 
insular.

A City Connecting Responses focused on the need to 
strengthen community involvement in 
participative forums. 

There was also a call for the 
governance model to be action 
focused and not concentrate on 
redefining existing problems. 

We will ensure that the new 
governance model can appropriately 
address the wider challenges to 
delivering the strategy such as 
licensing, city development, and 
protection of built heritage. 

A City Imagining

36
Page 48



Theme/Section You said We listened 

A City Investing  There was strong endorsement of the 
need to look at new forms of investment. 
Understandably, there were calls to 
balance support for innovation and 
experimentation with the need to invest 
in our existing infrastructure. There were 
some concerns that the open definition 
of culture that permeates through the 
strategy may create issues when it 
comes to funding of activity.

“Whilst BCC cannot and should not be 
expected to compensate for the under 
investment at national level, its ability 
to identify and promote economic and 
social return-on-investment in cultural 
assets should inspire other policy 
makers. “

These concerns will be 
addressed through the 
robust criteria within the new 
investment structures and 
implementation plans.   

Leadership
The need to ensure that Belfast City 
Council shows leadership at all levels 
within the organisation and that the 
strategy is appropriately resourced as 
a corporate priority. 

Council is already undergoing a 
staff restructure to ensure this 
strategy has leadership and 
appropriate staffing capacity.

Built Heritage A number of respondents emphasised 
the need for clearer and explicit 
recognition of built heritage as part of 
the key priorities focussed on cultural 
heritage. There was also a concern that 
this strategy needed to clearly connect 
with other services within Council.

This strategy will be a catalyst 
for a long-term and strategic 
commitment to built heritage 
through partnership working 
within Council and with 
external stakeholders, and the 
development of a city wide Built 
Heritage Strategy.

Equality A number of respondents were 
concerned that the strategy did 
not specifically name groups such 
as young people, members of 
the LGBT+ community, minority 
ethnic groups or people with 
disabilities. The approach taken in 
the strategy was strongly influence 
by the extensive pre-consultation 
engagement. Through this process 
a strong message resonated 
that a truly inclusive civic society 
embraces all people.  

The decision therefore was taken 
that A City Imagining would adopt 
a language of inclusivity with the 
principle of equality at the very 
core of the vision for culture in 
Belfast. The role of Equality Impact 
Assessment is to ensure that 
this vision is supported by the 
priorities set out in the document. 
The implementation plans and the 
investment model that support 
the strategy will specifically 
address the need for targeted 
initiatives and ensure that the 
principle of equality is full realised 
in the outcomes of the strategy

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

37
Page 49



A City Imagining

38
Page 50



Priority 1 of the strategy commits to ‘a people 
focussed approach to cultural development’ 
therefore over the next 10 years this engagement 
methodology will continue to evolve.

The results of this consultation process have laid 
a strong foundation for the implementation of the 
strategy and the ongoing co-design of cultural 
programmes in the city. 

Next steps

People Explore Ideas

Adopt an open approach

CReaTe ValUe 
aNd MakE cHanGe

Establish the 
change that is desired

Allow creativity to 
push boundaries

Invest in 
Co-Design 

CI
vi

C 
En

er
Gy

CIviC EnerGy

The qualitative and quantitative results of this 
public consultation process have demonstrated 
the value of investing in a new engagement led 
approach to consultation in Council. We would 
encourage the use of this approach in future 
strategic planning, service design and project 
delivery. 

The draft strategy was the result of extensive engagement. The public consultation has 
robustly tested the assertions set out in the document. While we have sought genuine 
feedback it is not possible to take on board all comments. Where recommendations have not 
been actioned, a clear rationale has been established. More often than not, the comments 
we received while not directly resulting in a revision to the strategy have helped to inform the 
implementation plans.  

Our Cultural Lives: Public Consultation Report 2019

39
Page 51



culture@belfastcity.gov.uk

028 9050 0543

@belfastcc

@belfastcitycouncil

Belfast City Council

B
C

C
 0

50
3

A City Imagining

40
Page 52



	
	
	
	

ACTIVITY	 LOCATION	 Address	 POSTCODE	 DATES	 EVENTS/WORKSHOPS	
PARTICIPATION/	
RESPONSES/	

REACH	
Citizen	Space	Survey	 Online	 		 		 17	April	-	10	

July	2019	
	 95	

Written	Responses	 Letter/Email	 		 		 various	 	 39	

Grand	opening	with	Lord	
Mayor	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 05-Jun-19	 1	 4	

Ashton	Community	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 10-Jun-19	 1	 12	

Playful	Cities	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 11-Jun-19	 1	 14	

Accessibility	Workshop	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 12-Jun-19	 1	 5	

(Y)our	Home	–	Sightlines	
Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 12-Jun-19	 1	 5	

Diversity	&	Culture	
Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 18-Jun-19	 1	 17	

Green	Arts	Collective	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 19-Jun-19	 1	 10	

Culture	&	Education	
Workshop		

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 20-Jun-19	 1	 5	

School	Climate	Change	
Awareness	Group	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 21-Jun-19	 1	 12	

Open	Workshop	on	
Creativity	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 21-Jun-19	 1	 4	

(Y)Our	Home	-	
Photography	and	Mental	
Health	workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 21-Jun-19	 1	 5	

After	School	Workshop	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 21-Jun-19	 1	 8	

Culture,	Heritage	&	
creativity	Open	
Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 21-Jun-19	 1	 5	

Pollution	&	Eco	Warriors	
Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 23-Jun-19	 1	 2	

BCC	Youth	Forum	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 24-Jun-19	 1	 26	

Queens	Summer	School	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 25	&	26	June	
19	

1	 2	

Tourism,	Culture,	
Heirtage	&	Arts	Team	
Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 25	&	26	June	
19	

1	 13	

Council	Central	
Management	Meeting	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 25	&	26	June	
19	

1	 9	

Urban	Planning	&	Public	
Space	Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 26-Jun-19	 1	 2	

PHA	Active	Transport	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 28-Jun-19	 1	 9	

Queens	Cross	Housing	
Association	Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 28-Jun-19	 1	 2	

Nerve	Centre	Take-over		 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 29-Jun-19	 1	 40	

Kids	Yoga		 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 30-Jun-19	 1	 10	

Adult	Yoga	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 30-Jun-19	 1	 8	

Disability	Access	
Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 01-Jul-19	 1	 4	

Moonbase	-	Build	your	
own	Dream	Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 01-Jul-19	 1	 5	

Lighting	Strategy	
Steering	Group	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 02-Jul-19	 1	 10	
Page 53



Culture	Team	Meeting	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 02-Jul-19	 1	 5	

(Y)our	Home	-	Fly	
workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 02-Jul-19	 1	 14	

Moonbase	Creating	
Connections	workshops	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 02-Jul-19	 1	 16	

Creative	Lock-in	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 02-Jul-19	 1	 84	

Arts	Ekta	Workshop	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 03-Jul-19	 1	 8	

Disability	&	Drama	
Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 03-Jul-19	 1	 10	

Dept	of	Finance	–	
Innovation	Lab	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 04-Jul-19	 1	 12	

Open	Workshop	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 04-Jul-19	 1	 4	

Moonbase	Feel	Free	
Friday	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 05-Jul-19	 1	 11	

Closing	Busk	Off	Event	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 05-Jul-19	 1	 57	

Open	Door	Drop-in	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 06-Jul-19	 1	 500	

City-Wide	Exhibition	&	
Workshops	

Crescent	Arts	
Centre	

2	-	4	
university	
Road	

BT7	1NH	 27-Jun-19	 2	 30	

City-Wide	Exhibition	&	
Workshops	

Duncairn	Arts	
Centre	

Duncairn	
Ave	

BT14	6BP	 14	&	
24/06/2019	

2	 30	

City-Wide	Exhibition	&	
Workshops	

East	Side	
Visitors	
Centre	

278	-280	
Newtownar
ds	Rd	

BT4	1HE	 07-May-19	 1	 12	

City-Wide	Exhibition	&	
Workshops	

Vault	Artist	
Studios	

4	-84	Tower	
St	

BT5	4FH	 29	May,	12	&	
19	June	2019	

3	 28	

City-Wide	Exhibition	&	
Workshops	

Accidental	
Theatre	

12	-	13	
Shaftesbury	
Sq	

BT2	7BD	 26-Jun-19	 1	 10	

Maritime	Festival	 Titanic	
Quarter	

6	Queens	
Rd	

BT3	9DT	 24-25	May	
2019	

2	 400	

Events	&	Festivals	Forum	
Workshop	

The	MAC,	
Belfast	

10	Exchange	
St	West	

BT1	2NJ	 01-Jul-19	 1	 45	

Creative	Lock	In	 A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 02-Jul-19	 1	 80	

Visual	Arts	Forum	 City	Hall	 Donegall	Sq	 BT1	5GS	 20-Jun-19	 1	 28	

Arts	and	Business	Forum	 The	MAC,	
Belfast	

10	Exchange	
St	West	

BT1	2NJ	 12-Jun-19	 1	 80	

Creative	Exchanges	
Conference	

U105	Offices		 2	Clarendon	
Road	

BT1	3FD	 26-Jun-19	 1	 75	

Tourism	Sector	
Workshops	

Clifton	House,	
Belfast	

North	
Queen	St	

BT15	1EQ	 01-Jun-19	 1	 35	

Tourism	Sector	
Workshops	

Riddel	Hall,	
Belfast	

185	
Stranmillis	
Road	

BT9	5EE	 13-Feb-19	 1	 40	

Tourism	Sector	
Workshops	

W5,	Belfast	 2	Queen	
Quay	

BT3	9QQ	 08-Jul-19	 1	 40	

Visit	Belfast	 Donegall	
Square,	
Belfast	

9	Donegall	
Square	Nth	

BT1	5GB	 03-Jul-19	 1	 10	

Cathedral	Quarter	Trust	
Board	

Royal	Avenue	 109	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FF	 28	-Jun-19	 1	 10	

BCC	Staff	In-house	
Workshops	

Canteen,	Cecil	
Ward	

Linenhall	St	 BT2	8BP	 31	May	2019	
&	21	June19	

2	 30	

BCC	City	Regeneration	
Team	Workshop	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 20-Jun-19	 1	 15	

Section	75	Facilitated	
Discussions	

Springboard	
Group	

New	Lodge,	
North	
Belfast	

BT15			 		 1	 8	

	Section	75	Facilitated	
Discussions	

Sure	Start	
Parent's	
group	

Albertbride	
Road	

BT5	4PU	 23-May-19	 1	 12	

Page 54



Section	75	Facilitated	
Discussions	

VOYPIC	 Botanic	
Avenue	

BT7				 05-Jun-19	 1	 5	

Section	75	Facilitated	
Discussions	

Working	
Against	
Poverty	

The	
Barracks,	
Hill	St	

BT1	 31-May-19	 1	 8	

Section	75	Facilitated	
Discussions	

Refugee	&	
Asylum	
Seekers	

The	
Barracks,	
Hill	St	

BT1	 07-Jun-19	 1	 6	

Ten	x	9	Storytelling	
Workshops	

An	Culturlann		 216	Falls	
Road	

BT12		6AH	 13/20/27-
June-19	

3	 6	

Ten	x	9	Storytelling	
Workshops	

East	Side	
Visitors	
Centre	

278	-280	
Newtownar
ds	Rd	

BT4	1HE	 4/8/11-Jun-19	 3	 7	

Ten	x	9	Storytelling	
Workshops	

Accidental	
Theatre	

12	-	13	
Shaftesbury	
Sq	

BT2	7BD	 7/14/21-Jun-
19	

3	 9	

Ten	x	9	Storytelling	
Workshops	

Duncairn	Arts	
Centre	

Duncairn	
Ave	

BT14	6BP	 10/17/24-
June-19	

3	 8	

Ten	x	9	Showcase	on	
Belonging	

Black	Box,	
Belfast	

18	-	22	Hill	
St	

BT1	2LA	 03-Jul-19	 1	 200	

A	City	Imagining	Activity	
Books	for	children	

A	City	
Imagining	Hub		

71	Royal	
Avenue	

BT1	1FE	 		 	 200	

A	City	Imagining	
Bookmarks	in	Libraries	

Libraries	
across	Belfast	

Linenhall	
Library	

BT1	5GB	 		 	 600	

City-wide	Summary	Map	
Distribution	

Festival	of	
Fools	

Writers	Sq	 BT1	 3-5th	May		 2	 200	

		 		 		 		 		 	 	

		 		 		 		 		 86	 3264	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	
	

Page 55



Page 1

This report was created on Thursday 11 July 2019 at 09:33.

The consultation ran from 18/04/2019 to 10/07/2019.

Contents

Question 1: To facilitate more open and transparent government, Belfast City Council would like your permission to publish your

consultation response in the public domain. Should you prefer us to treat your submission as confidential - either by publishing it as

an anonymous response or by not publishing it at all - Please indicate your publishing preference.

3

Please indicate your publishing preference. 3

Question 2: What is your name? 3

Name 3

Question 3: What is your email address? 3

Email 3

Question 4: Please tell us what you think about our draft cultural statement for Belfast 3

Please tell us what you think about our draft cultural statement for Belfast 3

Question 5: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City belonging’ (page 13) 3

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City belonging’ 3

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy? 4

Question 6: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’ (page 14) 4

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’ 4

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’ within the

draft strategy?

4

Question 7: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Challenging’ (page 17) 4

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Challenging’ 4

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy? 5

Question 8: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Challenging’ (page 18) 5

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Challenging’ 5

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Challenging’ within the

draft strategy?

5

Question 9: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Creating’ (page 21) 5

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Creating’ 5

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy? 6

Question 10: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Creating’ (page 22) 6

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Creating’ 6

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Creating’ within the

draft strategy?

6

Question 11: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Exploring’ (page 25) 6

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Exploring’ 6

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy? 7

Question 12: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Exploring’ (page 26) 7

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Exploring’ 7

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Exploring’ within the

draft strategy?

7

Question 13: Please give your comments on our strategic initiatives below 7

At home in 2023: Our approach to 2023 – year of culture (page 30) 7

The Roadmap: Our approach to City Events (page 32) 7

Looking out: The Destination Hub (page 34) 7

Listening in: UNESCO City of Music (page 35) 7

Obviously Belfast: Our draft tourism narrative (page 38) 7

Obviously Belfast: Our draft tourism themes (page 39) 8

Question 14: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our approach to governance: ‘A City Connecting’ (page 41) 8

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Connecting’ 8

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed approach to governance within the draft strategy? 8

Question 15: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our commitments laid out in ‘A City Connecting’ (page 42) 8

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our commitments laid out in ‘a City Connecting’ (pg 42) 8

Page 56



Page 2

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed commitments for ‘A City Connecting’ within the draft

strategy?

9

Question 16: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our approach to investment: ‘A City Investing’ (page 45) 9

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Investing’ 9

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed approach to investment within the draft strategy? 9

Question 17: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 investment priorities for ‘A City Investing’ (page 47) 10

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 investment priorities for ‘A City Investing’ (page 47) 10

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed investment priorities for 'A City Investing’ within the

draft strategy?

10

Question 18: An Equality and Good Relations screening has been undertaken on the draft strategy. Are there any aspects of this

that you would like to comment on, or change?

10

Comments 10

A Rural Needs screening has been undertaken on the draft strategy. Are there any aspects of this that you would like to

comment on, or change?

10

Question 19: Please tell us of anything else that you feel we should include in our draft cultural strategy that has not been included? 10

Comments 10

Question 20: What is your postcode? 10

What is your postcode? 10

Question 21: Which of the following best describes your interest as a respondent? 11

Which of the following best describes your interest as a respondent? 11

If replying on behalf of a group or an organisation, please specify: 11

Question 22: What is your gender? 11

What is your gender? 11

Question 23: What is your age? 12

What is your age? 12

Question 24: Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last,

at least 12 months?

12

Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at

least 12 months?

12

Question 25: If yes, please say how this disability affects you (please select all that apply) 13

If yes, please say how this disability affects you (please select all that apply) 13

If other, please specify 13

Question 26: What is your ethnic group? 14

What is your ethnic group? 14

Mixed Ethic group (please specify) 14

Question 27: Please indicate your community background 15

Please indicate your community background 15

Question 28: Do you have dependents or caring responsibilities for family members or other persons? 15

Do you have dependents or caring responsibilities for family members or other persons? 15

Question 29: If yes, please indicate which of the following caring responsibilities you have. (select all that apply) 15

If yes, please indicate which of the following caring responsibilities you have. (select all that apply) 15

If other please specify 16

Page 57



Page 3

Question 1: To facilitate more open and transparent government, Belfast City Council would like your permission
to publish your consultation response in the public domain. Should you prefer us to treat your submission as
confidential - either by publishing it as an anonymous response or by not publishing it at all - Please indicate your
publishing preference.

Please indicate your publishing preference.

Yes, please publish my response
with my organisation name

Yes, please publish my response
with my name (individual)

Yes, please publish my response,
but do so anonymously

No, please do not publish my
response (treat as confidential)

Not Answered

0 42

Option Total Percent

Yes, please publish my response with my organisation name 19 20.21%

Yes, please publish my response with my name (individual) 22 23.40%

Yes, please publish my response, but do so anonymously 42 44.68%

No, please do not publish my response (treat as confidential) 9 9.57%

Not Answered 2 2.13%

Question 2: What is your name?

Name

There were 90 responses to this part of the question.

Question 3: What is your email address?

Email

There were 87 responses to this part of the question.

Question 4: Please tell us what you think about our draft cultural statement for Belfast

Please tell us what you think about our draft cultural statement for Belfast

There were 93 responses to this part of the question.

Question 5: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City belonging’ (page 13)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City belonging’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 43Page 58



Page 4

Option Total Percent

I agree 43 45.74%

I broadly agree 31 32.98%

I neither agree nor disagree 11 11.70%

I slightly disagree 3 3.19%

I disagree 3 3.19%

Not Answered 3 3.19%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy?

There were 51 responses to this part of the question.

Question 6: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’ (page 14)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 43

Option Total Percent

I agree 43 45.74%

I broadly agree 30 31.91%

I neither agree nor disagree 12 12.77%

I slightly disagree 3 3.19%

I disagree 1 1.06%

Not Answered 5 5.32%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’ within the draft
strategy?

There were 54 responses to this part of the question.

Question 7: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Challenging’ (page 17)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Challenging’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 53Page 59



Page 5

Option Total Percent

I agree 53 56.38%

I broadly agree 20 21.28%

I neither agree nor disagree 9 9.57%

I slightly disagree 4 4.26%

I disagree 3 3.19%

Not Answered 5 5.32%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy?

There were 45 responses to this part of the question.

Question 8: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Challenging’ (page
18)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Challenging’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 48

Option Total Percent

I agree 48 51.06%

I broadly agree 26 27.66%

I neither agree nor disagree 8 8.51%

I slightly disagree 2 2.13%

I disagree 2 2.13%

Not Answered 8 8.51%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Challenging’ within the draft
strategy?

There were 46 responses to this part of the question.

Question 9: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Creating’ (page 21)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Creating’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 59Page 60



Page 6

Option Total Percent

I agree 59 62.77%

I broadly agree 19 20.21%

I neither agree nor disagree 7 7.45%

I slightly disagree 2 2.13%

I disagree 2 2.13%

Not Answered 5 5.32%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy?

There were 40 responses to this part of the question.

Question 10: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Creating’ (page 22)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Creating’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 53

Option Total Percent

I agree 53 56.38%

I broadly agree 21 22.34%

I neither agree nor disagree 9 9.57%

I slightly disagree 4 4.26%

I disagree 1 1.06%

Not Answered 6 6.38%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Creating’ within the draft
strategy?

There were 44 responses to this part of the question.

Question 11: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Exploring’ (page 25)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Exploring’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 55Page 61



Page 7

Option Total Percent

I agree 55 58.51%

I broadly agree 21 22.34%

I neither agree nor disagree 7 7.45%

I slightly disagree 3 3.19%

I disagree 1 1.06%

Not Answered 7 7.45%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy?

There were 35 responses to this part of the question.

Question 12: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Exploring’ (page 26)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Exploring’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 51

Option Total Percent

I agree 51 54.26%

I broadly agree 23 24.47%

I neither agree nor disagree 8 8.51%

I slightly disagree 4 4.26%

I disagree 1 1.06%

Not Answered 7 7.45%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Exploring’ within the draft
strategy?

There were 40 responses to this part of the question.

Question 13: Please give your comments on our strategic initiatives below

At home in 2023: Our approach to 2023 – year of culture (page 30)

There were 73 responses to this part of the question.

The Roadmap: Our approach to City Events (page 32)

There were 71 responses to this part of the question.

Looking out: The Destination Hub (page 34)

There were 63 responses to this part of the question.

Listening in: UNESCO City of Music (page 35)

There were 62 responses to this part of the question.

Obviously Belfast: Our draft tourism narrative (page 38)

There were 61 responses to this part of the question.

Page 62



Page 8

Obviously Belfast: Our draft tourism themes (page 39)

There were 52 responses to this part of the question.

Question 14: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our approach to governance: ‘A City Connecting’ (page
41)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Connecting’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 47

Option Total Percent

I agree 47 50.00%

I broadly agree 22 23.40%

I neither agree nor disagree 13 13.83%

I slightly disagree 1 1.06%

I disagree 2 2.13%

Not Answered 9 9.57%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed approach to governance within the draft strategy?

There were 35 responses to this part of the question.

Question 15: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our commitments laid out in ‘A City Connecting’ (page
42)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our commitments laid out in ‘a City Connecting’ (pg 42)

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 45

Page 63



Page 9

Option Total Percent

I agree 45 47.87%

I broadly agree 24 25.53%

I neither agree nor disagree 10 10.64%

I slightly disagree 2 2.13%

I disagree 3 3.19%

Not Answered 10 10.64%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed commitments for ‘A City Connecting’ within the draft
strategy?

There were 29 responses to this part of the question.

Question 16: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our approach to investment: ‘A City Investing’ (page
45)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Investing’

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 40

Option Total Percent

I agree 40 42.55%

I broadly agree 28 29.79%

I neither agree nor disagree 10 10.64%

I slightly disagree 4 4.26%

I disagree 2 2.13%

Not Answered 10 10.64%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed approach to investment within the draft strategy?

There were 31 responses to this part of the question.

Page 64



Page 10

Question 17: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 investment priorities for ‘A City Investing’ (page
47)

To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 investment priorities for ‘A City Investing’ (page 47)

I agree

I broadly agree

I neither agree nor disagree

I slightly disagree

I disagree

Not Answered

0 32

Option Total Percent

I agree 32 34.04%

I broadly agree 32 34.04%

I neither agree nor disagree 13 13.83%

I slightly disagree 3 3.19%

I disagree 3 3.19%

Not Answered 11 11.70%

Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed investment priorities for 'A City Investing’ within the draft
strategy?

There were 33 responses to this part of the question.

Question 18: An Equality and Good Relations screening has been undertaken on the draft strategy. Are there any
aspects of this that you would like to comment on, or change?

Comments

There were 33 responses to this part of the question.

A Rural Needs screening has been undertaken on the draft strategy. Are there any aspects of this that you would like to comment
on, or change?

There were 30 responses to this part of the question.

Question 19: Please tell us of anything else that you feel we should include in our draft cultural strategy that has
not been included?

Comments

There were 45 responses to this part of the question.

Question 20: What is your postcode?

What is your postcode?

There were 88 responses to this part of the question.

Page 65



Page 11

Question 21: Which of the following best describes your interest as a respondent?

Which of the following best describes your interest as a respondent?

Member of the public

Responding on behalf of a group
or an organisation

Not Answered

0 69

Option Total Percent

Member of the public 69 73.40%

Responding on behalf of a group or an organisation 23 24.47%

Not Answered 2 2.13%

If replying on behalf of a group or an organisation, please specify:

There were 24 responses to this part of the question.

Question 22: What is your gender?

What is your gender?

Male

Female

Transgender

Prefer not to say

Not Answered

0 44

Page 66



Page 12

Option Total Percent

Male 44 46.81%

Female 44 46.81%

Transgender 0 0%

Prefer not to say 2 2.13%

Not Answered 4 4.26%

Question 23: What is your age?

What is your age?

Under 18

18-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65+

Not Answered

0 26

Option Total Percent

Under 18 0 0%

18-24 4 4.26%

25-34 12 12.77%

35-44 26 27.66%

45-54 18 19.15%

55-64 16 17.02%

65+ 13 13.83%

Not Answered 5 5.32%

Question 24: Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is
expected to last, at least 12 months?

Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12
months?

Yes, limited a lot

Yes, limited a little

No

Prefer not to say

Not Answered

0 78

Page 67



Page 13

Option Total Percent

Yes, limited a lot 1 1.06%

Yes, limited a little 6 6.38%

No 78 82.98%

Prefer not to say 5 5.32%

Not Answered 4 4.26%

Question 25: If yes, please say how this disability affects you (please select all that apply)

If yes, please say how this disability affects you (please select all that apply)

Physical disability

Hearing impairment

Sight impairment

Mental health condition

Learning disability

Long standing illness

Prefer not to say

Other

Not Answered

0 84

Option Total Percent

Physical disability 1 1.06%

Hearing impairment 2 2.13%

Sight impairment 0 0%

Mental health condition 2 2.13%

Learning disability 0 0%

Long standing illness 5 5.32%

Prefer not to say 1 1.06%

Other 1 1.06%

Not Answered 84 89.36%

If other, please specify

There were 0 responses to this part of the question.

Page 68



Page 14

Question 26: What is your ethnic group?

What is your ethnic group?

White

Chinese

Irish Traveler

Indian

Pakistani

Bangladeshi

Black Caribbean

Black African

Black other

Mixed Ethic group (please specify)

Not Answered

0 87

Option Total Percent

White 87 92.55%

Chinese 1 1.06%

Irish Traveler 0 0%

Indian 0 0%

Pakistani 0 0%

Bangladeshi 0 0%

Black Caribbean 0 0%

Black African 0 0%

Black other 0 0%

Mixed Ethic group (please specify) 0 0%

Not Answered 6 6.38%

Mixed Ethic group (please specify)

There was 1 response to this part of the question.

Page 69



Page 15

Question 27: Please indicate your community background

Please indicate your community background

I am a member of the Protestant
community

I am a member of the Roman
Catholic community

I am not a member of either the
Protestant or the Roman Catholic

communities

Not Answered

0 43

Option Total Percent

I am a member of the Protestant community 21 22.34%

I am a member of the Roman Catholic community 22 23.40%

I am not a member of either the Protestant or the Roman Catholic communities 43 45.74%

Not Answered 8 8.51%

Question 28: Do you have dependents or caring responsibilities for family members or other persons?

Do you have dependents or caring responsibilities for family members or other persons?

Yes

No

Not Answered

0 54

Option Total Percent

Yes 34 36.17%

No 54 57.45%

Not Answered 6 6.38%

Question 29: If yes, please indicate which of the following caring responsibilities you have. (select all that apply)

If yes, please indicate which of the following caring responsibilities you have. (select all that apply)

A child or children

A person with a disability

An elderly person

Other (please specify)

Not Answered

0 59

Page 70



Page 16

Option Total Percent

A child or children 25 26.60%

A person with a disability 7 7.45%

An elderly person 8 8.51%

Other (please specify) 2 2.13%

Not Answered 59 62.77%

If other please specify

There was 1 response to this part of the question.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



A cIty 
ImaGinIng

Page 73



Belfast’s cultural statement
Culture is a complicated word. Not everyone agrees with what it means.

For some people it’s art; For some people it’s sport;

For some people it’s the buildings around us, the music we enjoy, the food we eat or the languages we 
use to communicate with each other.

We have decided that we don’t want to define what culture means too closely because we know what it 
feels like to be defined. And definitions have held us back for too long.

For years some of us have felt the need to protect ourselves by turning inside and guarding our sense of 
belonging. But that was then and this is now. 

We now know that we have gained much wisdom through the extreme experiences of living in our city.  
We are proud of the place we call home and our doors are open. 

We understand that culture is everything;  
it’s the way we live our lives; it’s our place in the world and how we express that place in the world.

We recognise that the freedom to choose who we are and how we shape our city is up to us.

We can see that our future is there for the imagining and that we must do this together.

It will take great courage, some patience and a lot of creativity but imagination is a gift and  
action a responsibility.

We know we are a work in progress. We believe that Belfast is a city imagining.

Page 74



The Story So Far
p.5

A City Exploring
p.25

7

6

5

8 1 4

Lift Off
p.29

9

A City Connecting
p.41

2

What Happens Next?
p.49

A City Creating
p.21

A cIty 
ImaGinIng

3A City Belonging
p.13 A City Challenging

p.17

A City Investing
p.45

3

Belfast City Council  

Page 75



4

Page 76



THe StoRy
sO fAr

chapter 1

The long view

Shouldered by hills and both challenged and sustained 
by waterways, Belfast has been characterised by 
forces of endurance and determination since ancient 
times. Archaeologists have documented at least 9,000 
years of human settlement in the mountains and high 
ground around modern-day Belfast. The importance of 
geography - both its tests and opportunities - has been 
evident through the long and compelling story of the 
city’s development. Fast forward to 21st century Belfast 
and the landscape has become a cityscape, moulded 
by a new ebb and flow, by the tides of people living in, 
sharing and coming to visit the remarkable place that 
we call home.

Page 77



This 10-year cultural strategy is the result of an 
intensive, experimental and richly rewarding 
engagement process. Throughout the process, 
we’ve listened to and acknowledged the complex 
challenges and divisions which you’ve told us have 
blunted the city’s creativity and relationship to 
‘culture.’ Belfast’s cultural statement is a synthesis 
of your voices and an indication of the direction in 
which you feel the city needs to travel in relation 
to culture. This strategy is a consolidation of the 
foundation, commitments and achievements of 
several preceding strategies and frameworks and 
commits the city to facilitating a new integrated 
phase of culture-led progress and development,  
with the individual at the heart of this process. 

We acknowledge that there is much work to be 
done in order to develop a cultural ecosystem which 
is both anchored and adaptable to change. The 
strategy does not constitute a blueprint, but rather 
supports a philosophy of enablement with a view 
to creating a fluid, permeable place which values 
creativity and an ‘anything is possible’ attitude. This 
will also involve respecting the richness and diversity 
of our different cultural identities. Releasing Belfast’s 
full creative potential is an exciting work in progress. 
Belfast is a city imagining. 

In 2017, Belfast took the decision to enter a bidding process for the designation of European 
Capital of Culture. In October of the same year, the European Commission decided to 
halt the process, ending the competitive nature of the bid. Rather than being the end of a 
journey, the civic momentum gained through 16,000 one-to-one conversations threw open 
a challenge - the challenge to recognise the transformative power that culture, art and 
creativity have to spark a new relationship with ourselves as individuals, communities and 
as a city. 

New perspectives

Conversations People Creators

Places Events

62

5361

Artists

106

625

85

THe StoRysO fAr

137

6

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 78



Conversations People Creators

Places Events

62

5361

Artists

106

625

85

THe StoRysO fAr

137

Conversations People Creators

Places Events

62

5361

Artists

106

625

85

THe StoRysO fAr

137

7

Belfast City Council  

Page 79



VIsiOn fOr 2035
BElfAst wiLl Be A cIty...

Where 
everyone 
fulfills their 
potential

That is vibrant, 
attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally 
sustainable

Where everyone 
benefits from a 
thriving and 
prosperous 
economy

That is 
welcoming, 
safe, fair, and 
inclusive for all

Where 
everyone 
experiences 
good health 
and well being

Created by a strong civic partnership led 
by Belfast City Council, the Belfast Agenda 
is our city’s first community plan. It sets a 
vision for 2035 that imagines a culturally 
vibrant city. 

Our cultural strategy sets out a series of priorities 
that have the potential to contribute significantly to 
all five outcomes of the Belfast Agenda.

Building on the community planning process, 
we believe that this cultural strategy will be 
transformational. It acknowledges that change 
requires ambition, long-term commitment and a 
sustainable and adaptable approach. We believe 
that change is happening. This is our opportunity 
to embed cultural policy across wider city 
development. Our issues are complex and long 
standing but creativity and resilience are in the very 
fabric of our city and our people. A city imagining 
can be the catalyst for the urgency and agency 
required to encourage innovation, new connected 
thinking and greater collaboration.

Belfast has joined a global organisation 
called 100 Resilient Cities. Belfast is 
focused on strengthening the fabric of the 
city, reducing our vulnerability to shocks 
and increasing our capacity to adapt and 
respond to systemic stresses. Culture is at 
the heart of this work. 

A resilient city is a culturally vibrant city. One which 
values culture and its role. Ensuring the city can 
tackle intractable problems and adapt to future 
challenges. Our culture gives us strength - our 
culture makes us resilient. 

Belfast Agenda

100 Resilient Cities 

8

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 80



9

Page 81



Cities and regions from across the world first 
approved Agenda 21 for Culture in 2004. 

In the years since, many more local governments 
have aligned their policies to the actions set out in 
what has now become known as Culture 21. This 
international agenda systematically addresses 
the relationship between culture, citizenship and 
sustainability through nine commitments. 

Long standing global approaches to sustainable 
city development have recognised the importance 
of social, ecological and economic factors and 
the interconnections between each of these three 
pillars. In the 21st century, there has been an 
increased awareness of the need to understand and 
value a fourth pillar. This is what Culture 21 refers to 
as the cultural dimension. In doing so cities not only 
recognise the important relationship that culture 
has with the three other pillars but also the need to 
protect the integrity of a clear cultural agenda by 
applying a cultural lens to all areas of local policy 
making. 

Belfast has already committed to joining the Culture 
21 Pilot Cities programme. Participation in this 
programme creates an opportunity for the city to be 
part of an international community. It also provides 
us with the support and guidance to take forward a 
number of specific actions that will respond to the 
local context as we embark on a process of truly 
embedding culture at the heart of our wider city 
agenda. 

Culture 21

Our approach to cultural development has 
been evolving since the publication of our 
first dedicated cultural strategy in 2003. 

We recognise the limitations of previous 
approaches, in particular, an over-emphasis on 
linear and transactional relationships. At times 
there has been a disconnect between recognising 
the benefits and understanding the value of culture. 
However, successive cultural strategies have helped 
to lay a strong foundation for what we will now take 
forward as a new lateral and integrated approach to 
cultural development and placemaking. 

Placemaking is a people-centred approach to 
delivering a local and shared vision. People shape 
places. Culturally vibrant cities are places where 
people negotiate collective senses of belonging and 
where the private sphere connects to the public.

In recent years, there is an increased understanding 
of the role of councils in shaping great places. Local 
government is ideally positioned when it comes to 
placemaking, with an ability to connect with and 
bring together a diverse range of people. It is in this 
role that Belfast City Council must show leadership. 
However, equally important is our role in stepping 
back to facilitate and strengthen other networks 
that in turn support cultural lives and creative 
environments. 

Placemaking

10

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 82



Culture 21

Cultural Rights

Culture &
Environment

Culture, 
Urban Planning, 
and Public Space

Culture, 
Information, 

and Knowledge

Governance 
of Culture

Heritage, 
Culture & Creativity 

Culture 
& Education 

Culture &
Economy

Culture, Equality 
& Social Inclusion

culture 21 commitments

11

Belfast City Council  

Page 83



12

Page 84



A cIty 
bEloNgiNg

chapter 2 

Active participation

Cultural belonging can be defined as an individual’s 
feelings in relation to their sense of identity, their 
relationship to other people around them and their 
sense of place. Agenda 21 for Culture states that cultural 
rights guarantee the ability of everyone to identify with 
one or several cultural communities and to adapt this 
choice throughout their life. The exercise of cultural 
rights is essential for the development of a sustainable 
city. This also includes respect and understanding for 
the cultural rights of others. We believe that arts and 
creative practices can foster the confidence to imagine 
new and diverse senses of belonging in Belfast. 

Page 85



Priorities under this theme will support citizens to be active agents of change and co-
creators of cultural activity. In this context when we refer to citizens we include all those 
people who make up our city - residents, non-residents and visitors.

Priorities

Priority 1

Developing a people 
focussed approach to 
cultural development by 
facilitating citizen and sector 
participation in setting 
priorities, decision-making 
and in the evaluation of 
cultural policies. 

Priority 2 

Building the creative 
capacity of our citizens 
and cultural sector to allow 
people to express their 
own cultural identities and 
respect and learn about 
other cultures.

Priority 3

Protecting, promoting and 
using cultural heritage in 
all its dimensions, both 
tangible and intangible 
including the plurality of the 
city’s cultural narratives. 

Priority 4 

Enabling a sense of 
belonging and sense of 
place through cultural 
participation to help 
encourage a strong civic 
identity that people can 
share and celebrate.

1 2

3 4
14

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 86



To help take forward this theme we will engage 
creative facilitators, citizens and our cultural 
partners in a co-design process that will reach into 
all areas of Belfast. This will involve getting into the 
extraordinary ordinary spaces of people’s lives - 
living rooms, shopping centres, bus stops, taxi cabs 
and classrooms.

It is in working this way that our collective city can 
hear new voices and people are encouraged to 
open up about challenging questions of belonging. 
Cultural vibrancy emanates from creators, 
participants, volunteers and audiences. This can 
drive new forms of citizenship that in turn support 
our aspiration of being a resilient city that leaves no-
one behind.

For many people the city already has a thriving 
cultural scene including high quality sporting 
facilities and excellent examples of natural and built 
heritage. However, a vision of cultural inclusivity 
must push out to connect to all dimensions of 
cultural life including engagement, programming, 
accessibility, participation, audiences, volunteering 
and employment. 

In order to support these active forms of 
participation and co-creation we must better 
understand the existing obstacles to citizens’ 
access and engagement in cultural life. We must 
also support and strengthen those organisations 
devoted to culture and value the important 
contribution they make to the life of our city. 

The outcomes of the Belfast Agenda focus on improving the quality of life for the individual. 
A City Belonging responds to this by supporting cultural participation as a critical part 
of active participation in civic society. Complex and long standing issues such as life 
inequalities require a multidimensional response and we believe that creativity has a 
significant role in the ongoing transformation of Belfast.

Imagine an inclusive city where everyone actively participates in 
cultural life

15

Belfast City Council  

Page 87



A cIty 
cHalLenGinG

16

Page 88



A cIty 
cHalLenGinG

chapter 3

Diversity

Globalisation and migration have increased diversity in 
cities across the world. Different dimensions of diversity 
intersect in multiple ways between individuals and 
communities. One of the city’s challenges is to create 
the conditions whereby Belfast’s open spaces and 
cultural venues offer opportunities for diverse encounters 
across and beyond different cultures, lifestyles and 
attitudes.

Page 89



Priorities under this theme will aspire to cultivate creative environments for dynamic  
co-creation and synergy in our placemaking.

Priorities

Priority 5

Embedding cultural impact 
in city development and local 
placemaking.

Priority 6 

Investing in connected, 
resilient and sustainable 
infrastructure of quality 
cultural spaces across the 
city. This will also include 
digital spaces.

Priority 7

Supporting high quality 
cultural events and 
activities that are 
accessible, diverse and 
inclusive.

Priority 8

Transforming under-
used public spaces 
into vibrant and diverse 
cultural destinations. 

5 6

7 8
18

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 90



Across Europe and beyond, citizens are questioning 
the ownership and use of public space. As 
populations increase and places change, real 
innovation is required in creating shared locations 
for recreation, leisure and sport. There is an 
opportunity to activate and repurpose derelict, 
neglected or underused space in imaginative 
ways. We will create contexts, which will enable 
intercultural exchanges to flourish in the public 
realm. This will also support interests, hobbies, 
personal creativity and connections between new 
and diverse communities of interest. 

Cultural vibrancy will be essential to ensuring we 
meet our ambitious target to significantly increase 
the number of people living in the city centre. It 
will also be crucial to the sustainable evolution 
of our ever changing high streets and the many 
neighbourhoods that make up the city as a whole. 

The approach must acknowledge the need for 
people to experience urban diversity in the places 
we meet and in how we use public space. Cultural 
impact should be inherent in our placemaking to 
ensure that we deliver a distinctive vision for Belfast. 
The design of our public spaces must be authentic 
to the way we live our lives but with one eye to the 
future. How we programme and animate these 
spaces will allow us to imagine new meanings. 

It is the relationship between an individual’s sense 
of belonging and a sense of place that we create a 
collective experience of Belfast as our home. 

The Belfast Agenda recognises the city’s abundance of open space including parks, 
playing fields, greenways as well as the River Lagan and Belfast Hills. These spaces are 
complemented by our historic and contemporary cultural venues including our museums, 
theatres and galleries. The challenge is to ensure the purpose and use of these places 
reflect the diversity of our city. 

Imagine a diverse city with vibrant public and cultural spaces

19

Belfast City Council  

Page 91



20

Page 92



A cIty 
cReaTinG

chapter 4

New approaches

A culturally vibrant city must take risks. The citizens of 
Belfast have indicated that they are ready to challenge 
traditional mind-sets and take a culture-led leap into the 
future. Cultural, arts and heritage organisations have 
a key role to play as creative leaders, innovators and 
challengers. 

Page 93



Priorities under this theme will facilitate and explore new ways of working, taking more risks 
and helping artists to have more autonomy to engage with citizens in new and creative ways.

Priorities

Priority 9

Increasing the autonomy 
of the creative sectors  
to explore and shape 
the city’s evolving, rich 
and multiple cultural 
narratives.

Priority 10

Supporting cultural 
excellence, cultural 
planning and cultural 
entrepreneurialism by 
providing support for 
artistic innovation and 
improved networking.

Priority 11

Investing in a stronger and 
more sustainable cultural 
sector by supporting 
established and new creative 
practitioners to work beyond 
boundaries. This will create 
the environment where 
risks can be taken across a 
broader range of activities, 
sectors and disciplines.

Priority 12 

Empowering the 
innovative capacity 
of the creative 
economy to connect 
technology and 
society.

9 10

11 12
22

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 94



If we recognise the role of our cultural partners 
as collaborators and innovators, we should not 
approach the relationship with predetermined 
demands and precast solutions. The principle 
of reciprocity involves an open dialogue on the 
contribution of culture and creativity to all aspects 
of life in the city. 

The first step in this process is to develop new forms 
of relationship that move beyond that of funder 
and recipient. Recognising the professionalism of 
the creative and cultural sectors and their ability to 
adapt is critical. In turn, cultural organisations must 
rise to the challenge of effectively articulating their 
own value proposition in order to increase mutual 
understanding of their contribution to the city. 

The outcomes of the Belfast Agenda are clear. 
The aspiration is to be a culturally vibrant city. The 
success of this is dependent on the real experiences 
of the people who live, work and visit here. Council 
has a clear role in facilitating the networks and 
building the capacity and skills to deliver on the 
cultural dimension of this Agenda. There is an 
opportunity to establish Belfast as an international 
testing ground for new approaches to cultural 
engagement and development and to imagine new 
ways of living in our city. Belfast has always been 
a city of innovation and experimentation, A city 
creating supports the next evolution of this story.

The Belfast Agenda sets out an ambitious vision for a city that is energised, vibrant and 
connected. The opportunity for this transformation is considerable, however, the challenges 
are significant. Each of these descriptors - energised, vibrant and connected - speak to 
specific cultural values. It is in this space that our artists and cultural players can lead in 
imagining this transformed city. 

Imagine a city where creativity pushes boundaries 

23

Belfast City Council  

Page 95



24

Page 96



A cIty 
eXplOriNg

chapter 5

Our place in the world

The depth and breadth of existing partnerships and 
networks between a range of cultural players (including 
educational, sports, community and voluntary) is already 
evident. The positive impact of these connections has 
ripple effects across many sectors at a city and regional 
level as well as securing Belfast’s place within the global 
creative economy. Belfast will facilitate, support and 
maintain city, regional and international networks and 
collaborative partnerships on a range of levels, from the 
individual artist to established cultural institutions. 

Page 97



Priorities under this theme will sustain, strengthen and develop the city’s cultural ecosystem.

Priorities

Priority 13

Strengthening our 
city, regional and 
international cultural 
networks.

Priority 14

Growing our sustainable 
cultural tourism product 
through a creative 
approach that respects 
the city’s heritage and 
communities. 

Priority 15

Encouraging 
environmental 
responsibility 
and resilience by 
understanding and 
adapting cultural 
behaviours.

Priority 16

Increasing the 
contribution of both 
public and private 
cultural sectors to 
inclusive economic 
growth.

13 14

15 16
26

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 98



Equally important is our ability to connect out 
across the world. This model already exists in other 
sectors and illustrates the local and international 
opportunities that comes from strong networks. 
Critical to this model of a global and resilient city 
is active participation at an international level. Our 
creative and cultural sectors are ideally placed to be 
global ambassadors for the city. 

The connection between the local and the global is 
important. Belfast’s tourism industry is driven by a 
21st century international trend where visitors seek 
authentic, local and cultural experiences. In many 
ways, this is the contemporary articulation of an 
age-old phenomenon. That people connect with 
people. That tourism by its very nature is cultural. 
A city exploring also recognises that as well as 
major infrastructure, marketing and investment the 
success of the visitor economy will be defined by 
storytelling. 

Our citizens, neighbourhoods and local communities 
are at the core of telling these stories. This in 
turn shapes places. This theme will support 
the development of cultural tourism across the 
city through a long-term commitment to local 
placemaking.

Many of the civic conversations that have supported 
the development of this strategy have revealed 
the increasing importance of environmental 
responsibility to the lives of the people in the city. 
There is undoubtedly an uncertainty as to how to 
proceed at an individual and collective city level 
yet this is a critical dimension to understanding 
and strengthening our place in the world. Cultural 
behaviours are one of the dominant factors in 
localised responses to environmental sustainability. 
We believe that this strategy can support a dialogue 
that increases our understanding and as a result, our 
ability to adapt these behaviours to better protect 
our city and global ecology. 

This strategy seeks to sustain cultural activity and increase cultural impact by building 
capacity at a citizen, sector and city level. Critical to this will be the development of 
stronger regional cultural networks (formal and informal connections and opportunities 
supported by local authorities) that will allow for deeper collaboration and partnership 
working between Belfast and other areas. 

Imagine a city confident of our place in the world 

27

Belfast City Council  

Page 99



28

Page 100



LIft  .OFf
chapter 6
Bidding for the designation of European Capital of 
Culture has been a tremendous catalyst for doing 
things differently. Despite the end of this competition, 
we have decided that we must build on the momentum 
generated during the bidding process and push Belfast 
to realise its full potential as a destination city where 
people want to live, work and visit. We are following 
through with plans to make 2023 a celebratory year 
co-created by local people for themselves and visitors 
to enjoy. During 2023 we will launch a year-long 
programme of immersive cultural activity on a scale 
that Belfast has never seen before. So much more than 
a festival, Belfast 2023 will be a landmark in the delivery 
of the cultural ambition set out in A city imagining 
and a call to action for our next generation of cultural 
leaders. By 2023 we also aspire to have achieved the 
designation of UNESCO City of Music for Belfast, to 
have embedded a new approach to festival and events 
in the city, and to be well on our way towards opening 
our new cultural attraction in the city centre. The 
priorities of this strategy, including a visioning tourism 
narrative for the city, will facilitate the creativity, capacity 
building and energy that is required in the lead up to 
this celebration and beyond. It is hoped the impact 
of the year will be a change that is felt at a personal 
level and borne out in the collective action of the city. Page 101



Home in the 21st century is a complex, changing 
and dynamic concept. From the conversations 
that we have had, we understand that what it 
means to be At home can be as much about 
a feeling or a sense of belonging as it can be 
about a specific place or bricks and mortar. Our 
year will celebrate and challenge what it means 
to be at home in our city. This will involve the 
most ambitious public engagement programme 
Belfast has ever undertaken. The results will be far 
reaching launching an international programme 
that will attract visitors from across the world truly 
establishing Belfast as a city of culture. 

Our vision for the year is to create a legacy of better 
understanding our identity, our relationships with 
each other and our place in the world. 

The Plan

The artistic programme for the year will be 
structured around six flagship projects. Four of these 
projects will build on existing signature events in the 
city with a further two being special commissions 
for the year. The rationale for this is to support the 
long-term transformation of established cultural 
events as well as recognising a unique opportunity 
to commission new work of scale and international 
relevance.

The proposed approach is committed to investing 
in our cultural sector to produce adventurous,  
challenging, innovative and risk-taking work. 

The programme will also include a series of further 
commissions ranging in content, style, scale and 
purpose. This could include individual artists through 
to international collaborations. 

The programme will support the strategic priorities 
set out in this ten year strategy including:

 � long-term capacity building
 � networking and educational projects
 � volunteering programme
 � artists in residence
 � arts management
 � audience development
 � civic engagement
 � international cooperation support

Our year is designed to create a collective moment 
for the city. The programme does not have a final 
destination. If the purpose of this wider strategy is 
cultural transformation then the legacy of 2023 is 
that in activating a new sense of place we can find 
new senses of belonging. 

2023 will be a designated year of culture. Crowdsourced through thousands of 
conversations with citizens, our concept for the year is At home. 

At home in 2023

30

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 102



@hoMe 

2023

Artists Volunteers

Fringe EventsFlagship Events Cultural Events

Visitors Citizens

31

Page 103



The cultural, social and economic impacts of events 
cut across all areas of the Belfast Agenda. The 
decision to bid for the European Capital of Culture 
indicated that there is a desire to enhance the 
quality and ambition of the cultural offer in Belfast 
through closer partnerships within the city, across 
the region and internationally.

We are starting from a strong position. However, 
from this foundation we must commit to a long-term 
and strategic approach to events that supports the 
wider ambitions of this strategy.

Despite the richness of Belfast’s cultural offer and 
a number of significant successes in recent years, 
the city has not yet established itself as an events 
destination. What the city has demonstrated is the 
potential to be different, authentic and distinctly 
Belfast. 

Events can challenge and articulate a city’s diverse 
identity and personality. Public engagement must 
underpin our city’s new approach to developing 
events and festivals.

Successful cities of culture have shown that 
investment in homegrown talent has long-term and 
measurable impacts.

Events should:
 � Encourage cultural curiosity to foster a more 
accessible, optimistic and celebratory city.
 �Contribute to placemaking by using public spaces 
in innovative ways to shape identity, regenerate 
the city and tell new stories. 
 �Support inclusive growth by driving talent and 
skills development within the local workforce as 
well as indicators of economic spend.
 � Inspire civic pride and volunteer engagement. 

Our aim is to develop a Belfast portfolio of festivals 
and events. This will consist of up to five signature 
and 12 growth events each year. It will also include 
continued investment in smaller festivals. 

City partners will work together to bid to secure a 
major event once every five years. Our approach 
will also consider the potential for a series of 
homegrown events such as a year of culture in 2023, 
to deliver the same level of impact as an external 
international event. 

Investment in major events should consider 
connection to the city’s cultural narrative and long-
term contribution to infrastructure as well as any 
short-term economic impact.

We recognise that this is an ambitious approach. We 
are confident that by working together we can make 
Belfast a unique events destination. 

City events have an important role within the wider cultural offer of Belfast. Events can tell 
stories, connect people and present new perspectives on our place. 

The roadmap

32

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 104



33

Page 105



Supported by the Belfast Region City Deal, the 
core element of the Hub will be the Belfast Story. 
This major cultural attraction will invite visitors to 
explore the many stories of the city and its people 
through an immersive, multi-gallery experience. The 
galleries will draw on the full range of interpretative 
techniques, using a combination of multi-media 
technologies, selected objects and creative 
responses to reveal the histories, personal secrets 
and fascinating facts about Belfast.

The concept is under development, but it is 
envisaged that it will take a thematic approach to 
story telling. Thus, for example, the attraction will 
immerse visitors in the city’s music, arts, sports 
and love of a good yarn; it will connect them with 
the city’s innovators and tell them about its tribes 
and heroes; it will take them inside the challenging 
stories of the more recent troubled past. Visitors will 
leave with real insights into Belfast, and with a rich 
sense of the city and its people. 

The Hub is a working title. The experience will 
comprise the new developments of the Belfast Story, 
a film centre and a largescale exhibition space 
creating a place where locals meet and Belfast 
connects with its visitors. 

Connecting outwards to the city and beyond

The ethos for the Hub is to connect Belfast’s current 
cultural offer to create an integrated, comprehensive 
and unforgettable city experience. The Hub will 
encourage visitors to experience existing venues 
and explore wider areas by creating synergies with 
cultural partners across the city. The impact of the 
Hub will be far reaching. It will naturally have direct 
impact on the city centre by bringing a new dynamic 
to the area. It will also provide a cultural beacon for 
the city, an anchor for the wider Belfast experience 
and an area of orientation for visitors into Northern 
Ireland.

People and place

The opportunity for the people of Belfast to be 
involved in shaping and renewing the stories of the 
city is at the heart of this project. This will be an 
experience that is truly of the place with the power to 
evolve our city narratives past, present and future.

Belfast’s Destination Hub (the Hub) will be a landmark signature experience in the heart 
of the city centre that speaks to the essence of this vibrant place. This will be achieved 
through an innovative cluster of existing and new developments. 

Looking out

34

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 106



Music is recognised as a distinctive aspect of 
Belfast’s cultural profile with audience research 
indicating high levels of engagement locally as 
well as strong linkages to the city’s international 
profile. Engagement with citizens during and after 
the European Capital of Culture bid also indicated 
that there is support for strengthening the role that 
music has in helping to make Belfast a culturally 
vibrant place to live, work and visit. In March 2018 as 
a result of the coalescence of many conversations 
which were happening in the city at the same 
time, council backed a proposal for the city and its 
partners to make an application for the endorsement 
of UNESCO City of Music status.

The UNESCO Creative Cities Network (UCCN) aims 
to strengthen cooperation with and among cities 
that have recognised creativity as a strategic 
factor of sustainable development with regard 
to social, cultural, economic and environmental 
aspects. Member cities come from diverse regions 
and work towards a common mission: placing 
creativity and cultural industries at the core of their 
urban development plans to make their cities safe, 
resilient, inclusive and sustainable. 

For Belfast, the possibility of the designation is much 
more than just getting a title, it’s the opportunity to 
open a new era of collaboration between the city, 
citizens and music communities. There must be a 
place at the table for everyone, from the grassroots 
smaller venues and their audiences through to 
breakthrough international artists. The process 
for bidding will be regarded as an experiment in 
partnership building and engagement in order to 
achieve the far-reaching impact that music can 
have on the lives of everyone in Belfast. 

 

Belfast has a unique relationship with music across many genres. It reflects the clang of our 
industrial past, the ferment of political events and the expressions of youth - both frustrated 
and hopeful. Belfast has a legacy of showbands, heavy rock and a pub culture that thrives 
on traditional music. Our musical heritage stretches from classical to street music. Belfast 
is known internationally for having a rich and diverse musical history but it also has a 
promising future that arises from its recent revival as a genuinely global city. 

Listening in 

35

Belfast City Council  

Page 107



36

Page 108



37

Page 109



We are a city that confounds expectations. A city 
that’s like no other. For a capital city we’re small 
… compact. Our heart is big. Our spirit strong. Our 
energy palpable. Our character stout. Our humour 
dark. And the craic is mighty. 

We’re a great city that welcomes you with open 
arms - and we’re ready to tell our stories to the world. 
For visitors there’s the unforgettable experience 
of being in a city in transition - an edgy city that’s 
on the move. Colourful, complicated, messy … and 
magnificent. 

Because Belfast is a city that’s rich in so many ways. 

Richly storied: an early coastal settlement named 
Béal Feirste, enfolded by hills, rivers and loughs, this 
is a place with a long and complex history, a tapestry 
of narratives, and now a new story in the making. 

Richly ornate: this industrial powerhouse of the 19th 
and early 20th centuries has lavish facades and 
gorgeous interiors - not just the grand civic buildings 
but its pubs and cafés and hotels. 

And rich in culture, talent and creativity: with our 
history of making things, our extraordinary street art, 
our live music scene, our sporting legends and our 
unique dialect that helps give this city its different 
sound. Belfast’s long been home to creators who 

dare to dream - industrial designers and innovators, 
technicians and craftspeople, as well as artists, 
writers and poets, music and film-makers. 

There are other giants in Belfast too - the world-
famous story of the Titanic and the towering new 
edifice that marks its creation, the sleeping giant’s 
silhouette on the ever-present Belfast hills that 
encircle the city, the huge yellow dockside cranes 
Samson and Goliath which dominate the skyline, 
the Peace Walls that open your eyes to the recent 
troubled past. 

In one trip you can experience a cultural city, a 
vibrant evening city, a maritime river city, a university 
city, a foodie city and a historic city. Belfast’s story 
is all around you - it’s written (quite literally) in the 
paving stones and on the walls. And after a day or 
two here - walking the streets, hearing the stories, 
listening to the voices - you start to make the 
connections. You start to unlock the past. You start 
to understand the banter. You start to feel like you 
belong. Tourism’s still relatively new here, and the 
people go out of our way to make you feel welcome. 
There’s a generosity to strangers that can take the 
visitor by surprise … but it shouldn’t: it’s part of who 
we are.

So … Belfast is ready. Are you? 

While Belfast has enjoyed a relative growth in tourism over recent years, it’s time for the city 
to push the development of cultural tourism on to the next level. Titanic Belfast has been 
an enormous success and an indicator of the potential for tourism as a driver for economic 
growth. In order to encourage visitors to stay longer and explore more areas of the city, 
including our unique neighbourhoods, we must broaden and deepen the wealth of the city’s 
current cultural offer. We have been working with partners to develop an outward facing city 
narrative and positioning framework for Belfast which will help the city to progress with a 
strategic and connected approach to product development. 

Obviously Belfast

38

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 110



The themes

Tell me more (A city of stories) 

Most cities claim their people are the best, 
however we truly believe that it’s our incredible 
people who give character and charm to Belfast. 
A city where people love to talk, to tell and share 
stories, to banter and make the visitor feel like 
they belong - that’s Belfast. Conversations are 
nourished as much by wonderful food as they 
are flavoured by local voices. You might have 
heard one story about Belfast but you certainly 
haven’t heard them all. 

Not what it seems (A city of contrasts)

Belfast has an intriguing and complex history 
stretching back thousands of years. Contrasts 
and endurance are etched into the character of 
the place. This is evident topographically from 
the high ground of the hills to the depths of the 
waterways; creatively from the spontaneous 
expression of street art to the considered 
curation of our museums and socially through 
the compelling stories of our recent past. Intrigue 
and curiosity are part of the fabric of our place. 

Hidden depths (A maritime city)

It has been said that the people of Belfast walk 
on water. Beneath the streets, the Farset and 
Blackstaff rivers determined the shape of the 
city that grew up around them. Waterways, 
rivers, loughs and shores have shaped the 
culture and character of Belfast since ancient 
times; they have provided inspiration for our 
poets and opportunity for the city’s industrialists 
and visionaries. The city’s dockland now hosts 
the iconic Titanic Belfast which pays homage 
to the Olympic-class liners built in Harland and 
Wolff by the White Star Line. This is one chapter 
in a settlement story of tidal currents and 
crossings.

Homespun (Made in Belfast)

Creativity combined with hard work and ambition 
can be traced through the city’s industrial 
heritage and beyond, from rope-making to ship 
building, whiskey distilling to the local expertise 
of the mill workers in the linen mills. Belfast 
also abounds with unique cultural venues and 
experiences which are testimony to a city 
steeped in creativity and innovation. From quirky 
cinemas to established theatres, from incredible 
visual arts to a music scene that will leave the 
city ringing in your ears, Belfast has the edge. 

In order to truly connect with our visitors and ultimately grow market share, we need to ensure that our visitors 
truly connect with Belfast’s people, culture, places and heritage. To help give focus to the challenge of creating 
unique destination experiences, we have identified the following four themes from our tourism narrative. These 
themes will help to shape the development of Belfast experiences which are immersive and engaging. 

39

Belfast City Council  

Page 111



40

Page 112



chapter 6: lift off
Bidding for the designation of European Capital of Culture has been a 
tremendous catalyst for doing things differently. Despite the end of this 
competition, we have decided that we must build on the momentum generated 
during the bidding process and push Belfast to realise its full potential as a 
destination city where people want to live, work and visit. We are following 
through with plans to make 2023 a celebratory year co-created by local people 
for themselves and visitors to enjoy. During 2023 we will launch a year-long 
programme of immersive cultural activity on a scale that Belfast has never 
seen before. So much more than a festival, Belfast 2023 will be a 
landmark in the delivery of the cultural ambition set out in ‘A city 
imagining’ and a call to action for our next generation 
of cultural leaders. By 2023 we also aspire to have 
achieved the designation of UNESCO City of Music 
for Belfast, to have embedded a new approach to 
festival and events in the city, and to be well on our way 
towards opening our new cultural attraction in the city 
centre. The priorities of this strategy, including a visioning 
tourism narrative for the city, will facilitate the creativity, 
capacity building and energy that is required in the 
lead up to this celebration and beyond. It 
is hoped the impact of the year will 
be a change that is felt at a 
personal level and borne out in 
the collective action of the city. 

A cIty 
cOnnEctIng

chapter 7
New ways of working are required to grow and sustain 
cities in the 21st century. Belfast is a small city in terms 
of population but it has had a powerful impact on the 
world. To conserve this impact, we must develop new 
ways of partnership working and of making these 
partnerships one of the most recognisable assets 
of this place. In order to achieve this, Belfast is 
advocating a governance model based on the 
need to nurture lateral relationships and permeable 
networks which thrive on people-power and advocate 
an outward-facing approach. It is also acknowledged 
that technology has revolutionised the nature of how and 
why we connect. To keep ahead of the curve Belfast must 
meaningfully engage with the untapped potential that 
digital connectivity brings for people, starting 
at the level of the individual through 
to how this effects the city’s 
position as a global player. 

Page 113



This strategy has been driven by thousands of 
conversations. Success will be defined by our 
willingness and capacity as a city to turn these 
conversations into action and to take shared 
responsibility for delivering a vision for culture in 
Belfast. 

Our commitments

 � To facilitate participative forums to discuss 
cultural policies
 � To engage with public sector, private sector, 
cultural sector and citizens in the ongoing 
development of cultural policies
 � To actively co-ordinate a joined up city approach 
to cultural development including at different 
levels of government
 � To undertake and respect cultural planning at 
citywide and neighbourhood level
 � To take into consideration the cultural dimension 
of crosscutting council policies

Through participation in the Culture 21 Pilot Cities 
programme Belfast City Council will identify key 
actions to support these commitments. 

In presenting a long view of cultural transformation we must consider the critical role of 
governance in supporting the delivery of strategic priorities. Our proposed approach will be 
shaped by a number of commitments that have been strongly influenced by Agenda 21 for 
Culture and the Core Cities’ Cultural Enquiry. 

Our approach to governance

Agenda 21 for Culture

Local governments must be able to take on 
different roles as leaders, financial supporters, 
facilitators and, sometimes, just as observers. 
They must also accept overall responsibility 
for creating an enabling environment for 
sustainable development and cultural 
participation. 

42

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 114



The Cultural Enquiry produced for the Core Cities 
network recommends an adaptable model called a 
City Compact for how governance can support the 
delivery of a local vision for culture. The purpose of 
this City Compact model is to build capacity and 
maximise the investment required to deliver this 
shared vision. 

Belfast City Council is committed to taking forward 
a City Compact and to working with our partners to 
deliver the strategic priorities set out in this Strategy. 
The purpose of this model is also to support a more 
joined up approach to investment in culture across 
both the public and private sectors. This will include 
those partners working in a range of areas including 
health and well-being, education, regeneration and 
business.

The next phase will be to reach agreement with all of 
our partners on how we take forward this Compact 
including the co-design of implementation plans to 
fulfil these commitments.

Imagine a collaborative city with a shared vision for culture

Cultural enquiry: City compact

Purpose: to co-create and co-deliver a 
holistic vision for culture in cities

The Compact will support collective,  
co-ordinated action to grow and sustain the 
cultural ecosystem. This will involve aligning 
activity and funding, and levering additional 
human, financial and property resources, 
in support of an agreed local purpose. The 
Compact will be the primary vehicle for 
discussion between local partners and with 
government about how best to deploy culture 
for the city. Each city’s Compact will have a 
distinctive purpose, according to need and 
opportunity.

The model

Further detail on the City Compact Model will be 
included in the implementation plans.

43

Belfast City Council  

Page 115



44

Page 116



A cIty 
iNveStiNg

chapter 8
Realising Belfast’s ambition to become a culturally 
vibrant city requires public investment in our creative 
and cultural lives. This investment should recognise the 
intrinsic value of culture in our city. The Belfast Agenda 
also recognises culture and creativity as essential to 
delivering better health and well-being for our citizens 
as well as providing a platform for access and inclusive 
growth. Cultural projects can and should present 
compelling investment propositions to a wide range of 
public and private investors. 

Projects such as the European Capital of Culture bid 
have shown what can be achieved when a city pulls 
together to support culture as a driving force for social 
and economic benefit. As the economies that underpin 
the success of our cities is changing, we must develop 
dynamic, diverse and innovative investment models in 
order to sustain the far-reaching impact that cultural 
activities have on all of our lives. In short, we must 
inject some much valued creativity into our investment 
approach if we are serious about our commitment to 
nurturing cultural vibrancy in our place.

Page 117



This investment approach takes the long view 
required to deliver transformation for the city. It 
recognises that the first priority must be to invest in 
a healthy cultural ecosystem. This is essential if we 
are to realise the wider social benefits and economic 
dividends that we know cities of culture can deliver. 

We recognise the importance of public investment 
in culture. However, we also accept the reality that 
cities must develop new ways of raising finance as 
well as new types of cultural investment beyond 
traditional grant models. It is in this area that a new 
role for council emerges. Belfast City Council will 
take a lead role in developing public-private forms 
of investment working with partners to leverage new 
investment into the city. 

As we develop the investment programme all 
associated funding schemes will be subject to 
detailed published assessment criteria.

The aims of the cultural investment programme will 
be to:

Support the cultural life of the city by 
enabling our citizens to be active, dynamic 
and creative agents of change.

Invest in our cultural and creative sectors 
to develop the skills and capacity for 
production and innovation. 

Position Belfast as an international 
testing ground for new approaches to 
cultural engagement, development and 
placemaking. 

Establish Belfast as a cultural destination.

We are committed to delivering a cultural investment programme for the city. The purpose 
of this programme is to support the delivery of strategic priorities as set out in this 
document. These in turn will contribute to achieving the outcomes of the Belfast Agenda.

Developing an investment programme

1

2

3

4

46

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 118



Anchor: This investment priority will support the 
cultural infrastructure necessary for a thriving 
cultural ecosystem.

Activate: This investment priority will empower 
civic and sectoral engagement, skills and capacity 
building in order to support inclusive growth. 

Experiment: This investment priority will facilitate 
innovation, catalyst projects and new ideas.

Open: This investment priority will support outward-
facing opportunities including marketing and 
international co-operation.

Our investment priorities

CulTurAl
VibRanCy 

OpeN

ExpEriMenT

AncHor

ActIvaTe

We are proposing to design a number of investment strands to support arts, heritage and 
events. These strands will be developed around the following four priorities.

47

Belfast City Council  

Page 119



Belfast City Council will continue to offer multi-
annual grants recognising the importance of this 
type of funding in order to sustain accessible 
cultural activity and infrastructure. However, 
evaluation of our existing programme has revealed 
the need to adapt our one size fits all model. A new 
multi-annual programme will be designed to better 
support the diversity of our cultural organisations. 

A city ready for future challenges must also support 
innovation and experimentation. A new approach to 
project grants will consider opportunities for catalyst 
funding. 

Importantly we are also committed to moving 
beyond grants-based models to explore new forms 
of investment. The recent Cultural Enquiry published 
by the Core Cities network of the UK has presented 
a number of recommendations that merit serious 
consideration of how they might be applied in 
the local context. This includes the potential of 
establishing a tourism levy that would act as a tax 
on overnight visitors into the city and would be 
directly reinvested in local cultural development.

These recommendations include more effective use 
of cultural assets as well as new ways of investing 
in culture through greater collaboration between 
the private and public sectors. Others cities also 

offer alternative forms of finance including asset 
transfers and social financing. Such models require 
further investigation into whether they could be 
applied in Belfast and how council might support the 
cultural sector to become investment ready. 

The long view supported by these strategic 
priorities requires us to plan for the future including 
consideration for further capital investment in 
cultural infrastructure.

Our commitment

The principle of being investment ready is also one 
that applies to Belfast City Council. The ambitions 
set out in this strategy require organisational 
development to ensure that we can develop the 
resources, skills and capacity to deliver.

The Belfast Agenda has helped establish a new approach to partnership working. This must 
also be applied to cultural development and investment in the city across a range of public 
and private partners. 

Our investment approach

48

Belfast - A City Imagining

Page 120



WHat 
hAppEns neXt...

Engagement on this strategy began in 2017 when we asked our citizens what 
it meant to feel At home in Belfast. From what started as a number of small 
conversations has swelled to a movement for challenge, change and cultural 
transformation in our city, in short new ways of imagining Belfast.

We hope that this Cultural Strategy will be the beginning of a new way of 
working and engaging with culture in Belfast. This is only the start. The strategy 
will be supported by implementation plans that are designed to set out in detail 
the level of commitment, resource and partnership working required to deliver 
A City Imagining. 

Your ongoing feedback will help us shape the plans 
and initiatives that support this strategy - look out for 
opportunities to continue to engage with us -  
www.belfastcity.gov.uk/culturalstrategy

Page 121



Acknowledgements 

 � Kelly Morris Photography

 � Campbell Photography

 � Nicola Ross Photography

 � Aurora Photography

 � Simba Star Media

 � Smug (Street Artist)

 � No Oil Paintings

 � Belfast 400: People, Place and 
History by S.J Connolly

 � Rae Sofley

We asked the people of the city to tell us What culture 
means. this is our Belfast chorus. 

It’s a layer of meaning in the bricks and mortar of the city, made by the way we live. It’s our rituals and 
traditions, shared across generations, it’s impact and legacy, the bedrock for how we live. It belongs 
to all of us, it’s anything that’s important, a learnt expression of life, and how society expresses 
itself. It’s banter in a local chippy, an asset that should be shared, not owned. It’s something we all 
create collectively that encompasses everything about us, the identity of the people, all striving 
for beautiful together. It’s a collective way of thinking that we all express uniquely, fragments of 
society all glued together to tell our story. It’s having a vision to motivate change, being proud and 
expressing yourself, turning emotion into action, giving life meaning and making things better. It’s 
who we are and where we’re from, it’s everything that affects us, from the habits of our lives, to the 
way of the world. It doesn’t always work, and sometimes it divides us, but it’s always striving, always 
challenging us to come together. It’s a barometer of where society is at that goes beyond aesthetics, 
a way of thinking that’s both personal and collective. It’s a tone to identify with that creates 
harmonies across the city. It’s in us. It’s in everything we do. 
It’s how we live our lives.

Page 122



51

Page 123



www.belfastcity.gov.uk/culturalstrategy

culture@belfastcity.gov.uk

028 9050 0543

@belfastcc

@belfastcitycouncil

Belfast City Council

Published: September 2019
B

C
C

 0211

Should you require the document in a different 
format please email culture@belfastcity.gov.uk 
with your request.

Page 124



A
 C

ity Im
agining

C
ultural S

trategy 2020-2030 Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



A cIty 
ImaGinIng

Cultural Strategy for 
Belfast 2020 - 2030

Draft 
Implementation 
Plan 2020-2023

Page 127



A City Imagining

2

Contents
Introduction ................................................................. 3

Section 1: A City Imagining - Strategic Priorities ..... 6

A City Belonging ......................................................................  8
A City Challenging ................................................................... 12
A City Creating ......................................................................... 16
A City Exploring ....................................................................... 20

Section 2: Lift Off - Strategic Projects ...................... 24

At Home 2023 ........................................................................... 26
Events and Festivals ............................................................... 30
City of Music ............................................................................. 32

Section 3: Tourism Development ............................... 36

Visitor Experience ................................................................... 37
Destination Hub  ...................................................................... 38
Neighbourhood Tourism  ........................................................ 39
Marketing and Communications .......................................... 41
Skills Development .................................................................. 42

Section 4: A City Connecting - Governance Model... 44

City Compact ............................................................................... 46

Section 5: A City Investing - Investment Model ........ 48

Section 6: Evaluation .................................................. 50

Section 7: Strategic Communications....................... 53

Next Steps .................................................................... 54

Page 128



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

3

Introduction
On 17 April 2019 a public consultation opened on the draft 
ten-year cultural strategy for Belfast, A City Imagining 2020-
2030.

The timing of this work was in response to a number of 
important developments and milestones including:

• End of participation in the European Capital of Culture 
bidding process

• A review of Events and Festivals in the city
• Current Cultural Framework due to end in March 2020
• Current Tourism Strategy due to end in March 2020
• Core multi-annual funding programme for arts and 

heritage organisations due to end in March 2020
• Culture and tourism led regeneration as a key strand in 

the Belfast Region City Deal; including proposals for a 
new visitor attraction, the Destination Hub

The strategy builds on the extensive public engagement 
that began in 2017 and this has continued throughout 
the consultation phase. It is also a consolidation of the 
foundations, commitment and objectives of several 
preceding strategies and frameworks and is the beginning 
of the city’s commitment towards an integrated, culture-
led phase of development with the citizen at the heart of 
this process. As well as consideration of specific priorities 
required to support the Belfast Agenda’s vision for a 
culturally vibrant city, the strategy also addresses a number 
of interrelated areas including:

• Long-term sustainability of the cultural sector
• A new approach to events and festivals
• Strengthening the tourism proposition in the city 

through greater understanding of the city’s cultural 
narrative and international appeal

• Integration of planned major developments, such as the 
Destination Hub, into a citywide approach maximising 
inclusive growth opportunities for this investment

Transformation

The global context for this strategy is the increasing 
recognition that cities of culture can drive transformation. 
Culture has a critical role in shaping great places through 
increasing cohesion and permeability; building identity and 
confidence; attracting investment and retaining talent.

The Belfast Agenda identifies five outcomes for the city:

• Everyone in Belfast benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

• Belfast is a welcoming, safe, fair and inclusive city for all
• Everyone in Belfast fulfils their potential
• Everyone in Belfast experiences good health and 

wellbeing
• Belfast is a vibrant, attractive, connected and 

environmentally sustainable city

This cultural strategy has the potential to make a 
contribution to each of these outcomes as well as 
responding to and supporting other priority areas such as 
the Local Development Plan, City Centre Regeneration and 
Investment Strategy, Good Relations Strategy, Open Spaces 
Strategy and Resilience Strategy. 

We recognise that A City Imagining is ambitious and we 
have not underestimated the challenges of delivering this 
strategy in uncertain times and in the context of ongoing 
public funding cuts. However the extensive engagement 
carried out has revealed hope and aspiration for the future. 
Critical to its success will be the ability of Council and 
partners to deliver on phase one of implementation as set 
out in this document. 

Two external bodies of work have shaped the proposed 
approach and each of these demonstrate the importance 
of culture in addressing our most complex social and 
economic challenges. The first is Agenda 21 for Culture, 
an international methodology that supports cultural 
development in cities and regions. The focus of Culture 21 
is to embed culture as the fourth dimension of sustainable 
cities alongside existing economic, social and ecological 
pillars. Belfast will participate in the Culture 21 pilot cities 
programme and this will provide important support 
for the implementation of the cultural strategy - www.
agenda21culture.net

The second set of recommendations that have helped 
inform this strategy, and the associated implementation 
plans, is the Cultural Enquiry by the Core Cities network - 
www.corecities.com/cultural-cities-enquiry. This enquiry 
presents a number of practical recommendations on 
investment and governance of culture in cities, centred on 
a collaborative model that complements the community 
planning process and helps identify shared priorities for 
culture in cities. 

Page 129



A City Imagining

4

• A City Belonging   – Priorities 1-4
• A City Challenging – Priorities 5-8
• A City Creating      – Priorities 9-12
• A City Exploring    – Priorities 13-16

• Investment Model
• Governance Model

• Events and Festivals
• 2023 – Yearlong programme
• UNESCO City of Music
• Tourism including neighbourhood

Implementation

From the outset we have recognised the need for a long-
term commitment through a ten year strategy. However this 
approach must be supported by shorter implementation 
phases that can support the overall vision while responding 
to constantly changing local and global environments. The 
first implementation phase will be 2020 -2023 and this 
document sets out the actions to be delivered during this 
period. 

The following areas are covered in this document and will be 
closely monitored and updated on annual basis: 

• Implementation plans to support the 16 strategic 
priorities set out in A City Imagining

• Operational plan to support a new governance and 
investment model

• Action plans to support specific strategic projects or 
areas of focus such as UNESCO City of Music and At 
Home in 2023 

• Proposed approach to communications and evaluation

Page 130



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

5

Page 131



A City Imagining

6

A City Imagining sets out four strategic themes with each theme presenting a number of 
priorities. These themes and priorities have been informed and shaped by the engagement 
process that underpinned the development of the strategy. 

A City Imagining - Strategic Priorities

Theme 1: A City Belonging 

Open our doors and celebrate our diverse lifestyles, 
traditions and attitudes.

The focus of this theme is the role of the individual. 
When we explore notions of active citizenship 
and participation this is in the context of being 
an inclusive city recognising the role of many 
people in civic society. Therefore active citizenship 
and participation should include residents, non-
residents and visitors. 

Active citizenship and participation 

The strategy defines cultural belonging as an 
individual’s feelings in relation to their sense of 
identity, their relationship to other people around 
them and their sense of place. Agenda 21 for 
Culture states that cultural rights guarantee the 
ability of everyone to identify with one or several 
cultural communities and to adapt this choice 
throughout their life. The exercise of cultural rights 
is essential for the development of a sustainable 
city however central to this must be respect and 
increased understanding for other people’s cultural 
expression. We believe that arts and creative 
practices can foster the confidence to imagine 
diverse senses of belonging in Belfast.

The priorities under this theme support citizens 
to be active agents of change and co-creators of 
cultural activity. The actions under each priority are 
designed to create opportunities for participation 
and engagement in the cultural life of the city. 

Theme 2: A City Challenging

Make Belfast a city where you feel at home and can 
express yourself culturally.

The focus of this theme is how cultural and public 
space should support and strengthen diversity in 
the city helping to create opportunities for shared 
experiences. A City Challenging recognises the 
importance of the connection between cultural 
identity and sense of place.

Diversity

Globalisation and migration have increased 
diversity in cities across the world. Different 
dimensions of diversity intersect in multiple ways 
between individuals and communities. One of 
the city’s challenges is to foster the necessary 
conditions whereby Belfast’s open spaces and 
cultural venues offer opportunities for diverse 
encounters across and beyond different cultures, 
lifestyles and attitudes.

The priorities under this theme aspire to cultivate 
creative environments for dynamic co-creation 
and synergy in our approach to place-making and 
city life. The actions under each priority contribute 
to increasing the sustainability and quality of 
the city’s urban environment through exploring 
the relationship between infrastructure and 
programming. 

Section 1

Page 132



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

7

A City Imagining - Strategic Priorities

Theme 3: A City Creating

Allowing creativity to push boundaries. 

The focus of this theme is how we can better 
support our cultural sectors and in doing so 
strengthen the role of innovation and creativity in 
our society. The balance that must be achieved is 
allowing existing organisations to adapt to change 
whilst also creating the space for new cultural 
leaders. 

New approaches

A culturally vibrant city must take risks. The 
citizens of Belfast have indicated that they are 
ready to challenge traditional mind-sets and take 
a culture-led leap into the future. Cultural, arts 
and heritage organisations have a key role to play 
as creative leaders, innovators and challengers. 
However, cultural vibrancy can only be achieved 
when there is also stability and sustainability for 
the wider cultural sector. 

The priorities under this theme will facilitate and 
explore new ways of working, taking more risks 
and helping artists to have more autonomy to 
engage with people in creative ways. The actions 
under each priority are intended to achieve greater 
stability and create the environment that enables 
greater innovation and experimentation. 

Theme 4: A City Exploring

Strengthen our place in the world by building upon 
our cultural networks and partnerships locally, 
regionally and internationally.

The focus of this theme is Belfast’s relationship to 
the rest of the world. We recognise that this should 
be an exchange of ideas, information and people. A 
connected city welcomes inwards investment and 
visitors whilst also supporting people to make their 
own global connections. 

Our place in the world

The depth and breadth of existing partnerships 
and networks between a range of cultural players 
is already evident. The positive impact of these 
connections has ripple effects across many 
sectors at a city and regional level as well as 
securing Belfast’s place within the global creative 
economy. Belfast will facilitate, support and 
maintain city, regional and international networks 
and collaborative partnerships on a range of 
levels, from the individual to established cultural 
institutions. 

The priorities under this theme will sustain and 
strengthen the city’s cultural ecosystem. The 
actions under each priority will help to make 
the city more connected and vibrant through 
highlighting the role of culture in tourism, 
environmental sustainability and the wider 
economy. 

Page 133



A City Imagining

8

A City Belonging 

1
Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda

Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

1.1 Living Here Establish a 
participative forum 
open to those resident 
or working in Belfast

Internal and 
external partners

Number of people 
involved; breadth of 
representation 

where everyone fulfils their 
potential

1.2, 
5.1

Living Here Develop and deliver a 
co-design model for all 
cultural programmes

Internal and 
external partners 
including public and 
private sectors

No of programmes 
adopting approach; 
qualitative 
feedback

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for all; that is 
vibrant, attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

1.3 Living Here Develop and deliver a 
Cultural Ambassadors 
scheme ensuring 
representation from 
culturally diverse 
backgrounds

Internal and 
external partners 
with recruitment via 
an open call

No of people 
engaged; 
qualitative 
feedback

where everyone fulfils their 
potential

1.4,

2.2

Living Here Commission 
report into cultural 
democracy 
and implement 
recommended 
initiatives

Commissioned 
via competitive 
process with 
requirement for 
public & sector 
engagement

Publication of 
report; progress 
against taking 
recommendation 
forward

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, safe, 
air and inclusive for all;

1.5 Living Here Commission research 
and publish annual 
insights into cultural 
participation 

Internal and 
external partners

Publish report; 
establish baseline 
and monitor both 
quantitative and 
qualitative data

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for all

1.6 Living Here, 
Growing the 
Economy, City 
Development, 
Working & 
Learning

Publish an annual 
report on the impact of 
culture

Internal with 
support from 
external partners 
through sharing of 
data & collection 
of case studies. 
Potential to 
collaborate with 
academic partner

Publish report 
and consider 
longitudinal study 

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for all; that is 
vibrant, attractive, connected 
and environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone experiences good 
health and wellbeing

1.7 Living Here Include culture related 
questions in citywide/
household surveys

Internal and 
external partners

Publish results and 
evaluate over period

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for all; that is 
vibrant, attractive, connected 
and environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone experiences good 
health and wellbeing

1.8 Living Here, 
Growing the 
Economy, City 
Development, 
Working & 
Learning

Co-ordinate an annual 
sector presentation to 
Committee

Cultural sector No of individuals 
and organisations 
involved; breadth of 
representation

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for all; that is 
vibrant, attractive, connected 
and environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone experiences good 
health and wellbeing

Developing a people focussed approach 
to cultural development by facilitating 
citizen and sector participation in setting 
priorities, decision-making and in the 
evaluation of cultural policies.

Overview: In this priority we want people in the city to take the opportunity to 
be involved in setting our priorities and in making decisions on culture policy 
and development. The engagement process that has supported this strategy 
has clearly demonstrated the civic energy that exists in our city and people’s 
desire to feel more connected and valued. 

P
ri

or
it

y

Page 134



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

9

Building creative capacity of our citizens 
and cultural sector to allow people to 
express their own cultural identities and 
respect and learn about other cultures.  

Overview: In this priority we want people to have the confidence and 
opportunity to express themselves and their identity through culture and 
creativity. The public consultation revealed that an important dimension 
to this should be the opportunity to share experiences through learning 
about, and respecting the cultural diversity of, our city and beyond. 

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

2.1 Living Here, 
Working & 
Learning

Deliver eight 3-year (Y)our 
Home Projects to include 
projects led by and working 
with LGBTQ++ groups, new 
communities, disabled 
people, older people, 
schools and multi-lingual 
communities

Cultural sector, individual 
practitioners, voluntary 
sector

No. of participants, 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair 
and inclusive for all

2.2, 
1.4

Living Here Support local 
neighbourhoods to deliver 
Fun Palaces or similar 
cultural democracy 
initiatives

Local community 
partners, voluntary 
sector, cultural 
organisations

No. of events 
delivered; breadth 
of engagement; 
qualitative feedback

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that 
is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for 
all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected 
and environmentally 
sustainable

2.3, 
3.3

Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Design and deliver Telling 
the Belfast Story public 
engagement programme

Cultural sector; heritage 
partners, public 
authorities, private sector

No. of participants; 
breadth of 
engagement and 
representation; 
qualitative feedback

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair 
and inclusive for all

2.4 Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Develop a co-design 
and civic participation 
approach to the delivery 
of City Events

Internal and external 
partners

No. of events 
delivered; breadth 
of engagement; 
qualitative feedback

that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive 
for all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected 
and environmentally 
sustainable

2.5 Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Increase the involvement 
of the cultural sector in 
the delivery of City Events

Cultural sector No. of cultural 
partners; qualitative 
feedback

that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive 
for all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected 
and environmentally 
sustainable; where 
everyone benefits 
from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

2.6 Living Here Complete cultural 
mapping of Belfast

Commissioned via 
competitive process or 
Internal with support 
from external partners.

Presentation of data where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair 
and inclusive for all

2.7 Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Develop and support a 
volunteer programme 
based on best practice 
models

Cultural sector; voluntary 
sector

No. of volunteers; 
qualitative feedback

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair 
and inclusive for all

2.8 Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Deliver tailored initiative 
to foster creativity in 
young people e.g. roll out 
of Artpack

Cultural sector; education 
sector; children and 
young people sector

No. of young people; 
qualitative feedback

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair 
and inclusive for all

2
A City Belonging 

P
ri

or
it

y

Page 135



A City Imagining

10

3
Protecting, promoting and using cultural 
heritage in all its dimensions, both tangible 
and intangible, including the plurality of 
the city’s cultural narratives.

Overview: In this priority we want to create environments where people can 
tell their stories and discover the stories yet to be uncovered. In doing so we 
celebrate the richness of our city’s past, present and future. An important 
part of this should be developing skills and creating the spaces to tell these 
stories. This requires a partnership approach to heritage development 
recognising opportunities to increase access to the city’s diverse heritage.

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda

Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

3.1, 
5.2

Living 
Here, City 
Development

Develop a heritage plan 
for the city with cross-
cutting actions

Internal 
departments; 
public authorities, 
cultural (heritage) 
sector, private 
sector

Publish plan with agreed 
targets

that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected 
and environmentally 
sustainable; where 
everyone benefits from a 
thriving and prosperous 
economy

3.2 Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Deliver a heritage 
skills development 
programme

Heritage sector 
and community & 
voluntary sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all

3.3. 
2.3

Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Deliver a co-created 
and co-designed 
heritage programme to 
tell the story of people 
and places

Heritage sector 
and community & 
voluntary sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all

3.4 Living 
Here, City 
Development

Create shared 
spaces and connect 
people to buildings 
by strengthening 
and sustaining 
partnerships between 
the community and 
heritage sectors

Heritage sector 
and community & 
voluntary sector

No. of partnerships; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that 
is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for 
all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected 
and environmentally 
sustainable

3.5 Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Deliver access to 
artefacts programme

Heritage sector 
and community & 
voluntary sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all

3.6 Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Deliver a co-created 
and co-designed 
programme focussed 
the diversity of 
language in the city, 
telling the story of 
people and places 
through language

Heritage sector 
and community & 
voluntary sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils 
their potential; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all

A City Belonging 
P

ri
or

it
y

Page 136



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

11

Enabling a sense of belonging and sense of 
place through cultural engagement to help 
encourage a strong civic identity that people 
can share and celebrate.

Overview: In this priority we want to support people to participate in 
cultural life and to create a sense of belonging within the places and 
spaces of our city. We recognise that there continue to be barriers to 
participation, often brought about by societal inequalities; while some 
of these are well understood and researched, others are the result of a 
rapidly changing society. 

A City Belonging 

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

4.1 Living Here Support a minimum 
of five artist-
in-residence 
programmes across 
Belfast

Cultural sector; 
individual artists; 
community and 
voluntary sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for 
all; that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable

4.2 Living Here, City 
Development

Complete feasibility 
on Playstacks - an 
engagement led 
approach to the 
design of creative 
and cultural space in 
local communities

Queen’s 
University 
Belfast, Voluntary 
Arts Ireland, 
Private sector 
partners

Evaluation of pilot; roll 
out of programme; 
quantitative and 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

that is welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

4.3 Living Here, City 
Development

Deliver a series of 
design pavilions 
in the city centre, 
communities and 
neighbourhoods in 
the lead up to 2023

Cultural sector; 
creative 
industries; 
private sector 
partners; 
community and 
voluntary sector

No. of pavilions; no. of 
creative partners; no. of 
community partners; 
no. of participants; 
qualitative feedback

that is welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

4.4 Living Here, City 
Development

Develop and 
implement a Public 
Art Policy

Arts Council of 
Northern Ireland, 
Department for 
Communities 

Publish report including 
engagement led 
approach (quantitative 
and qualitative 
feedback)

that is welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

4.5 Living Here, City 
Development

Further develop a 
City as a Gallery 
or Art in the Public 
Realm Initiative 
including scoping 
international 
collaboration

Local and 
international 
partners from 
public and 
private sector

No. of partners; 
quantitative and 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

that is welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

4
A City Belonging 

P
ri

or
it

y

Page 137



A City Imagining

12

5
Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda

Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

5.1 City 
Development, 
Living Here 

Deliver cultural place-
making programme in 
minimum of 6 locations 

Cultural sector; 
individual 
artists; heritage 
practitioners; 
community and 
voluntary sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative 
feedback against 
programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for all; that is 
vibrant, attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

5.2, 
3.1

City 
Development, 
Living Here 

Develop a heritage plan 
for the city with cross-
cutting actions

Internal 
departments; 
public authorities, 
cultural (heritage) 
sector, private 
sector

Publish plan with 
agreed targets

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

5.3 City 
Development, 
Living Here

Publish character and 
style studies

Internal 
departments; 
public authorities, 
cultural (heritage) 
sector, private 
sector

Publish report 
including 
engagement 
led approach 
(quantitative and 
qualitative)

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

5.4 City 
Development, 
Living Here

Develop and implement 
design guidelines 
for city lighting and 
dressing through civic 
engagement and co-
design approaches

Internal 
departments; 
public authorities, 
cultural &heritage 
sectors, private 
sector

Publish report 
including 
engagement 
led approach 
(quantitative 
and qualitative 
feedback)

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

5.5, 
8.3

City 
Development, 
Living Here

Deliver playful city 
initiative to improve the 
quality, accessibility 
and openness of public 
spaces

Internal 
departments; 
public authorities, 
cultural & heritage 
sectors, private 
sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative 
feedback against 
programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, safe, 
fair and inclusive for all; that is 
vibrant, attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

Embedding cultural impact in city 
development and local place-making.

Overview: In this priority we want to recognise the role of people in place-
making and how they shape spaces into places that reflect our creativity 
and character. This can be achieved by promoting and sharing best practice. 
In particular there is an opportunity to demonstrate leadership through our 
commitment to engagement led design.

A cIty 
cHalLenGinG

A City Challenging 
P

ri
or

it
y

Page 138



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

13

Investing in connected, resilient and 
sustainable infrastructure of quality cultural 
spaces across the city. This will also include 
digital spaces.

Overview: In this priority we recognise the importance of creating 
spaces that help support a more sustainable and connected city 
where people feel they can express who they are. This must achieve 
a balance between increased interaction through digital spaces and 
infrastructure and more traditional forms of social engagement. 

Alignment 
to the 
Belfast 
Agenda Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

6.1 Living Here, 
Growing the 
Economy

Complete feasibility study 
into ticketing platform for the 
city including options for civic 
and visitor passes. Implement 
recommendations 

Department for 
Communities, Arts 
Council of Northern 
Ireland, Tourism NI, 
Visit Belfast 

Publish report and 
produce business 
case for further 
investment in any 
recommendations

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

6.2 Living Here Support local neighbourhoods 
to deliver Fun Palaces or similar 
cultural democracy initiatives

Local community 
partners, voluntary 
sector, cultural 
organisations

No. of events 
delivered; breadth 
of engagement; 
qualitative 
feedback

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for 
all; that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable

6.3 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy

Investing in digital platforms for 
culture in the city and region

Internal partners, 
Department for 
Communities, Arts 
Council of Northern 
Ireland, Tourism NI, 
Visit Belfast 

Publish data that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

6.4 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy

Examine the potential to 
safeguard infrastructure through 
new social financing models and 
partnerships to support cultural 
organisations to purchase 
premises or increase security of 
lease agreements

Trusts and 
Foundations, 
Voluntary Sector

Financial health 
of organisations 
supported; 
contribution to 
local economy

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

6.5 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy

Design multi-annual grant model 
to effectively support and anchor 
existing cultural infrastructure

Other funding 
bodies

No. of orgs 
supported, 
monitoring grants, 
programme 
evaluation

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

6.6 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy

Commission an audit of cultural 
infrastructure including a gap 
analysis in order to inform future 
investment

Department for 
Communities, Arts 
Council of Northern 
Ireland

Publish report that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

6.7 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy

Commission review of current 
licensing on the impact of 
cultural vibrancy including the 
night-time economy

Private sector, 
hospitality sector, 
industry bodies

Data relating 
to potential 
contribution to 
local economy

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

6.8 Living Here, 
Growing the 
Economy

Complete an accessibility audit 
of cultural venues to publish 
accurate access information on 
an online platform (potentially 
in partnership with the ticketing 
platform) 

Disability support 
orgs (University 
of Atypical), 
Department for 
Communities, Arts 
Council of Northern 
Ireland, Tourism NI, 
Visit Belfast

Publish report and 
produce business 
case for further 
investment in any 
recommendations

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy

6
A City Challenging 

P
ri

or
it

y

Page 139



A City Imagining

14

7
Supporting high quality cultural events 
and activities that are accessible, diverse 
and inclusive.

Overview: City events have an important role within the wider cultural offer of 
Belfast. Events can tell stories, connect people and present new perspectives 
on our place. In this priority, we recognise the need to increase the diversity 
and inclusivity of our celebrations, festivals and events as research continues 
to indicate that current programming and participation do not effectively 
represent diversity of language, disability or ethnic minorities

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda

Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

7.1 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, 
Living Here 

Design new investment 
programme including 
multi-annual and 
project grants for 
festivals and events 

Other funding 
bodies

No. of organisations 
supported, 
monitoring of 
grants, programme 
evaluation 
(quantitative and 
qualitative)

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

7.2 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, 
Living Here

Develop and review 
direct delivery of 
Council events in line 
with the priorities 
of the strategy 
including but not 
limited to Maritime 
Festival, St Patrick’s 
Day, Halloween and 
Christmas

Internal and 
external partners

No. of events, profile 
of audience, breadth 
of programming, 
return on investment 
(cultural, social and 
economic impact)

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

7.3 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, 
Living Here

Ensure a creative 
programming 
approach to City 
Events that reflects 
and promotes cultural 
diversity

Cultural sector, 
individual 
artists, creative 
practitioners, 
organisations 
representing 
minority ethnic 
groups

No. of events, profile 
of audience, breadth 
of programming

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

7.4 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, 
Living Here

Develop schemes 
to support higher 
participation and 
representation at 
cultural events by 
disabled people. This 
could include specific 
initiatives such as Gig 
Buddies

Cultural sector 
including Black 
Box (pilot), 
disability sector, 
voluntary and 
community sector 

No. of events, profile 
of audience, breadth 
of programming, 
qualitative feedback

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

7.5 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, 
Living Here

Support the delivery of 
events in public spaces 
through streamlining 
advice and developing 
toolkits

Department for 
Communities

No. of events, profile 
of audience, breadth 
of programming, 
qualitative feedback

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

A City Challenging 
P

ri
or

it
y

Page 140



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

15

Transforming underused public spaces 
into vibrant and diverse cultural 
destinations 

Overview: This priority focuses on how creativity can help bring our 
streets, parks and public spaces to life. This requires more effective 
working across Council services as well as further developing city-
wide partnerships. These actions support a number of cross-cutting 
initiatives that encourage better use of existing spaces and a more 
innovative approach to new infrastructure

48
A City Challenging 

P
ri

or
it

y

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

8.1 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, Living 
Here

Deliver a lighting and 
dressing strategy 
for the city through 
an engagement and 
design led approach

Public and 
private sector 
including 
Department for 
Communities, 
Department for 
Infrastructure, 
BIDs, heritage 
sector

Quantitative and 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes e.g. footfall, 
change in perceptions

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

8.2 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, Living 
Here

Pilot rooftop 
initiatives to 
increase cultural 
and green space in 
the city including 
scoping potential for 
partnership project 
with other European/ 
international cities

Internal and 
external partners 
including public 
and private 
sector

No. of buildings, 
quantitative and 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

8.3, 
5.5

City 
Development , 
Living Here

Deliver playful 
city initiative to 
improve the quality, 
accessibility and 
openness of public 
spaces

Internal 
departments; 
public 
authorities, 
cultural including 
heritage sector, 
private sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive 
for all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

8.4 City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, Living 
Here

Commission proof 
of concept for a 
brokering service 
to transform empty 
or vacant spaces 
into cultural and 
civic use through 
one pilot in the city 
centre and one pilot 
in a neighbourhood. 
Implement 
recommendations as 
appropriate

Cultural partners, 
private sector 
including existing 
proposal from 
Voluntary Arts 
Ireland

No. of units, no. of 
partner organisations, 
no. of participants; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

Page 141



A City Imagining

16

9
Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda

Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

9.1 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning 

Design investment 
programme to 
support established 
organisations to 
adapt to change 
and to support new 
organisations and 
practitioners to take 
longer term risks 
in programming or 
creative development

Other funding 
bodies, resource 
organisations and 
cultural partners

No. of organisations 
supported, 
monitoring and 
evaluation of grants 
against impact 
model

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

9.2 Growing the 
Economy, City 
Development

Involve cultural sector 
in the promotion and 
positioning of the city

Internal and 
external partners 
including cultural 
organisations 
and individual 
practitioners

No. of cultural 
organisations 
& practitioners 
involved in cross-
sector initiatives

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

9.3 Growing the 
Economy, City 
Development, 
Living Here 

Involve creative and 
cultural practitioners in 
service design across 
Council

Internal and 
external partners 
including cultural 
organisations 
and individual 
practitioners

No. of cultural 
organisations 
& practitioners 
involved in cross-
sector initiatives

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy; that is 
welcoming, safe, fair and inclusive 
for all

9.4 Growing the 
Economy, City 
Development

Provide tailored and 
city-level support in 
audience development, 
marketing and 
communications

Cultural partners, 
private sector, Visit 
Belfast, thrive

No. of organisations 
supported, 
marketing, 
communications 
and audience data 
(quantitative and 
qualitative)

where everyone benefits from a 
thriving and prosperous economy; 
that is welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all

9.5 Growing the 
Economy, City 
Development

Invest in media 
monitoring for Belfast’s 
culture, arts and 
heritage

Contract in place 
via competitive 
process

Publish report, 
measure variances 
and change over 
period

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and environmentally 
sustainable; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

Increasing the autonomy of the creative 
sector to explore and shape the city’s 
evolving, rich and multiple cultural 
narratives.

Overview: In this priority we acknowledge and support the role of creativity 
in shaping our city’s future. This will require a new approach to investment 
that supports both longer term development and experimentation. Equally 
important is ensuring that our creativity and culture is reflected in wider city 
positioning by increasing the visibility, value and profile of our creative and 
cultural sectors. 

A City Creating 
P

ri
or

it
y

Page 142



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

17

Supporting cultural excellence, cultural 
planning and cultural entrepreneurialism 
by providing support for artistic innovation 
and improved networking.

Overview: This priority is about creating an environment that brings 
forward ideas that spark imagination and innovation and enables 
these ideas to flourish. An important dimension of this is to facilitate 
greater connectivity by supporting a more open and diverse cultural 
sector. This can be achieved by recognising the importance of 
investing in initiatives that actively promote collaboration. 

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

10.1 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning 

Establish a transnational 
working programme 
to build capacity in 
developing cross-sector 
and cross-border cultural 
co-productions and 
collaborations

Arts Council of 
Northern Ireland, 
British Council 

No. of projects 
supported; 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
feedback against 
programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

10.2 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Support innovative 
and interdisciplinary 
research and practice in 
contemporary arts

Universities Publish research 
and use insights to 
inform programme 
design

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

10.3 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Support employability 
skills and capacity building 
programmes for disabled 
artists and those from 
minority ethnic groups

Cultural partners, 
disability support 
organisations, 
migrant support 
organisations, Arts 
Council of Northern 
Ireland

Publish research 
and use insights to 
inform programme 
design

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy; that 
is welcoming, safe, fair and 
inclusive for all

10.4, 
11.4

Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Design new investment 
model to support long-
term development and 
innovation

Other funding 
bodies

No. of projects 
supported; 
monitoring and 
evaluation of 
grants against 
impact model

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

10
A City Creating 

P
ri

or
it

y

Page 143



A City Imagining

18

11
Investing in a stronger and more 
sustainable cultural sector by supporting 
established and new creative practitioners 
to work beyond boundaries. This will 
create the environment where risks can be 
taken across a broader range of activities, 
sectors and disciplines.

Overview: The cultural and creative sectors are some of the most effective 
ambassadors of this city. In part, this is about having the necessary 
confidence to let new ideas take hold and giving space to those who want to 
take creative risks. Cultural vibrancy is a key dimension in quality of life. This 
is important for our citizens but also for ensuring we continue to increase 
investment in our city.

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda

Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

11.1 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Deliver training, 
educational and 
professional 
development 
programmes for 
practitioners at all 
stages of their careers

Universities, 
Arts Council 
of Northern 
Ireland, resource 
organisations, 
cultural partners

No. of practitioners 
supported; 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
feedback against 
programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

11.2 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Deliver new support 
programme to 
showcase (inward and 
outward) Belfast’s arts 
and heritage product 
through local, national 
and international 
opportunities

Arts Council of 
Northern Ireland, 
British Council, 
cultural partners, 
international 
partners

No. of local, national 
and international 
partnerships 
supported; 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
feedback against 
programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

11.3 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Establish co-working 
spaces, that are 
accessible and 
inclusive, to further 
enable collaborative 
and cross-sector 
working and encourage 
multi-disciplinary, 
inter-cultural 
and multi-lingual 
partnerships

Cultural partners, 
creative industries, 
private sector

No. of cross-sector 
partnerships 
supported; 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
feedback against 
programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

11.4, 
10.3

Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Design an investment 
programme that 
supports opportunities 
for research and 
development 
and longer term 
experimental projects

Other funding 
bodies

No. of projects 
supported; 
monitoring and 
evaluation of grants 
against impact 
model

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

A City Creating 
P

ri
or

it
y

A City Creating 
P

ri
or

it
y

Page 144



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

19

Empowering the innovative capacity of the 
creative economy to connect technology 
and society. 

Overview: The potential of our cultural and creative sectors is not 
currently matched by their capacity to fully embrace the digital 
world. However, creativity should be one of the most effective ways of 
strengthening the links between society and technology. This priority 
focuses on increasing the professional skills of the sector as well 
as exploring innovative approaches in supporting young people to 
discover their creative potential. 

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

12.1 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Increase the digital 
capacity of the 
sector by improving 
skills and creating 
opportunities for 
virtual collaboration, 
networking and new 
user experiences

Cultural partners, 
creative 
industries

Publish report including 
case studies and toolkit

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

12.2 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Facilitate learning 
connections 
between enterprise, 
micro-enterprise and 
culture

Cultural partners, 
creative 
industries, 
private sector

No. of connections, 
qualitative feedback, 
publication of case 
studies 

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

12.3 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Develop a Continuing 
Professional 
Development 
programme for 
teachers that equips 
them with the 
knowledge and skills 
to become creators-
in-residence within 
their own schools

Cultural partners, 
education sector

No. of teachers 
participating, qualitative 
feedback of programme

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

12.4 Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Support innovation 
and development 
in technological 
interventions that 
address the barriers 
of language and 
accessibility in 
cultural participation 
ie – automated/ 
mobile audio 
description of 
events/exhibitions

BCC Equality 
and Language 
Team, cultural 
partners, creative 
industries

Production of prototype 
and pilot schemes, 
qualitative feedback of 
programmes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy

12
A City Creating 

P
ri

or
it

y
A City Creating 

P
ri

or
it

y

Page 145



A City Imagining

20

13

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda

Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

13.1 Working and 
Learning, 
Growing the 
Economy

Support participation 
in relevant cultural 
networks including but 
not limited to IETM, 
Eurocities, Culture 21

Cultural partners, 
international 
partners, Arts 
Council of Northern 
Ireland, British 
Council

No. of individuals 
and organisations 
supported; no. 
of connections; 
no. of long-term 
collaborations

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

13.2 Working and 
Learning, 
Growing the 
Economy

Deliver a collaborative 
project as part of 
Galway 2020

Galway 
2020, Belfast 
International Arts 
Festival, Sister 
Cities, Cultural 
partners

Quantitative 
and qualitative 
feedback relating 
to return on 
investment 
including bed 
nights & PR 
generated

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

13.3 Working and 
Learning, 
Growing the 
Economy

Build a network 
of practitioners, 
scholars, and various 
cultural institutions 
across Europe and 
internationally

Cultural partners 
including 
international 
partners

Repeat audit 
commissioned as 
part of 2023 bid 
preparation and 
publish findings; 
no. of connections; 
impact of 
connections 

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

13.4, 
11.2

Growing the 
Economy, 
Working and 
Learning

Deliver new support 
programme to 
showcase (inward and 
outward) Belfast’s arts 
and heritage product 
through local, national 
and international 
opportunities

Arts Council of 
Northern Ireland, 
British Council, 
cultural partners, 
international 
partners

No. of local, national 
and international 
partnerships 
supported; 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
feedback against 
programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

Strengthening our city, regional and 
international cultural networks.

Overview: In this priority we want to connect our city to the world around us. 
We will do this by increasing opportunities for the creative and cultural sector 
and the people of the city to participate in local, regional and international 
networks. Where we have previously facilitated networking the results have 
strengthened our local sector and helped to build relationships. 

A City Exploring 
P

ri
or

it
y

A City Exploring 
P

ri
or

it
y

Page 146



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

21

Growing our sustainable cultural tourism 
product through a creative approach 
that respects the city’s heritage and 
communities. 

Overview: Research reinforces the importance of cultural vibrancy 
for a thriving visitor experience. This priority will support initiatives 
that immerse visitors in our authentic Belfast experience. Actions 
to be taken forward will support a more integrated tourism offer that 
recognises the need for investment in major infrastructure alongside 
the importance of local and cultural development. 

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

14.1 Working and 
Learning, 
Growing the 
Economy

Develop cultural tourism 
through building capacity 
and opportunity for citizen 
& culture led approaches to 
tourism development and 
infrastructure

Visitor-facing 
neighbourhood 
tourism agencies; 
cultural sector

No. of partnerships; 
no. of products; 
market testing; 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
feedback

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits 
from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

14.2 Working and 
Learning, 
Growing the 
Economy, 
Living Here

Develop a visitor 
experience plan for the city 
including neighbourhood 
tourism framework

Tourism NI, 
attraction 
managers and 
visitor-facing 
businesses, 
heritage sector 

No. of partnerships; 
no. of products; 
market testing; 
qualitative and 
quantitative 
feedback

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits 
from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

14.3, 
5.1

City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, 
Living Here 

Deliver cultural place-
making programme in 
minimum of 6 locations 

Cultural sector; 
individual 
artists; heritage 
practitioners; 
community and 
voluntary sector

No. of participants; 
qualitative 
feedback against 
programme 
outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive 
for all; that is vibrant, 
attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable

14.4, 
2.3, 
3.3

Living Here, 
Working and 
Learning

Design and deliver Telling 
the Belfast Story public 
engagement programme

Cultural sector; 
heritage partners, 
public authorities, 
private sector

No. of participants; 
breadth of 
engagement and 
representation; 
qualitative 
feedback

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

14
A City Exploring 

P
ri

or
it

y
A City Exploring 

P
ri

or
it

y

Page 147



A City Imagining

22

15
Encouraging environmental responsibility 
and resilience by understanding and 
adapting cultural behaviours.

Overview: This priority focuses on the need to take responsibility for our 
environment and the role of culture in changing behaviours. Some of 
these actions will support our cultural sector to be proactive in making 
organisational change. Other initiatives support creative approaches that will 
encourage our citizens to lead our city’s response to sustainability. 

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda

Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

15.1 City 
Development, 
Living Here

Develop a Green Policy’ 
for festivals in Belfast

Festival and 
Events sector, 
Belfast Festivals 
Forum

No. of organisations 
adopting policy; 
impact of policy 
through qualitative 
and quantitative 
feedback e.g. 
reduction in use of 
plastics

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable

15.2 City 
Development, 
Living Here

Introduce criteria on 
green credentials as 
part of multi-annual 
and project grants

Cultural partners Establish baseline, 
monitor variance 
and progress against 
agreed targets

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable

15.3, 
8.2

City 
Development, 
Growing the 
Economy, 
Living Here

Pilot rooftop initiatives 
to increase cultural 
and green space in 
the city including 
scoping potential for 
partnership project 
with other European/ 
international cities

Internal and 
external partners 
including public 
and private sector

No. of buildings, 
quantitative and 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

15.4 City 
Development, 
Living Here

Support 
environmentally 
focussed cultural 
projects through 
specific ‘experiment’ 
project funding

Cultural partners No. of projects 
supported; 
qualitative feedback 
against programme 
outcomes

that is vibrant, attractive, 
connected and 
environmentally sustainable; 
where everyone benefits from 
a thriving and prosperous 
economy; that is welcoming, 
safe, fair and inclusive for all

A City Exploring 
P

ri
or

it
y

Page 148



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

23

Increasing the contribution of both public 
and private cultural sectors to inclusive 
economic growth. 

Overview: Culture plays an important part in achieving our goal to be 
a more inclusive city. Cultural engagement supports active citizenship 
and this in turn increases the likelihood of people being in the position 
to take up the opportunities presented by an inclusive growth 
economic agenda. The cultural strategy also presents the scope for 
greater collaboration between the public and private sector. 

Alignment to 
the Belfast 
Agenda Action Key partners Measures Outcomes: A city…

16.1 Working and 
Learning, 
Growing the 
Economy

Support 
cross-sectoral 
entrepreneurial 
opportunities in the 
supply chain in areas 
such as production, 
design and product 
evaluation through a 
new creative start up 
programme 

Cultural sector, 
creative 
industries, 
private sector

No. of businesses 
supported; qualitative 
and quantitative 
feedback against 
programme outcomes

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

16.2 Working and 
Learning, 
Growing the 
Economy

Facilitating business 
engagement to 
embed creativity and 
innovation meeting 
business objectives 
across sectors

Cultural sector, 
creative 
industries, 
private sector

This will include pilot 
projects, networking, 
case studies and a skills 
bank to match and 
exchange creative and 
business expertise

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

16.3 Working and 
Learning, 
Growing the 
Economy

Leverage investment 
from the private 
sector through 
long-term resourcing 
of partnership 
development

Internal resource; 
Arts and 
Business NI

Levels of private sector 
investment; no. of 
sustained partnerships; 
qualitative feedback 
and case studies

where everyone fulfils their 
potential; where everyone 
benefits from a thriving and 
prosperous economy

16
A City Exploring 

P
ri

or
it

y

Page 149



A City Imagining

24

A City Imagining supports a culture-led vision for development in Belfast. The strategy 
identifies a number of important strategic projects that will be key to delivering this 
transformation. At Home in 2023, a new landmark Destination Hub for visitors and a 
commitment to support UNESCO City of Music status for the city - are all pivotal to Belfast’s 
evolution as a cultural destination. The strategy also presents the city’s first visioning 
narrative for tourism and four key themes which have been drawn from this narrative. This 
piece has been co-designed through stakeholder workshops and will be the cornerstone of 
continuing to develop the visitor experience. 

Lift Off - Strategic Projects 
Section 2

It’s important that Belfast feels ownership of this narrative 
and themes if we are to bring to maturation the city’s 
potential as a unique, urban cultural destination which is 
underpinned by a place-making agenda. The opportunities 
to make the ‘Belfast welcome’ and experience truly stand 
out locally, nationally and internationally will only be 
compelling if we are all on board for the journey.

This section sets out an overall approach and series of 
actions associated with each of the strategic projects 
presented in the strategy. These projects require long-
term commitments. The success of each one of them is 
dependent on building and sustaining partnerships and 
creating the space to allow them to evolve over time. 

At Home in 2023

This will be a yearlong celebration of culture in the city. 
From 2020 onwards we will work collectively to build 
the resources and capacity to deliver on this ambitious 
programme.

City of Music 

Working with partners from across the city and beyond 
bidding for the designation of UNESCO City of Music 
signals a renewed commitment to music in Belfast.

Events and Festivals 

Events and Festivals are an important part of a culturally 
vibrant city helping to express diversity and connect 
locals to visitors. Our approach is to support homegrown 
authentic Belfast experiences. 

Destination Hub

The public consultation on the strategy endorsed plans 
for a new Destination Hub in the city centre comprising 
the Belfast Story visitor experience. However feedback 
highlighted the need to ensure that these stories are 
driven and shaped by the people of the city. 

Tourism Development

Belfast has enjoyed significant growth in the visitor 
economy in recent years however there is still much 
work to be done. We have identified a number of priority 
strands to support this ongoing development. 

Page 150



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

25

Page 151



A City Imagining

26

At Home in 2023 
Throughout the development of the cultural strategy, A City 
Imagining, the engagement and consultation process has 
revealed high levels of support for 2023 being designated 
as a year of culture. There has been recognition that in 
order to maintain civic momentum, secure buy-in from city 
partners and build the capacity of our cultural sector then 
a well-considered and planned for programme of the scale 
and ambition for 2023 is critical. Any concerns over funding 
have been alleviated with the understanding that At Home 
in 2023 will help build a competing case for investment 
and can help broker a new relationship between the public 
and private sector. It is also an experiment that follows 
the success of other cities that have demonstrated that 
home-grown authentic cultural product can have significant 
international appeal. 

The development of the European Capital of Culture bid in 
2017 demonstrated the richness of our cultural offer and 
the creative potential of our city that could be realised 
if we created the environment where ambition is to be 
encouraged and rewarded. The programme for At Home in 
2023 will build on the work undertaken as part of the bid 
process. Selection of projects will be transparent and will 
follow an agreed process. 

Programme development will begin in 2020 to ensure that 
cultural content, management and deliverability are fully 
supported. Projects will be chosen based on the following 
set of criteria. Each project will be assessed against the 
proposed contribution it will make to the 2023 year as 
well as the priorities set out in the cultural strategy, A City 
Imagining. 

The two main criteria respond to the concept and artistic 
vision:

1. Substantial contribution towards examining cultural 
belonging with a focus on public space

2. International dimension

A combination of the following criteria will also be applied:

3. Artistic or cultural excellence

4. Citizen involvement through development, 
participation, co-creation and co-production

5. Respect towards traditional resources and heritage in 
combination with contemporary practice

For the programme, we will also prioritise projects that 
demonstrate elements such as:

6. Sustainability and legacy in concrete terms

7. New quality and innovation

8. Multicultural dialogue

In regards to other support programmes, such as 
capacity building and education, we will expect all 
projects to include:

9. Track record of the project partners 

10. Potential of the project to leverage additional resources

11. Time and space considerations including multi-annual 
approaches 

In terms of programme management, we plan to deliver 
four categories of projects, each with different levels of 
financial, production and marketing support. 

All projects are expected to have a strong partnership 
dimensions however the main categories are planned as 
follows:

a) In-house produced projects led by Belfast City Council 

b) Co-produced or commissioned projects with substantial 
support from Belfast City Council

c) Grant scheme supported projects that meet the above 
criteria and will be awarded a grant through an open and 
competitive scheme

d) Communicated projects with marketing support. Projects 
will be expected to meet the above criteria and will be 
branded as part of our 2023 programme, however are largely 
small enhancements to existing annual projects

Page 152



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

27

A programme of this scale will need a dedicated delivery team as well effective partnership working. Initial financial projections 
have been prepared and are included in the overall financial considerations for 2020-2023 strategic implementation phase. A 
full resource and funding strategy will be developed in 2020. 

At Home in 2023 Actions
Strand 1: Governance and Delivery structures

1.1 Establish a multi-stakeholder project board as part of the overall City Compact

1.2 Recruit project team

Strand 2: Investment

2.1 Develop financing plan including commercial strategies 

2.2 Maximise the alignment between existing funding programmes and the delivery of 2023

Strand 3: Capacity building and support

3.1 Map out the connections between programme delivery in 2023 and long-term priorities set out in the cultural strategy, A 
City Imagining 

3.2 Map out and plan partnership opportunities for delivery of Language-based projects in 2023 in line with Council’s 
Language Strategy objectives

3.3 Deliver multi-annual support programmes to support the deliverability, management and quality of projects in 2023

Strand 4: Marketing and communications 

4.1 Develop and implement a strategic communications and marketing plan in a timely manner that ensures effective 
positioning in the international market

4.2 Ensure a multi-stakeholder approach working with Visit Belfast, Tourism NI and Tourism Ireland 

Strand 5: Programme development

5.1 Develop programme from 2020 onwards in line with agreed criteria and the following categories:

In-house produced projects

Co-produced or commissioned projects 

Grant scheme supported projects that meet the above criteria and will be awarded a grant through an open and competitive 
scheme

Communicated or enhanced projects

Strand 6: Evaluation

6.1 Commission an independent evaluation of the year with published evaluation criteria. This should include longitudinal 
studies

Page 153



A City Imagining

28

• Crowdsourcing of theme

2020

2019

2021

2017 
& 2018

• Public engagement
• Fundraising campaign
• Programme development
• Recruitment of team

• Commissions
• Open Call
• International partnerships

• Development of cultural strategy

• Volunteering Campaign
• Communications Campaign
• Programme launch

• Celebrate
• Welcome visitors

2023

• 

At Home in 2023 road map

• Crowdsourcing of theme

2020

2019

2021

2017 
& 2018

• Public engagement
• Fundraising campaign
• Programme development
• Recruitment of team

• Commissions
• Open Call
• International partnerships

• Development of cultural strategy

• Volunteering Campaign
• Communications Campaign
• Programme launch

• Celebrate
• Welcome visitors

2023

• 

Page 154



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

29

Page 155



A City Imagining

30

Events and Festivals
In 2018 an independent review of events and festivals 
in Belfast was completed. The purpose of this review 
was to support Council in evolving options and making 
recommendations for the identification, securing, funding 
and delivering of events and festivals in Belfast. The brief 
included:

• A review of current portfolio
 - Consultation with stakeholders, events and festivals
 - Benchmarking how events and festivals are funded and  

 delivered in other cities
 - Consideration of pre and post event impact modelling
 - Consideration of future structures for delivery

The approach to events and festivals set out in the cultural 
strategy, A City Imagining, and in these implementation 
plans is informed by this review. A phased approach to 
introducing a number of recommendations will now be 
taken forward. 

The central recommendation centres on a more effective 
investment model for events and festivals. This includes 
simplifying the complex and fragmented funding of festivals 
and events in Belfast by reducing the number of individual 
grant programmes and developing a multi-annual grant. 
This will be further supported by introducing a classification 
system common in other cities. The purpose of the system 
is to recognise that one size does not fit all. In order to 
increase the cultural, social and economic impact of 
our events and festivals we must better understand the 
contribution different categories make to the overall cultural 
ecosystem. Repositioning investment in events and festivals 
to maximise the return on investment will enable the events 
to better support the priorities of the Belfast Agenda and 
help to position the city as an events destination. 

A strategic approach to investment alone will not 
transform Belfast into a recognised destination for events 
and festivals. In addition to more effective investment 
programmes there is a need to support capacity building 
and skills development. This will be delivered through a 
partnership approach offering a centralised package of 
training and support appropriate to the scale and ambition 
of the event. 

During this first implementation phase of the cultural 
strategy the focus will be on developing fit for purpose 
investment programmes and delivery structures. 2023, as a 
designated international year of culture, will be an important 
milestone that will help to demonstrate the progress that 
has been made. Future implementation phases will consider 
longer term changes required to securely establish the city’s 
reputation as an events destination. 

Consideration has also been given to role of Belfast as a 
regional driver. As well as producing home-grown Belfast 
events that will have international appeal, the city must 
work collaboratively with other partners to bid for and secure 
major external events. Prioritisation will be given to those 
events that offer both a direct economic return and can 
contribute to the longer term cultural transformation of the 
city. 

The approach to events and festivals will be underpinned 
by a more robust evaluation model. The levels of monitoring 
and evaluation for individual events will be commensurate 
with scale. Criteria will be simplified to demonstrate value 
against the Belfast Agenda. Working with partners, Council 
will commission independent research on an annual basis. 

The actions set out in these plans will be supported by 
further programme design and implementation. Key 
performance indicators will be agreed and reported to 
Council on a regular basis. 

Page 156



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

31

Events and Festivals Actions
Strand 1: Governance and delivery structures

1.1 Establish an internal Belfast City Council working group

1.2 Establish a Belfast Strategic Events Partnership as part of the City Compact to include Tourism NI, Visit Belfast, Arts 
Council of Northern Ireland, Sport NI

1.3 Review the existing Festivals Forum and support appropriate sector level structure

Strand 2: Investment

2.1 Develop commercial strategies and maximise other fundraising opportunities to support the city’s portfolio of events

2.2 Introduce a clear approach to long-term investment that includes a mixed model consisting of:

• Bidding for events
• Commissioning of events
• Direct delivering of events
• Grant funding of events

Strand 3: Capacity building and support

3.1 Take a portfolio approach with all events having Council relationship officers arranged under thematic clusters 

3.2 Develop a central package of support, training and capacity building for festivals and events appropriate to their scale 
and ambition and delivered in partnership with relevant partners

3.3 Support event and festival producers in finding appropriate locations, production partners, liaison with the Council and 
other government agencies responsible for permits, transportation etc. This should include producing a guide to organising 
events in Belfast which incorporates guidance on accessibility, inclusivity and diversity for events and festivals in the city 
(ref: Council’s Inclusive Events Guide)

3.4 Scope out the potential to create a commissioning programme to maximise the role of festivals in profiling Belfast’s 
cultural sector. This could be delivered in partnership with other funding bodies such as Arts Council of Northern Ireland and 
British Council

3.5 Facilitate networking and include non-festival organisations; support networks, develop contacts and enable both local 
and international collaborations and co-productions

Strand 4: Marketing and communications 

4.1 Producing and promoting the annual Belfast Festival Calendar as both a planning tool for producers and as a public 
facing ‘what’s on’ guide

4.2 Offer other collaborative marketing opportunities in liaison with city, regional and national tourism marketing agencies 

Strand 5: Programme Development

5.1 Adopt the proposed Investment/Evaluation criteria for all festivals funding and simplify annual evaluation based on 
demonstrating value against the Belfast Agenda, ensuring level of evaluation appropriate to scale of event

5.2 Produce a public-facing annual festival and event report, based on data collected from evaluation, which is used to 
advocate and raise support, ensuring that events and festivals are properly acknowledged for their input

Page 157



A City Imagining

32

City of Music
These plans support the strategic project set out in A City 
Imagining that commits to applying for the designation of 
UNESCO City of Music. 

The UNESCO Creative Cities Network (UCCN) aims to 
strengthen cooperation with and among cities that have 
recognised creativity as a strategic factor of sustainable 
development with regard to social, cultural, economic and 
environmental aspects. Member cities come from diverse 
regions and work towards a common mission: placing 
creativity and cultural industries at the core of their urban 
development plans to make their cities safe, resilient, 
inclusive and sustainable. 

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development calls 
on us to imagine more sustainable and more creative 
cities. Sustainable Cities are inventive cities that can 
act as a catalyst for progress at economic, social and 
environmental levels by developing shared living spaces 
that fulfil the needs of their inhabitants, enriched by their 
diversity and respectful of all cultures. Belfast will seek 
to join the UNESCO network of cities, which involves 
commitment to encouraging active citizenship, dialogue 
and mutual understanding. Stimulating collective and 
creative intelligence is one of the founding missions of the 
UNESCO Creative Cities Programme and its Network, which 
recognises and reinforces the role of creativity as a catalyst 
for building more sustainable, resilient and inclusive cities. 
UNESCO Creative Cities world-wide utilise creative potential 
to find innovative solutions to the economic, social and 
environmental challenges of the modern world. There are 
clear synergies between UNESCO Creative Cities and the 
priorities set out in our strategy. These connections can 
also reach out beyond the sphere of culture to embrace the 
challenges and opportunities presented in our emerging 
work on resilience. 

To become a member of the UNESCO Creative Cities 
Network, candidate cities must submit a detailed 
application clearly demonstrating their willingness, 
commitment and capacity to contribute towards the 
objectives of the Network. The Network covers 7 creative 
fields, which can be chosen by the cities according to their 
preference for a specific creative industry or sector to which 
they devote their talent and energy. 

These are Crafts & Folk Art, Design, Film, Gastronomy, 
Literature, Music and Media Arts. Following an initial scoping 
exercise and assessment against the criteria as well as 
support from the sector, it was agreed that music is the 
most appropriate designation for Belfast at this stage. This 
will involve a development process culminating in an official 
application to be led by the Local Authority in partnership 
with the music sector and other stakeholders. 

Joining the network is a longstanding commitment which 
must involve a participative process and a forward-looking 
approach. Cities must develop and present a realistic action 
plan including specific projects, initiatives or policies to 
be executed in order to implement the objectives of the 
Network. Work towards and after the designation will focus 
cultural policy and activity in relation to music in Belfast; 
delivering a more joined-up and visible music offer whilst 
also increasing opportunities for production and civic 
engagement in music across the city on a permanent basis.

Music is recognised as a distinctive aspect of Belfast’s 
cultural profile with audience research indicating high levels 
of engagement locally as well as strong linkages to the 
city’s international profile. Engagement with citizens during 
and after the European Capital of Culture bid process, and 
through initiatives led by partner organisations across 
the city, has indicated that there is considerable support 
for strengthening the role that music has in helping to 
make Belfast a culturally vibrant place to live, work and 
visit. In March 2018 as a result of the coalescence of many 
conversations which were happening in the city at the same 
time, Council backed a proposal for the city and its partners 
to make an application for the endorsement of UNESCO City 
of Music status. 

For Belfast, the possibility of a designation is not about 
a title: it’s about using music to drive a new era of 
collaboration between the city’s citizens and its institutions, 
about exploring how we all make music more relevant to 
people, and about putting both cultural and economic 
development at the heart of the city’s future. 

Page 158



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

33

City of Music Actions
Strand 1: Governance and Delivery structures

1.1 Establish an internal Belfast City Council working group

1.2. Develop Terms of Reference for City of Music Steering Group & develop a roadmap for the bid 2019- 2021

1.3 Establish a Belfast City of Music Steering group with representation from a variety of stakeholders including Tourism NI, 
Visit Belfast and Arts Council of Northern Ireland as well as cultural organisations, musicians, business owners, emerging 
artists and producers.

1.4 Build relationships and connections with UNESCO Creative Network Cities such as Glasgow, Liverpool, Galway and 
Dundee.

Strand 2: Sustainable action planning, capacity building and resourcing 

2.1 Support the City of Music steering group in the co-design of a music development action plan 2020 - 2024 

2.2 Support the City of Music steering group to consider longer term strategic priorities for music in Belfast 2020 - 2030 

2.3 Explore fundraising and investment opportunities to support strategic development in music. Leverage investment from 
other partners to support City of Music plans 

2.4 Co-design mentorship and career development schemes for emerging artists/producers

2.5 Co-design a civic engagement and participation strategy for music including audience development

2.6 Commission asset mapping of the music industry in Belfast to include venues, artists, producers, engineers, studios etc. 
This should also strengthen the city’s regional role in driving the creative industries

2.7 Ensure strategic development of music in the city contributes to sustainable urban development, building on culture and 
creativity as a lever to achieve development goals in the city as a whole

Strand 3: Exchanges, co-operation and partnership working

3.1 Scope out and develop international opportunities and partnerships across the UNESCO Creative City Network - UK, 
Ireland, Europe and further afield

3.2 Facilitate networking opportunities for music stakeholders such as annual Music Forum, enabling both local and 
international collaborations and partnerships to develop

3.3 Design and develop new investment initiatives that enable commercial and not-for-profit music organisations/ 
producers to work in partnership on projects and development schemes

Strand 4: Marketing and Communications 

4.1 Produce and promote the annual Belfast Music calendar as both a planning tool for producers and as a public facing 
‘what’s on’ guide

4.2 Offer other collaborative marketing opportunities and liaise with city, regional and national tourism marketing agencies 
to ensure that music is effectively positioned as part of the tourism offer

4.3 Work with partners to develop and promote the Belfast Music/City of Music brand.

4.4 Develop a city level marketing and communications strategy for music

Strand 5: Evaluation & Long Term Commitment 

5.1 Measure contribution of music to the outcomes of the Belfast Agenda

5.2 Set evaluation criteria and key performance indicators for achieving UNESCO City of Music Designation in 2021 and no 
later than 2023

5.3 Ensure that effective governance and delivery structures continue to operate beyond the City of Music Designation and 
delivers on the longer-term commitments

Page 159



A City Imagining

34

Roadmap to City of Music

• Council decision
• Civic support
• Sector conversations
• Investment

2020

2019

2021

• Steering group
• Mapping
• Action Planning
• Investment

2018

• Telling Belfast’s music story
• Long-term music development
• City connections – Belfast/Galway/Nashville/Boston
• Investment

• Submission to UNESCO
• Celebrate music in Belfast

• Implement Action Plans
• Tell our story as a City of Music

City of music

Page 160



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

35

Page 161



A City Imagining

36

Tourism Development 
Belfast has evolved into a successful and increasingly 
popular visitor destination over the last decade or more. 
This development hasn’t gone unnoticed in the global 
tourism market. In 2018, the Lonely Planet identified 
Belfast and Giant’s Causeway as the top place to visit. A 
rich and authentic blend of natural assets coupled with 
a unique cultural heritage, a vibrant cultural scene and a 
long-renowned warmth of welcome means that visitors are 
increasingly being drawn to the city. 

With recent investment in tourism infrastructure and 
improvements to connectivity, as well as the development 
of new areas of stand-out such as screen tourism and an 
award-winning hospitality offer, the key foundations stones 
are in place to support the development of the tourism 
sector in the city.

But there is much more room for growth. This ambition is 
recognised and shared by the key partners from both the 
public and private sector. They believe that the growth 
will only be delivered if there is a focused approach to 
tourism development in the city that is built on exploiting 
the recognised stand-out by developing new products and 
experiences for a growing number of visitors to share and 
enjoy. 

The inclusion of tourism as a key growth sector in the 
recently-agreed City Deal validates and supports this 
view. It acknowledges the fact that the sector is already a 
significant economic generator but recognises the need 
for significant additional investment in order to move to the 
next level. 

Our engagement with partners in developing A City 
Imagining identified the following four priorities for tourism 
development in the context of this new cultural strategy:

• Enhancing and enriching the visitor experience
• Supporting tourism development across the city’s 

neighbourhoods
• Focusing the tourism marketing and communications
• Supporting skills development to enhance tourism 

growth and development

Research & Intelligence

 

 

  

 

Thriving
visitor

economy

Partner                                              Influence                                       Deliver

Visitor Experience / Servicing
Ci

ty
 M

arketin
g

Business To
ur

is
m Leisure Tourism

Research and intelligence
Visitor led

Partn
ership w

or
ki

ng
Su

st
ai

na
ble development

Enhancing and enriching  
the visitor experience  
Building intelligence on the visitor
Focus on our key propositions 

Focusing tourism marketing  
and communications 
Carrying the new brand identity
Considering the channel mix for 
key visitor segments

Supporting tourism 
development across the city’s 

neighbourhoods 
Encouraging visitors to discover 

the richness and diversity  
of our city

Exploring opportunities to  
develop clusters focused on  

key propositions

Supporting skills development 
to enhance tourism growth  

and development 
Addressing existing skills 

challenges 
Developing employer-led 
interventions to improve 

productivity 

Section 3

Page 162



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

37

Visitor experience 
Enhancing and enriching the visitor experience

The early development of the tourism industry in Belfast 
was largely organic - driven by the culturally curious visitor, 
keen to see and try and do something that was different and 
unique. And Belfast clearly has that in some measure.

But tourism is a global business, and Belfast is competing 
with cities and locations all across the world. It is therefore 
essential that there is a more coordinated approach to 
growing the value of the tourism market in Belfast and 
to making sure that, when visitors come to our city, their 
experience is a positive one, that they plan a return visit and 
that they recommend to their friends that they do the same. 
Enhancing and enriching the visitor experience is therefore 
a central pillar of our strategy for tourism development in 
the city. 

To know what visitors need and expect, we really need to 
find out more about them. This means understanding who 
comes here, when they like to come here, what they like 
(and even what they’re not so keen on), what they would like 
more of and what would make them return. We also need 
to consider how we can attract new visitors to Belfast - 
those who don’t currently have Belfast on their radar when 
planning their next holiday. 

As a first step, we are proposing the development of a Visitor 
Experience Plan for Belfast. This will allow the city’s tourism 
partners to agree on a number of unique selling points 
(USPs) that are truly authentic to Belfast and to invest in a 
series of experiences that will give substance to those USPs. 

For the visitor, this will mean that there is clarity about 
Belfast’s compelling offer in a competitive tourism market, 
and that they can be guaranteed that their experience will 
at least live up to their expectations in terms of quality and 
value for money. For the tourism partners, it will mean that 
investment becomes more focused, with a greater potential 
for return and more opportunities for packaging and 
developing new experiences. 

While Belfast’s visitor market has been largely focused on 
the leisure visitor, there has been a significant growth in 
business tourism in Belfast over the last number of years - 
driven largely by the investment in the ICC Belfast and the 
associated tourism infrastructure development. Belfast’s 
compact city centre means that there is an opportunity to 
expose business tourists to the breadth of experiences that 
the city has to offer in order to encourage them to extend 
their stay or inspire a return visit. 

Visitor Experience Actions
Strand 1: Develop a Visitor Experience Plan for Belfast

1.1 Work with partners to agree a terms of reference for specialist support to develop a Visitor Experience Plan for Belfast 

1.2 Oversee development of the Plan, ensuring input by all relevant partners

1.3 Ensure that the findings of the Plan are shared with all partners to encourage a comprehensive and consistent approach 
to interpretation and visitor servicing city-wide

Strand 2: Ensure access to relevant visitor insights in order to shape future investment

2.1 Undertake a scoping exercise across all current research to identify gaps in knowledge

2.2 Consider commissioning of relevant insights to inform future investment

2.3 Explore, in particular, opportunities to lever new technological solutions to generate real-time and near-time data in order 
to evaluate the impact of investment and ensure ongoing visitor insights

Strand 3: Establish an investment framework to lever Council and partner resources 

3.1 Ensure alignment with the key recommendations from the Visitor Servicing Plan, in terms of Unique Selling Points, key 
clusters and signature experiences 

3.2 Secure resources to ensure that there is the appropriate technical and financial assistance in place to help bring forward 
new visitor experiences and to enhance the quality of existing experiences 

3.3 Explore opportunities to align investment with existing approaches e.g. Tourism NI cluster development model

Page 163



A City Imagining

38

Destination Hub 
The Destination Hub is a major transformational project 
with the overall aim of providing a new tourist destination 
in Belfast city centre that would serve as a catalyst for 
the economic, social and cultural regeneration of Belfast 
City Region. It will include the Belfast Story (a dynamic, 
interactive and immersive visitor experience using cutting 
edge technology, which tells the story of the city and 
its people), The Space (a flexible gallery, exhibition and 
performance space, unique to the island), Creative and 
Digital Skills spaces, the Belfast Film Centre as well as high 
quality public realm, retail space and food and drink outlets.

The Destination Hub will deliver significant economic 
benefit to whole of the regional economy by enhancing the 

tourism offer. There is a need for new tourism products and 
a visitor attraction of scale that could link together the wider 
tourism offering in Belfast, and beyond. However central 
to the success of the Destination Hub will be whether 
it reflects an authentic Belfast experience. The public 
consultation on the cultural strategy indicated a high level 
of support for the Hub but with this came a strong message 
that the project must be driven by the stories of the people 
of the city. The overall capital project will be supported by 
the Belfast Region City Deal. In these implementation plans 
for A City Imagining we will focus on a wider engagement 
opportunity to place people at the heart of the project. 

Destination Hub Actions
Strand 1: Building civic momentum and buy-in for the project 

1.1 Develop an engagement led programme to develop the Belfast Story through a place-based, thematic and creative 
approach

1.2. Deliver the engagement programme in partnership with cultural sector including key city stakeholders such as BBC, NI 
Screen, National Museums

Strand 2: Addressing any issues of displacement and ensuring connectivity with existing tourism and cultural projects in the city

2.1 Develop a visitor experience plan for the city and position as part of Tourism NI’s wider experience brand for the region

2.2 Engage with cultural and tourism providers to identify and take forward opportunities for collaboration including 
clustering and programming 

Strand 3: Communicating the Belfast Story

3.1 Develop a specific strategy to deal with the complexity of ‘what is the Belfast Story’ by creating a compelling, 
contemporary, authentic and evolving narrative through a creative led approach

Strand 4: Ensuring support from business sector

4.1 Develop a messaging framework and visual content to help articulate the project

4.2 Create content and opportunities to engage with business sector and private investors through a programme of 
activities and events

Strand 5: Raising the international profile of the project 

5.1 Scope out opportunities to develop connections with international cultural organisations 

5.2 During the development phase build relationships by supporting: 
- Touring exhibitions  
- Artistic co-commissions  
- Cultural exchanges and residencies

Priorities for developing the Belfast Story

Integrative Cultural  
Tourism Project

• Engage in an open process with wider creative 
and community stakeholders

• Explore linkages with current strategies and 
future policies - the Hub as an enabler 

• Maximising social & cultural capacity building

Communication

• Naming - a hook for the project
• Audiences, messages, tools - leading that 

space
• Engagement, participation and buy-in - a city 

owned project

Page 164



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

39

Neighbourhood Tourism 
Supporting tourism development across the city’s 
neighbourhoods 

Like many cities, the Belfast of today is a rich tapestry of 
local districts and neighbourhoods that have evolved over 
time and that all have a unique and compelling part to play 
in telling the story of the city. 

Visitors to Belfast come here to experience the city’s unique 
and complex story. It is a cultural city, a vibrant evening city, 
a maritime river city, a university city, a foodie city and a 
historic city. And its neighbourhoods have their part to play 
in telling all of these stories.

Given the focus on authentic visitor experiences in this plan, 
there is a commitment to work at local level to draw out 
the local assets and stories and to help develop these into 
viable, sustainable, high quality visitor experiences. 

While anchor investments such as Titanic Belfast have 
been critical in acting as a magnet for visitors, there is an 
opportunity to extend dwell time and enhance visitor spend 
by bringing forward complementary visitor experiences, 
aligned to the key elements of the city narrative. There is 
also an opportunity to consider how these major attractions 
can act as a “hub” with supporting activities across other 
locations representing the “spokes” of the wider visitor 
experience along the main tourism themes. 

A priority area for investment in this implementation 
plan will be the support for tourism development across 
the city’s neighbourhoods. This work will align with the 
visitor experience plan, drawing out the key assets and 
exploring mechanisms to help bring forward new products 
whilst enhancing the quality of the existing assets. In 
this approach, business sustainability will be key. This 
will provide opportunities for local entrepreneurs to lead 
successful businesses and create opportunities for 
employment and economic return. It will also support the 
Belfast Agenda commitments around inclusive economic 
growth. 

The Council’s investment is likely to form part of a wider 
package of support, working alongside other partners, 
particularly Tourism NI. It is likely to act as a catalyst - 
drawing out new ideas, supporting early-stage feasibility 
and testing and refining the business model and idea to 
provide a firm basis for further support and investment. 
Visitor insights will be a critical element of this work and we 
will work with a number of research partners to ensure that 
our approach to product development is fully informed by 
and responds to visitor needs. 

It is likely that the experience development and 
neighbourhood tourism development work will see the 
emergence of “clusters” of activity - bringing together 
complementary activities that can be packaged together 
to provide the visitor with a range of experiences in line with 
their relevant areas of interest. 

Strand 1: Develop a sustainable Neighbourhood Tourism Framework and Investment Plan

1.1 Consider how the Visitor Experience Plan can support the development of new experiences and improve the quality of 
the offer across the city’s neighbourhoods 

1.2 Ensure that partners have access to relevant visitor insights and technical support to bring forward new, high-quality 
experiences

1.3 Secure agreement with Tourism NI and other partners on an sustainable approach to investment, maximising the 
impact of available resources

1.4 Ensure that there is a flexible programme of support to meet local needs in order to ensure that all parts of the city are 
appropriately represented in the city tourism offer

Page 165



A City Imagining

40

• Packaging and 
clustering 

• Collaborative working 
and development

• Market testing

• Encouraging new ideas
• Understanding the visitor
• Feasibility and  

testing 

• Investment, 
implementation and 
product development

Developing a sustainable neighbourhood tourism framework

Page 166



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

41

Marketing and communications 
Focusing the tourism marketing and 
communications

In order to inspire visitors to make a journey and share your 
story, it is essential that there is a consistent application 
of key messages and an engaging approach to destination 
marketing which keep audiences emotionally connected 
to the ideas and experiences that underpin it. The most 
successful destinations have excelled in making this 
connection; in drawing the visitor in to the spirit of the place 
and moving them from passive engagement to immersing 
themselves in entire experience and making a unique and 
unrivalled connection.

The visioning narrative and themes contained in A City 
Imagining will both underpin the Visitor Experience Plan 
and provide the foundation on which to develop memorable 
and emotive marketing and promotional campaigns which 
appeal to key target markets. 

Based on an enhanced understanding of the key customer 
segments and their preferences, the Council will work 
closely with Visit Belfast to build on the City’s dynamic 
experience brand ‘energy unleashed’ and develop key 
propositions beneath the brand which align to areas of 
strategic importance within the destination. Alignment with 
Tourism NI’s destination brand, ‘Embrace the Giant Spirit’ 
will be intrinsic to the positioning of Belfast as a regional 

driver for Northern Ireland. Both brands draw heavily on 
energy, passion, people, natural assets and rich cultural 
heritage - and the marketing and communications for the 
city’s tourism offer needs to reflect these themes. 

As the channel mix changes with an increased focus on 
social media, we need to ensure that we are flexible and 
that our campaigns - while planned to support key events, 
activities and seasons - can respond to changing demand 
as well as market availability. This underlines the need 
for strong and continued communication with the wider 
tourism and cultural sector, as well as consideration of 
issues such as seasonality, demand management and 
media management. Belfast is still a relatively under-
developed tourism destination. The activities set out in this 
tourism development plan will aim to bring forward more 
development and raise the profile of the city, particularly in 
new and emerging markets. 

Whilst GB and RoI remain the largest out-of-state markets 
for tourists, there is significant potential in new markets, 
particularly China. The US market remains important 
but there are opportunities to work with Tourism Ireland 
to enhance the profile of the city in these and other key 
markets. Belfast has an important role not only as a gateway 
but also as a must-see destination in its own right and the 
marketing and communications activity needs to reinforce 
this story. 

Strand 1: Develop an agreed and coherent approach to destination marketing that reflects the city narrative and associated 
products and experiences

1.1 Ensure early engagement with Visit Belfast to consider planned marketing approaches, taking account of the Visitor 
Servicing Plan research and insights 

1.2 Consider how the marketing offer can reflect both the dynamic city branding and the emerging Tourism NI brand 
Embrace a Giant Spirit 

1.3 Build an understanding of the marketing approach of key partner organisations - particularly Tourism Ireland and 
Tourism NI - and ensure that Council investment is complementary

1.4 Consider opportunities for a more strategic approach to investment in destination marketing in the city in order to 
maximise the impact of available resources

Strand 2: Consider the relevant marketing and communications mix for the key visitor segments

2.1 Develop a clear understanding of the key market segments and their communications preferences, and ensure that all 
campaigns are developed with these insights in mind

2.2 Support ongoing visibility of the destination through attendance at key industry and consumer-focused events, 
ensuring clarity of messaging in line with the agreed approach

Strand 3: Consider how a digital marketing and communications approach can support investment in new products and 
experience

3.1 Explore opportunities for better use of digital marketing and communications tools among city marketing partners, 
ensuring consistency of approach and alignment of content 

3.2 Build the capacity of local businesses and organisations to enhance their online presence and do more business 
through digital platforms

Page 167



A City Imagining

42

Skills Development 
Supporting skills development to enhance tourism 
growth and development. 

The Belfast Agenda has, at its core, an ambition to create 
46,000 employee jobs by 2035. The continued growth of the 
tourism sector will be a key element of this commitment. 

Around 18,000 people are currently employed in the 
hospitality sector in Belfast - around 8% of all jobs in the 
city. As previously noted, there is a collective commitment 
and ambition to grow this number. This can be seen through 
initiatives such as the Belfast Region City Deal which 
has a “tourism” pillar comprising a number of strategic 
investment projects aimed a “moving the dial” on the 
tourism sector in the City Region area. 

Investment in large-scale tourism products such as the 
Destination Hub will not only provide job opportunities 
within the hub itself but create indirect benefits across 
key related tourism sectors. At present, the GVA generated 
by the tourism and hospitality sector is below some other 
sectors. However it remains an important part of the city’s 
economic strategy as it is an employer of volume and can 
also offer opportunities across a range of skills levels. This 
is in keeping with the Belfast Agenda commitments to 
support inclusive economic growth and can be an important 
contributor to government commitments to address the 
economic inactivity and low skills challenges in the city. 

Representatives from the tourism sector regularly raise 
concerns about skills shortages within the industry, and 
the potential for these shortages to constrain further 
development and expansion. Given the scale of opportunity 
and the complex range of needs, it is likely that the 
approach to supporting skills development to enhance 

tourism growth and development will comprise a number of 
approaches, namely: 

Focusing on entry and lower level skills: labour market 
data suggests that sectors aligned to tourism such as 
restaurants, hotels, arts and entrainment are expected 
to grow with over 5,000 jobs over the next ten years. A 
significant proportion of these jobs is expected to be in 
entry-level, positions providing a relatively accessible route 
into employment for those with low skills. It is important to 
recognise that these roles need to offer remuneration at 
a level that will support people to move from benefits into 
work

• Technical and higher level skills: the tourism sector 
offers a breadth of employment opportunities including 
technically specific roles, for example chefs. To ensure 
the sector can access the breadth and talent they 
require within the labour market there is a need to retain 
talent within the industry through upskilling, encourage 
and support vocational pathways for technical 
occupations suffering skills shortages and invest in 
leadership and management skills. 

• Increasing the attractiveness of the sector: the 
hospitality sector continues to be associated primarily 
with entry level positions, sometimes offering low 
levels of pay. However whilst the industry does have a 
relatively high volume of lower skilled roles, there is a 
breadth of opportunities available. There is a clear need 
to work with the education sector to change perceptions 
and increase awareness of the range of opportunities 
available and the skills required. 

Strand 1: Ensure access to relevant and high quality skills data to inform future investment

1.1 Identify specific skills needs for the sector from the Belfast Skills Barometer and other relevant data sources

1.2 Consider appropriate mechanisms for engaging with industry representatives to ensure that the research is supported 
by industry insights

1.3 Engage with government partners (particularly Invest NI; Department for the Economy) as well as the education sector 
(Belfast Metropolitan College and both universities) to build an understanding of available research and analysis, as 
well as any investment plans

Strand 2: Consider opportunities to share best practice and ensure that training and skills development support meets 
employer requirements

2.1 Explore opportunities to scale up successful investment approaches, such as the Hospitality Academies and Assured 
Skills programmes 

2.2 Consider targeted approaches for areas of particular shortages e.g. chefs and key vocational roles

2.3 Explore with employers alternative entry routes to widen the opportunities for people to join the sector

2.4 Explore opportunities for additional investment in upskilling and in-work progression and consider how this can be 
supported by Council and other partners

Strand 3: Consider the development of a more strategic approach to investment in skills to enhance tourism growth and 
development

3.1 Consider the potential for a strategic engagement forum to address skills issues in the hospitality sector for Belfast-
based businesses, taking account of existing structures and ongoing conversations

3.2 Consider how the sector can enhance its engagement with education partners, focusing on the breadth of 
opportunities and the potential to build a successful career

Page 168



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

43

Page 169



A City Imagining

44

The ten year cultural strategy for Belfast 2020-2030, A City Imagining, makes a commitment to 
developing a new governance model for culture in the city. An important dimension to this model 
is support for priority one of the strategy and the connected actions that will be taken forward.

A City Connecting 
Section 4

• Developing a people focussed approach to cultural 
development by facilitating citizen and sector 
participation in setting priorities, decision-making and in 
the evaluation of cultural policies

• The other part of a new approach to governance will be 
the setting up a City Compact (strategic partnership) for 
culture in line with the recommendations presented in 
the Cultural Enquiry commissioned by the Core Cities 
network. We have given consideration to the following 
elements:

1.  Terms of reference for the City Compact

2.  A model for the City Compact 

3.  Key performance for the City Compact 

Further work will be undertaken in 2019 to ensure that 
we are in a position to introduce the City Compact in 
support of the implementation of the cultural strategy 
from April 2020 onwards. 

Page 170



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

45

Role and Functions of the Compact

1. To provide strategic and visible leadership in the 
development of the cultural sector in Belfast

2. To create, develop and support collaboration where 
this enhances effectiveness and efficiency, for 
example in maximising the benefits of major initiatives 
such as Belfast 2023 and UNESCO City of Music Bid 

3. To be the lead advocate for the cultural sector in 
relation to local, regional, national, European and 
global policy and networks

4. To co-ordinate key inward investment activities 
relating to the cultural sector and to explore the 
potential for new approaches to investment and 
partnerships such as those identified in the A City 
Imagining and the Cultural Enquiry

5. To encourage a sustainable, innovative, 
entrepreneurial and diverse cultural sector which is 
accessible to all residents and visitors

6. To support and influence culture-led city and 
infrastructure planning and investment by 
championing best practice to the public, private and 
voluntary sectors and media

7. To contribute towards the delivery of the Belfast 
Agenda and priorities set out in A City Imagining 

8. To collate and disseminate relevant user insight 
or research which supports future investment and 
support for the cultural sector

9. Where it adds value, the Compact may help develop 
regional synergies to enhance bids for additional 
external investment

Belfast Cultural City Compact

Terms of Reference (DRAFT)

The Cultural Cities Enquiry (2019) champions the power of 
cultural investment to drive growth in cities. The Enquiry’s aim 
was to develop an adaptable new model to help culture flourish 
in cities and drive change in all areas of regeneration. The 
model recommended by the Enquiry is a City Compact, which 
proposes a step-change in governance to support the delivery 
of a local vision for culture. The model aims to build capacity 
and maximise the investment and collaboration required to 
deliver a shared city vision. 

Each compact can be adapted. The Belfast Compact will 
support the delivery of A City Imagining. 

Purpose: 

The Compact will support collective, coordinated action to 
grow and sustain the cultural ecosystem. This will include 
aligning activity and funding, and levering additional human, 
financial and property resources, in support of an agreed 
purpose. 

The vision is to activate a step change in the sustainability 
and contribution of culture to the life of the city. It will link the 
cultural sector to broader aspirations and priorities for Belfast 
and secure partnerships between the cultural sector and other 
sectors.

The Compact will be the primary vehicle for discussion 
between local partners and with government, about how best 
to deploy culture for the city. The Compact will have specific 
purpose and aims, and it will evolve according to need and 
opportunity.

Through implementing the Compact model, Belfast will 
aim to attract new investment using the strength of our 
cultural resource and the potential of our collaborations and 
partnerships. Belfast will renew its approach to supporting 
and strengthening the cultural sector. Culture will be integral 
to the development of the whole city and there will be a broad 
understanding of its potential to enhance the city’s education 
and skills, health and wellbeing, urban fabric and public spaces, 
community cohesion, competitiveness and tourism revenue.

Initial Arrangements

In the first instance, attendance at the Compact meetings 
will be by invitation through the City Council (as the initial 
Accountable Body). The secretariat for the Compact will be 
delivered by Belfast City Council whilst long-term resourcing of 
the Compact is considered. 

During the first year of operation, the Compact will;

1. Recruit a Chair via a formal recruitment exercise and elect 
a Vice Chair

2. Appoint a Compact Coordinator (Administrator)

3. Confirm its Terms of Reference and membership

4. Establish a work programme (Business Plan)

5. Commission and contract organisations as required e.g. 
research, legal advice etc.

6. Share learning with other early adopter compact cities 

7. Report back to funding partners

8. Conduct a governance review, to cover membership, 
tenure, appointment process and retirement, as well as 
any specific roles to be undertaken

Membership: 

The Compact will be chaired by a senior independent 
professional from the business sector and supported by a Vice 
Chair - to be elected from the Compact membership.

The membership seeks to be representative of different 
sectors in the city, but at the core of the Compact must be 
a membership that reflects the breadth and potential of the 
cultural sector in Belfast. 

The composition of the Compact will include;

• cultural sector representatives
• private sector representatives
• public sector representatives
• a mix of representatives with different backgrounds and 

knowledge of different forms of culture 
And they will be supported by:

• Subject experts responsible for delivering on critical areas 
of the city’s ambitions such as health and wellbeing, 
tourism, innovation, creative industries such as screen 
and digital, broader skills development, inward investment, 
place-making and city centre development, regeneration 
and transport. 

Membership of the Compact will be reviewed annually. 

Page 171



A City Imagining

46

City Compact Model (Draft) 

KEY PARTNERS
Belfast City Council (various relevant 
departments)

Cultural sector including individuals, 
organisations and development 
bodies

Department for Communities 

Arts Council of Northern Ireland 

Tourism NI, Tourism Ireland 

British Council

NI Screen

Sport NI

Private sector - represented through 
BIDs, Belfast Chamber and relevant 
alliances 

Further and higher education bodies

Health & wellbeing agencies

Translink

Core Cities UK

KEY ACTIVITIES
The form, function and activity will 
be co-created and co-delivered. 
Activities may promote health & 
wellbeing, integrated communities, 
increase cultural opportunity, develop 
tourism economy, grow creative 
industries, regeneration, innovation, 
digital adoption, supporting skills, 
lifelong learning etc. Initial focus 
on 2023 & UNESCO as shared city 
initiatives.

VALUE PROPOSITIONS
As part of the A City Imagining 
cultural strategy 2020-2030 we 
want to develop a Belfast Cultural 
City Compact to create an ambitious 
step change in our city’s strategic 
governance of culture. 

The Cultural Cities Enquiry report 
(Feb 19) provides a set of practical 
proposals to support cities in 
increasing cultural investment and 
becoming more sustainable and add 
value to the social, economic and 
cultural impact of that investment. 

Belfast will be an ‘early adopter’ of 
this compact model. We will focus 
on the benefits of culture and how 
this intersects with the priorities 
and ambitions of wider groups. The 
compact will secure the partnerships 
and resources necessary to realise 
the vision of the strategy. 

KEY RESOURCES
Commitment from BCC as a key 
deliverable of the A City Imagining 
cultural strategy (financial and HR). 
Potential support from Department 
for Communities.

STAKEHOLDER 
RELATIONSHIPS
The compact will consolidate and 
re-focus strategic relationships. 
It should be conceived as a new 
purpose-driven step-change 
mechanism. There needs to be 
ambitious and meaningful targets 
established, and very senior 
representation of the partners to 
ensure the level of influence required 
to mobilise support and resources. 

STAKEHOLDER 
SEGMENTS
City leadership, via full support and 
effective engagement by BCC is key. 
This will help to mobilise the public, 
private and voluntary resources 
required to deliver change and 
establish a new way of working. 

Membership will connect those 
organisations and sectors beyond 
the cultural that have a direct interest 
in the ambitions of the compact. 
Views of citizens and communities 
must be at the heart of the compact 
and meaningful engagement and 
communication will be key. 

Membership of the compact must 
reflect its vision and ambition, and 
may evolve over time in form and 
function.

 

CHANNELS 
An independent chair, appropriate 
members, terms of reference, 
business plan andstaff resource 
required. BCC initial lead & secretariat 
support. An informal partnership may 
evolve into a constituted body.

COST STRUCTURE and 
REVENUE STREAMS
2019 - 2021: Initial investment has 
been secured from Belfast City 
Council of £20,000 included in 
2019/20 budgets. In kind contribution 
(in house administrative, marketing 
and other services) valued at 
£10,000. Match funding of £20,000 
will be requested from Department 
for Communities or other partners. 
Additional investment from partners 
will be negotiated for programme 
delivery as per Compact agreed 
requirements. Total investment 
in year 1 is £40,000 to establish 
compact and make the model fully 
operational. 

Page 172



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

47

1. Cultural Impact

• Stronger cultural sector
 ○ Projects aimed directly at developing skills and competencies 

• Stronger regional, national, European and international relations
 ○ Projects with a partner or cultural exchange within Ireland, UK, Europe or internationally 

2. Social Impact

• Activation of citizens through volunteering
 ○ Number of volunteers 
 ○ Number of core volunteers 
 ○ Diverse demographics of volunteers

• Activating citizens as audience
 ○ Levels of participation and audience 
 ○ Number of people attending Belfast programme of activities from across NI (outside Belfast) 

• Activation of young citizens to lead cultural projects
 ○ Small scale projects developed and delivered by young (<35yrs) project owners of cultural projects 

3. Economic impact

• More visitors to Belfast
 ○ Increase in overnight stays 
 ○ Increase in overnight stays by international visitors

• Increase in turnover 
 ○ Increase in turnover in the private sector 
 ○ Increase in turnover in the cultural sector 

• Stronger creative sector
 ○ Creative businesses in Belfast reported level of optimism regarding improved business situation, increasing turnover 
and increasing employment 

4. Image and identity impact

• Enhanced visibility and awareness
 ○ Regional awareness of activity 
 ○ Citizens’ success rating 
 ○ Regional media coverage in 2020 
 ○ International media coverage in 2020 
 ○ Website visits 
 ○ Social media followers 

5. Political and organisational impact

• Financial resources available
 ○ Fundraising 
 ○ In-kind sponsorships 
 ○ Stronger relations across sectors and between institutions
 ○ Projects working on a cross-institutional, cross-sectoral and / or interdisciplinary basis 

• Enhanced cross-sectoral cooperation
 ○ Partnerships with and across the cultural, tourism, education, business, health, media, transport and other sectors at 
local and international level established and developed 

The Belfast Cultural City Compact will have a practical and influential role in developing and 
supporting the key performance indicators for the cultural strategy. By April 2020 a baseline 
growth target will be established for the indicators outlined below. 

Page 173



A City Imagining

48

A City Investing 
The investment model 
The ten year cultural strategy for Belfast, A City Imagining, 
commits to delivering a cultural investment programme 
for the city. This investment approach takes the long view 
required to deliver transformation for the city. It recognises 
that the first priority must be to invest in a healthy cultural 
ecosystem.

The aims of the investment model are set down in the draft 
strategy: 

• Support the cultural life of the city by enabling our 
citizens to be active, dynamic and creative agents of 
change

• Invest in our cultural and creative sectors to develop the 
skills and capacity for production and innovation

• Position Belfast as an international testing ground for 
new approaches to cultural engagement, development 
and place-making

• Establish Belfast as a cultural destination

There are also four published investment priorities: 

• Anchor: support the cultural infrastructure for a thriving 
cultural ecosystem 

• Activate: empower civic and sectoral engagement, 
skills and capacity building in order to support inclusive 
growth 

• Experiment: facilitate innovation, catalyst projects and 
new ideas

• Open: support outward-facing opportunities, including 
marketing and international cooperation 

The Belfast agenda 
The Belfast Agenda’s vision for 2035 is: 

A city re-imagined and resurgent. A great place 
to live and work for everyone. Beautiful, well 
connected and culturally vibrant […] offering 
opportunities for everyone. A confident and 
successful city energising a dynamic and 
prosperous city region. A magnet for talent and 
business and admired around the world. A city 
people dream to visit.

Participation in sports activities, participation in arts and 
engagement in cultural activities are direct indicators of 
outcomes 3 and 5: 

• Everyone in Belfast fulfils their potential
• Belfast is a vibrant, attractive, connected and 

environmentally sustainable city

There are a number of other indicators and outcomes that 
cultural development and A City Imagining in particular can 
contribute to, including: 

• City competitiveness 
• Jobs and earnings 
• Visitor numbers and spend 
• Proportion of people who agree that people from 

different backgrounds get on well together and who 
believe their cultural identity is respected by society

• Educational attainment 
• Volunteering 
• Self-efficacy 
• Satisfaction with Belfast as a place to live

An immediate priority for the city is inclusive growth. This is 
about cultural and social, as well as economic, conditions: 
“It is also about making sure that people have the best life 
chances and the best living experience no matter where 
they are born or live in Belfast”. 

Like the Belfast agenda, A City Imagining was built on the 
ethos of community planning: its rights-based approach 
to inclusive engagement places people at its heart; and 
the investment model will be achieved by working better 
together with the city’s different agencies, organisations, 
groups and communities. 

This recommended approach imaginatively re-interprets 
the strategic priorities of A City Imagining and proposes a 
new, four-year investment model (2020/21 to 2023/24) to 
deliver cultural transformation for the city. 

Further detail on the proposed investment model is 
available in the document Our approach to investing in 
culture in Belfast. 

Section 5

Page 174



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

49

The investment model 
The following diagram summarises the different components of the draft investment model. 

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

Community planning 
partnerships

City  
compact

Other  
stakeholders

Joint commissions 
and initiatives

Please note - we are seeking approval to proceed with Multi-Annual Grants in October 2019.  
All other programmes are subject to further resource and/or feasibility 

BRidGinG 
tHe ChaNge 

2019/20

sUstain 
pRogRamMe

LegaCy 
pRoject 
fUndIng

oPen 
gRanTs 
2021/22

Page 175



A City Imagining

50

Evaluation

Our monitoring and evaluation plan will add value in a 
number of ways:

• It will be transparent and open - in order to maximise 
ownership we propose to use a ‘co-design’ approach 
involving all the partners in the city - citizens, artists, 
audiences, businesses - so that objectives and 
indicators are co-designed and understood by everyone

• It will be based on best practice - we propose to use an 
evaluation model that uses the latest techniques of civic 
analytics, geo-tracking, digital mapping, big data, media 
blogging, story-telling

• It will focus on the links between culture and the Belfast 
Agenda- our plan needs to reflect how culture plays an 
important part in wider city development

Monitoring and evaluation is central to the programme development and project management 
that will support the delivery of the cultural strategy, A City Imagining. The Belfast Agenda 
sets out clear outcomes and indicators. We propose to build on these foundations to design 
a plan that measures progress against our objectives and provides clear evidence of what 
works, as well as what does not work.

Goals and long-term impacts for A City Imagining
Cultural Social Economic

Our goal: 

C1: Strengthening our regional 
cultural network and building 
the cultural capacity of our 
citizens and of our cultural 
sector

Our goal: 

S1: Contributing to social cohesion and 
connectivity through cultural interventions

Our goals: 

E1: Supporting the inclusive growth agenda

The long-term impacts:

• Diverse and deeper cultural 
networks across the 
widest possible range of 
communities with European 
and international cultural 
collaborations that engage 
local communities 

• Strengthened capacity of 
citizens across demographic 
groups to engage and 
participate in contemporary 
cultural activity at local, 
regional and international 
level 

• A stronger and more 
sustainable cultural sector 

The long-term impacts:

• A positive recognition by our citizens 
of cultural diversity at local, regional, 
European and international level and 
the contribution this makes to an 
inclusive and connected city 

• Enhanced image and pride in the 
city by residents through trans-local 
connections 

• An autonomous cultural sector that 
develops the capacity of the sector and 
facilitates citizen engagement 

• A positive contribution to social 
inclusion through opportunities 
for greater social and economic 
engagement across all demographic 
groups

The long-term impacts:

• A better connected and more sustainable 
cultural and creative industries sector 
with more and better jobs 

• A significant cultural tourism sector 
based on enhanced visitor perceptions 
that are recognised internationally 

• A network of creative, digital and cultural 
connections linked to a fast-growing 
wider digital economy

Urban development impacts:

• Strong cultural policy 
embedded in city 
developments supporting 
citizen participation 
through local place-making 
strategies

Urban development impacts:

• Transformation of under-used public 
spaces into shared places with 
meaning associated with cultural 
participation

Urban development impacts:

• An interconnected and sustainable 
infrastructure of good quality cultural 
spaces across the city and the web

Section 6

Page 176



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

51

Proposed Approach
In advance of the implementation of the strategy 
commencing in April 2020 we will draw up a clearly 
articulated Evaluation Plan covering:

•  Model - objectives and indicators 
•  Function - body responsible 
•  Process - methodology and communication
•  Expertise 
•  Timetable 
•  Budget 

We envisage the following key milestones over the 
lifetime of the strategy with an initial focus on the first 
implementation phase:

Milestone Date

Appointment with terms of reference 
for external support in developing the 
evaluation plan

October 2019

Completion of evaluation plan December 2019

Completion of ‘ex-ante’ baseline 
evaluation

March 2020

Adjustment to evaluation plan and 
monitoring data requirements

April 2020

Start data mining and tracking April 2020

Completion of interim evaluation September 2021 

Review and adjustment to monitoring 
data requirements 

January 2022

Publish in depth phase one of 
evaluation

June 2022

Phase two estimations of impact September 2022

Delivery of evaluation report March 2024

Agree approach to phase 2 evaluation June 2024

We will set up a monitoring information system to track the 
agreed indicators. The monitoring system will be dynamic; 
quarterly reports will be shared with a panel of citizens, 
artists and businesses and will be used to adjust and 
tweak the programmes of activity so that they can be more 
effective. This would also be agreed with funders as part of 
the process.

We propose to use some innovative monitoring techniques 
to enhance the evaluation:

• a database of ‘stories’ of individuals and groups and 
their experience of programmes associated with the 
strategy such as At Home in 2023. This database will 
be used to bring the evaluation to life and can also be 
analysed for keywords as part of the evaluation

• geo-tracking and chip technology to track movements 
and interactions of participants in spaces, activities and 
events

• mobile phone apps that allow real time interaction with 
participants used as part of the cultural interaction 
during an event and also stored for evaluation

In addition to the cultural, social and economic indicators 
outlined we will also include governance arrangements in 
the evaluation plan and monitoring framework. This would 
cover monitoring of:

• representativeness of governance
• reporting arrangements to funders
• openness and transparency
• efficiency and effectiveness of decision making

Page 177



A City Imagining

52

Methodology and measurement
This table provides examples of how certain goals will be measured and includes indicative indicators. This is an illustration of 
the methodology to be adopted. A full framework will be developed as part of the evaluation plan. 

Overall goal: Exploring through regional collaboration on culture the sense of belonging and multiple 
identity in a European context in order to contribute to peace-building and social and economic 
progress in the city and wider region
Cultural Social Economic

C1: Strengthening our regional 
cultural network and building 
the cultural capacity of our 
citizens and of our cultural 
sector

S1: Contributing to social cohesion 
and connectivity through cultural 
interventions

E1: Supporting the inclusive growth 
agenda

Citizen awareness and 
appreciation of cultural diversity

Number of active volunteers National/international recognition of Belfast 
as being culturally vibrant

Citizen sense of belonging to 
common cultural space

Number of underused public spaces 
brought into activity, including formerly 
contested spaces

Increase in employment and GVA in Belfast’s 
cultural, creative and tourism sector

Total number and value of 
events

Ranking of city/region as place to visit Estimated multiplier effects on other 
sectors e.g. transport, event management, 
marketing etc

Number of activities 
highlighting diversity

Views of citizens of city and region as place 
to live

Increase in tourist visits and volume of 
tourist revenues

Attendance at events Citizen and artist involvement in decision-
making

Volume and % of positive media coverage of 
Belfast

% of residents attending/
participating in events 

Number of cultural social enterprises Number of people trained in cultural and 
tourism activities

Development of strong 
cultural policy as part of city 
development and local place 
making strategies

Indicators of ‘belonging’ Number of creative entrepreneurs

Value of investment in cultural 
infrastructure and facilities

Perceptions of identity Ranking of Belfast as ‘creative city'

Awareness of cultural policy 
amongst citizens

Perceived safety and security in public 
spaces and buildings

Number of arts/business partnerships and 
value of investment in arts by business

Number of community/cultural 
partnerships and collaborations

Contribution to reduction in social and 
physical segregation and increased 
integration

Investment in digital platforms for culture

Number of international cultural 
collaborations

Indicators of mental health and wellbeing Number of cultural tourism initiatives 
including those that are community-led

Number of ‘maker spaces’ 
created for collaboration on 
cultural projects

Contribution to reduction in poverty and 
social exclusion

Investment in projects and infrastructure 
levered from outside Northern Ireland

Number of regional partnerships Levels of tolerance and openness to other 
cultures

Number of people who have heard of 
cultural flagship projects (e.g. At Home in 
2023)

Number of partnering 
organisations on island of 
Ireland and in other parts of UK

Levels of inter-personal trust

Number of cultural managers 
skilled at recognised level

Page 178



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030: Implementation Plans 2020-2023

53

Strategic Communications 

We will deliver a multi-channel communications plan 
designed to engage with audiences across the city, and 
position the city’s cultural and tourism offer regionally, 
nationally and internationally using both traditional 
platforms and social media.

Addressing the four year implementation period and 
delivering an action plan for each of the long-term cultural 
programmes, and large scale strategic programmes such 
as City of Music and At Home in 2023 - the communications 
plan will develop, and then embed the cultural strategy’s 
key messages across each project and programme. This 
consistency through all internal and corporate channels will 
ensure a clearly identifiable “tone of voice” associated with 
our city brand.

From launch we will aim to transmit our passion for 
the programme amongst a core group of influencers, 
journalists, media outlets, partners and cultural 

ambassadors to create energy around a new “movement”. 
Through online content, planned media coverage and direct 
marketing we will seek to engage the citizens of the city 
during each strategic project, recruiting “participation” from 
new collaborators; and building on the positive engagement 
already undertaken through the strategy’s consultation 
process. 

Each project will have an identified target audience 
designed to widen our reach year on year build and 
momentum and awareness through and across each 
programme or project. Whilst traditional metrics such as 
coverage and ad-value will continue to be measured, we will 
also assess sentiment, engagement and reach - and seek 
partnerships using new technology, personalising content to 
best attract new and existing audiences, and engage them 
in the cultural programme.

A Strategic Communications Plan will be developed to support the delivery of the cultural 
strategy. 

Reach

Engagement

Participation

Movement

Reach - a connection with audiences

• Algorithmic targeting to reach audiences online 
through social media and other platforms

• Traditional print and broadcast media coverage in UK, 
Ireland, Europe and internationally

• Placed advertising media, billboards and outdoor 
marketing across Belfast, the region, UK and Ireland

Engagement - an exchange or connection

• Person-centred content and placed-based content 
using methods such as augmented reality

• Network events to engage our local and international 
partners

• Video and visual-based driven communication 
content and real-time responses

Participation - involvement in a programme or 
event 

• Co-design of projects and initiatives
• Peer-to-Peer meet-ups, and business-to-business 

events

Movement - an awakening of civic energy

• Recruit cultural ambassadors and digital content 
creators to deliver marketing and online content 
across UK, Ireland, Europe and beyond.

•  Formation of ‘civic forum’ to shape and communicate 
key messages

Section 7

Page 179



A City Imagining

54

Next steps

This is only the start. In the coming months we will continue 
to engage with people across the city and beyond to refine 
and develop these plans. In March 2020 we will bring back a 
final set of actions in advance of the strategy becoming fully 
operational from April 2020. 

Belfast is ready...

These draft implementation plans are designed to set out the level of commitment, resource 
and partnership working required to deliver the new cultural strategy for Belfast, A City 
Imagining. Their purpose is to prepare us for the work that lies ahead. They also demonstrate 
the value of the public consultation process as we have taken on board this extensive 
feedback and allowed it to shape proposals. 

Page 180



Page 181



B
C

C
 0

455

culture@belfastcity.gov.uk

028 9050 0543

@belfastcc

@belfastcitycouncil

Belfast City Council
Page 182



A cIty 
ImaGinIng

Cultural Strategy for 
Belfast 2020 - 2030

Draft 
Our approach to 
investing in  
culture in BelfastPage 183



A City Imagining

2

The context
A City Imagining 
A City Imagining, the city’s draft cultural strategy 2020-30, has 
been developed in partnership with the people of Belfast and 
places culture and creativity at the heart of civic development. 
Outward-looking, forward-facing, innovative and inclusive, it 
recognises the impact culture has on:

• Cohesion and permeability
• Identity and confidence
• Attracting investment
• Retaining talent

There are four themes within the draft strategy: 

1. A City Belonging (active participation): Priorities under this 
theme will support citizens to be active agents of change 
and co-creators of cultural activity. 

2. A City Challenging (diversity): Priorities under this theme 
will aspire to cultivate creative environments for dynamic 
co-creation and synergy in our place-making.

3. A City Creating (new approaches): Priorities under this 
theme will facilitate and explore new ways of working, taking 
more risks and helping artists to have more autonomy to 
engage with citizens in new and creative ways. 

4. A City Exploring (our place in the world): Priorities under 
this theme will sustain and strengthen the city’s cultural 
ecosystem. 

The draft strategy also identifies a number of strategic, 
milestone projects including At Home in 2023, the Destination 
Hub, UNESCO City of Music and a new approach to events and 
festivals. 

To support the delivery of A City Imagining, the Council 
is developing cross-cutting implementation plans, a 
communications plan, an evaluation framework and an 
investment model. 

The Investment Model 
“This investment approach takes the long view required to 
deliver transformation for the city. It recognises that the first 
priority must be to invest in a healthy cultural ecosystem.”

The aims of the investment model are set down in the draft 
strategy: 

• Support the cultural life of the city by enabling our citizens to 
be active, dynamic and creative agents of change.

• Invest in our cultural and creative sectors to develop the 
skills and capacity for production and innovation.

• Position Belfast as an international testing ground for new 
approaches to cultural engagement, development and 
place-making.

• Establish Belfast as a cultural destination.

There are also four published investment priorities: 

• Anchor: support the cultural infrastructure for a thriving 
cultural ecosystem. 

• Activate: empower civic and sectoral engagement, skills and 
capacity building in order to support inclusive growth. 

• Experiment: facilitate innovation, catalyst projects and new 
ideas.

• Open: support outward-facing opportunities, including 
marketing and international cooperation. 

The Belfast Agenda 
The Belfast agenda’s vision for 2035 is: 

A city re-imagined and resurgent. A great place to live and 
work for everyone. Beautiful, well connected and culturally 
vibrant […] offering opportunities for everyone. A confident 
and successful city energising a dynamic and prosperous city 
region. A magnet for talent and business and admired around 
the world. A city people dream to visit.

Participation in sports activities, participation in arts and 
engagement in cultural activities are direct indicators of 
Belfast Agenda outcomes 3 and 5: 

• Everyone in Belfast fulfils their potential.

• Belfast is a vibrant, attractive, connected and 
environmentally sustainable city.

There are a number of other indicators and outcomes that 
cultural development and the implementation of A City 
Imagining in particular, can contribute to, including: 

• City competitiveness 
• Jobs and earnings 
• Visitor numbers and spend 
• Proportion of people who agree that people from different 

backgrounds get on well together and who believe their 
cultural identity is respected by society

• Educational attainment 
• Volunteering 
• Self-efficacy 
• Satisfaction with Belfast as a place to live

An immediate priority for the city is inclusive growth. This is 
about cultural and social as well as economic conditions: “It is 
also about making sure that people have the best life chances 
and the best living experience no matter where they are born or 
live in Belfast”. 

Like the Belfast Agenda, A City Imagining was built on the 
ethos of community planning: its rights-based approach 
to inclusive engagement places people at its heart; and the 
investment model will be achieved by better partnership 
working with the city’s different agencies, organisations, 
groups and communities. 

This report imaginatively re-interprets the strategic priorities 
of A City Imagining and proposes a new, four-year investment 
model (2020/21 to 2023/24) to deliver cultural transformation 
for the city. 

Page 184



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030:  Investment Model

3

Core Multi-annual Funding 
One of the key innovations under the Cultural Framework 
was the migration of all strategic grants to three- to four-year 
funding contracts. This created a portfolio of 56 core multi-
annually funded (CMAF) arts and heritage organisations. 
Individual grants ranged from £10,000 to £150,000 per year. 
The total annual budget peaked at just under £1.5 million per 
year. 

An internal review of CMAF from 2016 to 2018 found that: 

• Funded organisations achieved 92 per cent of their audience 
targets; 90 per cent of their participation targets; and 90 per 
cent of their projected income.

• 552,738 people participated in workshops, classes and 
other activities put on by our funded organisations.

• 8,093,929 people came to shows, events and other activity 
put on by CMAF organisations. 

• Investment helped to support, on average, 294 jobs per year, 
and create a total of 26,166 employment opportunities for 
artists. 

However, it also found evidence that: 

• There should be more segmentation of funding based on 
strategic priorities. 

• Core multi-annual funding can restrict innovation, sectoral 
development and cultural practice. 

Arts and Heritage Project Fund
The Arts and Heritage Project Fund (AHPF) opens biannually 
for projects that support the Cultural framework themes. The 
maximum grant available is £10,000, and the annual budget is 
£160,000. 

An independent evaluation of Belfast City Council’s small 
grants by Community Evaluation NI found that AHPF delivers 
effectively on attracting audiences, providing a range of arts 
and supporting artists. However, project efficacy could be 
improved by focusing on outcomes, not themes. 

Community Festivals Fund
The Council also operates the community festivals fund (CFF) 
on behalf of the Department for Communities (DfC). DfC 
provides c.£75,000 per year to the Council on condition that 
the Council provides match funding. This means that £150,000 
is invested in community festivals each year. However, the 
Council has limited control over the fund’s purpose, impact 
and design, and in the context of a new cultural strategy, it 
may be an opportunity cost. A 2017 independent evaluation 
found that CFF provides benefit by enabling communities to 
celebrate their own culture, but: 

• There is a tension between the criteria regarding innovation 
and quality art, and the desire to create sustainability and 
community engagement in festival design and delivery. This 
is reflected in the funding of two types of festivals, those 
driven by the community using a range of arts and those 
organised by festival arts organisations that seek to engage 
the community.

• There could be better demonstration of how funding is 
improving community ownership of larger festivals or 
how capacity building could support both innovation and 
community led design. 

Current investment model 

Creative and Cultural Belfast 
Between 2012 and 2016, Belfast City Council in partnership with 
the Arts Council of Northern Ireland (ACNI) ran the Creative and 
Cultural Belfast programme, a large project fund which invested 
£900,000 in seven arts and heritage projects. As well as being 
the largest project grants awarded by Belfast City Council, this 
marked a change in the Council’s fund management as officers 
had a more active role as project partners than the traditional 
hands-off funder-fundee relationship. 

Resilience 
Again in partnership with ACNI, in 2018 the council developed 
the £600,000 Resilience organisational development 
programme, which benefited 14 large organisations (that is, 
with turnover in excess of £400,000). This programme was 
innovative with cash funding as a secondary benefit (£25,000 
per organisation). All participating organisations took part 
in a tailored package of support including organisational 
diagnostics, mentoring and training. 

City Events Programme 
The Council’s City Events Unit (CEU) manages an annual 
programme of events. The events are delivered five ways:

1. Events programmed and produced by CEU, such as the 
Maritime Festival, Halloween Monster Mash and Christmas 
Lights Switch-on.

2. Supporting partners in bring events that are likely to generate 
significant economic impact. Historically, these have been 
sporting events, such as the 2017 Women’s Rugby World Cup, 
UEFA Women’s U19 Euros and IAAF World 24-hour race.

3. CEU also regularly bids to attract major events to the city, 
such as the 2015 Tall Ships Races and MTV Europe Music 
Awards in 2011, and then delivers this activity in partnership 
with key city partners.

4. Support for Sport (SfS) project funding for sports events. 
The maximum grant available is £10,000 per event, and the 
annual budget is c.£60,000.

5. Currently CEU directly supports the Belfast City Marathon 
Limited, which was originally established by the Council.  
However, it has been agreed that this arrangement will cease 
by the end of the 2023/24 financial year.

Festivals and Events review 
In 2017/18, Festivals and Events International (FEI) was 
commissioned to review Belfast’s festivals and events product 
and make recommendations to help Belfast become an events 
destination - that is, a city with an international reputation 
for world-class events and festivals that attract visitors from 
around the world. 

FEI identified nine council funding schemes that support 
festivals and events, generating 315 separate funding 
agreements in 2016/17. 

Overall, FEI considered that while small “local” and 
“neighbourhood” festivals and events are valuable in terms of 
social capital, however investment is needed to increase the 
number of large “growth” and “signature” festivals and events 
that have the capacity to support inclusive economic growth. 

In October 2012, Belfast City Council launched the Cultural framework for Belfast 2012-15. The strategy was 
subsequently reviewed and extended until 2020. 

Page 185



A City Imagining

4

The investment model 
The following diagram summarises the different components of the investment model.

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

Community planning 
partnerships

City  
compact

Other  
stakeholders

Joint commissions 
and initiatives

Please note - we are seeking approval to proceed with Multi-Annual Grants in October 2019.  
All other programmes are subject to further resource and/or feasibility 

BridGinG 
tHE change 

2019/20

sustain 
programME

legacy 
project 
funding

oPEn 
grants 
2021/22

Page 186



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030:  Investment Model

5

The process model 
The following diagram shows how the grant-giving components will be administered. 

Investment model

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

Multi-annual 
grants 

annual  
grants

Project  
funding 

alternative 
investment

Arts, Heritage, 
Festivals and 
Events Project 
Grants 

Legacy Project 
Funding

Experiment  
(2021/22 to 2023/24)

Infrastructure 

Central resourcing 

Microfinancing 

Support for heritage

Competition

Joint commissions 
and initiatives

Festivals and 
Events Project 
MAG

Open  
(2021/22 to 2022/23)

Imagine 4-year MAG

Activate 2-year MAG

Arts and Heritage 
Strategic  
MAG

Anchor 4-year MAG

Enable 2-year MAG

iMagineanchor

enaBLE activate

oPEn

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

Page 187



A City Imagining

6

What difference it will make?
Traditionally, funders and funding recipients have focused on inputs and outputs. In keeping with public policy in general and the 
Belfast Agenda in particular, the investment model is concerned with the delivery of outcomes - that is the difference it will make 
to cultural organisations and the cultural sector, the beneficiaries of their programmes (including volunteers, audiences and 
participants) and the cultural social and economic return for the city. 

The council intends to develop an evaluation framework to evidence the outcomes of A City Imagining and its investment model. 

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

The investment model

The cultural sector

Cultural transformation

Organisations 

Residents 

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

Page 188



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030:  Investment Model

7

There are two strands of multi-annual grants (MAGs) 
available, that is grants for: 

1. Festivals and events with an audience of more than 10,000. 

2. Arts and heritage organisations with a year-round 
programme of activity. 

There are also two tiers of investment available: two- and four-
year. 

Grants available 
The following table outlines the number and value of available grants. 

Multi-annual Grants 

Scheme Total annual 
investment

Minimum 
organisation 
turnover

Minimum 
grant

Maximum 
grant

Estimated 
average grant

Estimated 
number of 
grants 

Imagine £600,000 £300,000 £50,001 £250,000 or 
25% of turnover

£160,000 3-4

Activate £360,000 £50,000 £10,000 £50,000 or 25% 
of turnover

£46,000 12

Anchor £850,000 £300,000 £30,001 £150,000 or 10% 
turnover

£124,000 7

Enable £500,000 £100,000 £10,000 £30,000 or 10% 
of turnover

£29,500 17

Multi-annual 
grants 

Festivals and 
Events Project 
MAG

Imagine 4-year MAG

Activate 2-year MAG

Arts and Heritage 
Strategic  
MAG

Anchor 4-year MAG

Sustain 2-year MAG

iMagineanchor

sustain activate

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

Page 189



A City Imagining

8

Who can apply?
Cultural activity is defined widely in keeping with A City 
Imagining. It can include arts, heritage, architecture, sport, 
food, language, customs, traditions and ideas.

Arts and Heritage MAGs
Arts and heritage MAGs are designed to help sustain our 
existing cultural offer. They are open to organisations that have 
a recurrent, year-round programme of work and ongoing costs. 
This is not intended for short- or fixed-term projects or single or 
one-off events. 

Festivals and Events MAGs
A festival or event is an activity or a series of activities with 
a common theme that occurs on one day or over a period of 
several successive days.

Festivals and events MAGs are designed to develop large 
events and festivals that will help Belfast become an events 
destination. Applicants will have to demonstrate how they 
will grow their audience by the end of the contract period. 
This means that new festivals and events, and festivals with 
audiences less than 10,000 people, can still apply. 

Funding thresholds for festivals and events are more generous 
to encourage organisations to avail of the opportunity. They are 
also in keeping with FEI’s recommendations. 

This also means that the grants are higher risk. To mitigate 
this, spend will be restricted to budget lines agreed between 
the Council and the grant recipient; grant recipients will 
be appointed a relationship manager; performance will 
be carefully monitored; funding may be withheld, reduced 
or withdrawn if performance is unsatisfactory; and other 
conditions may be applied to funding agreements. 

Interdependencies
Organisations must only complete one application. This 
means that they cannot apply for both a Festivals and Events 
and Arts and Heritage Grant. 

Arts and heritage organisations that run or are planning a 
festival or event with an audience of 10,000 people or more 
must apply for a Festivals and Events Grant regardless of size 
of their programme of activity.

Organisations with two or more festivals or events of the 
eligible size (that is, an audience of 10,000 or more) may apply 
for more than one grant within the same application form. 

Applicants for four-year grants can choose to be automatically 
considered for a two-year grant if their four-year application 
is unsuccessful. They must complete additional questions to 
explain the changes they will have to make to their programme. 
They will then be considered for the maximum two-year 
grant (that is, £30,000 a year for arts and heritage; £50,000 
a year for festivals and events, though may still be awarded 
less). Revised targets then will be mutually agreed between 
the Council and the applicant before the funding contract is 
issued. 

Applicants that are eligible to apply for four-year funding may 
choose to apply for two year funding instead (for example, 
not all current festivals may have the capacity to become an 
Imagine festival). 

Organisations that run a single festival; a single festival with 
a year-round festival development/outreach programme; or 
a series of festivals without a substantial standalone arts or 
heritage programme; regardless of the size of those festivals, 
are not eligible for an Arts and Heritage MAG. 

An online eligibility quiz is being developed to help applicants 
navigate the different options available. An applicant will only 
be able to access the application form if the eligibility quiz 
deems them eligible for a particular strand or tier. 

Page 190



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030:  Investment Model

9

Grant-specific eligibility criteria 
The table below provides a detailed breakdown of the grant-specific eligibility criteria by strand and tier. 

Criteria Imagine Activate Anchor Enable 

Primary purpose of 
organisation (from 
your constitution) 

Culture Culture Arts or heritage Arts or heritage

Type of activity Festival or event Festival or event Year-round programme Year-round programme

Minimum annual 
turnover 

£300,000 average 
over the contract 
period (from 2020/21 to 
2023/24) 

£50,000 average over 
the contract period 
(from 2020/21 to 
2021/22)

£300,000 average 
over the previous two 
financial years (based 
on annual accounts) 

£100,000 average 
over the previous two 
financial years (based 
on annual accounts)

Staff Has or will employ in 
the first year of the 
grant (that is, 2020/21) 
at least 3 full time 
equivalent staff 

Has or will employ in 
the first year of the 
grant (that is, 2020/21) 
at least 1 full time 
equivalent staff

Has 3 full time 
equivalent staff 

Has 1 full time 
equivalent staff 

Planning Event business plan 
covering for the first 
year of the grant (that 
is, 2020)

Strategic plan up to at 
least 2023

Event business plan 
for the first year of the 
grant (2020)

Organisational 
business plan for the 
first year of the grant 
(2020)

Longer-term strategic 
plan 

Organisational 
business plan for the 
first year of the grant 
(2020)

Marketing Marketing plan up to at 
least 2023

Marketing plan for at 
least the first year of the 
grant (2020)

Marketing plan for at 
least the first year of the 
grant (2020)

Marketing plan for at 
least the first year of the 
grant (2020)

Partners Local, regional, 
international, media 
and cross-sectoral (that 
is, from outside the 
cultural sector) partners

Local and regional 
partners

Local, regional, 
international, media 
and cross-sectoral (that 
is, from outside the 
cultural sector) partners

Local and regional 
partners

Volunteers Minimum 40 per year Minimum 20 per year Minimum 20 per year Minimum 10 per year

Audience 65,000 by 2023 or a 
10 per cent increase 
each year, whichever is 
greater

10,000 by 2022 or a 
5 per cent increase 
each year, whichever is 
greater

Minimum 50,000 per 
year from 2018/19 to 
2021/22 

No minimum 
requirement

Visitors 25 per cent of audience 
from outside Belfast 
including a target for 
visitors from outside NI

20 per cent of audience 
from outside Belfast 
including a target for 
visitors from outside NI

No minimum 
requirement

No minimum 
requirement

This is in addition to the Council’s standard eligibility criteria, such as the organisation has an office in and operational focus in 
Belfast City Council local government district; is legally constituted and not-for-profit; is in good financial health. 

Page 191



A City Imagining

10

Quality criteria 
If an application is deemed eligible, it will be scored against the 
following criteria. 

Activate festivals and events should not be eligible to apply 
for Community Festivals Fund for the same festival or event, 
including ancillary activity. This is because Activate investees 
will have successfully secured ‘growth’ funding allowing 
the Community Festivals Fund to focus on supporting and 
enabling local neighbourhood festivals.

All other funding applied for should be for activity that is clearly 
additional to that supported through CMAGs. Depending 
on the outcome of the ongoing Review of Grants and any 
other changes in policy, the Council should reserve the right 
to exclude CMAG recipients from applying for other Council 
grants or to prioritise applications from applicants not in 
receipt of a cultural multi-annual grant.

The Place and Economy Department will continue to work with 
colleagues across the Council to consider interdependencies, 
reduce duplication and streamline funding.

Engagement 
Following on from the substantial engagement with the 
sector to develop A City Imagining, there will be information 
and engagement sessions both before applications open in 
August-September and post-opening in October 2019.

Engagement will focus on guiding applicants towards the 
most appropriate strand and tier and supporting festivals and 
events to avail of the opportunity. Particular consideration will 
be given to engaging with those groups of organisations least 
likely to benefit from MAGs by providing assurance of their 
value within the ecosystem, as well as informing them of other 
opportunities being developed as part of the new investment 
model. 

Programme delivery 
It is recommended that: 

1. All CMAG investees are appointed a dedicated relationship 
manager. The relationship manager will act as a single point 
of contact between the organisation and the Council. 

2. Relationship managers for Imagine and Activate 
investees should support the delivery of the festival or 
event (while ensuring that all liabilities remain with the 
organisation). Support required will vary depending on the 
event and organisation: this should be agreed between 
the organisation and the relationship manager as soon 
as possible after project initiation. It is likely that this will 
include regular project meetings. 

3. Anchor and Enable relationship managers must have at 
least one formal meeting with their clients per year. 

4. CMAG relationship managers should meet regularly to 
share knowledge and learning and explore opportunities to 
collaborate. 

5. The Council should map and streamline communications 
with relevant external interfaces, such as the City Compact, 
Events Advisory Panel, Visit Belfast and so on. 

6. The Council should provide centralised support where there 
is a strategic risk (for example, limited evidence of impact or 
poor cash flow management) or opportunity (for example, 
experiential cluster marketing) based on intelligence from 
the relationship managers and other sources, such as 
the Resilience Programme and SWOT analysis of CMAG 
applications. 

Applications must score at least 65 per cent overall to be 
considered for investment. 

Even if an application scores 65 or over, this is not a guarantee 
of funding as this scheme is expected to be very competitive, 
and the funding threshold will depend on demand, quality of 
applications and resources available.

Additionality 
In keeping with FEI recommendations, Imagine MAG 
investment should be a single settlement figure. This means 
that Imagine investees should not be eligible to apply for 
other Council funding for the same festival or event, including 
ancillary activity such as outreach or audience development. 
(Imagine organisations may not apply for funding for additional 
festivals and events or their annual programme.) 

Criteria Weighting 
%

Quality of programme

30

Vision

Quality of content 

Quality of audience experience 

Marketing 

Impact of activity
40

Note: 
applicants 
must score 
75 per cent 
or over (that 
is, 30 marks 
or more) in 
this section 
to be 
eligible for a 
MAG

Targets

Contribution to: 

A City Belonging  
(impact on people) 

A City Challenging  
(impact on place) 

A City Creating  
(impact on sector)

A City Exploring  
(impact on worldview/our place in the world)

Monitoring and evaluating impact

Readiness for investment 

30

Planning

Financial management

Governance

Skills

Environmental impact 

Page 192



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030:  Investment Model

11

7. Before the grant contract is released, Imagine and Enable 
investees must confirm which budget lines they will spend 
the Council’s investment against. This is in keeping with 
project funding practice, manages risk and minimises the 
issue of Council subvention being spent on commercially 
viable performers or other activity. (Arts and heritage 
investment will remain unrestricted as per CMAF previously.) 

8. Performance of Imagine and Activate festivals should be 
independently verifiable. The Council should work with 
other agencies, in particular Tourism NI, to agree a common 
monitoring framework and tools to measure economic 
impact. 

9. Imagine and Activate festivals that consistently 
underperform (force majeure allowing) should be penalised. 
While the Council should develop a framework within which 
penalties can be applied (for example, by minimum and 
maximum penalties, extenuating circumstances), this 
should also be agreed in discussion with the investee. 

10. The Council should develop a reserves policy in anticipation 
that some festivals and events may generate surplus 
income. 

Project funding 

Legacy Project Funding 
It is proposed that in order to minimise other change alongside 
the implementation of CMAG and to maintain familiar 
opportunities for those organisations exiting the CMAF 
portfolio, project funding (that is CFF, AHPF and SfS) remains 
substantially unchanged in 2020/21. 

There will be two amendments: 

1. In AHPF, the four themes from the Cultural framework 
(Distinctly Belfast, Inspiring Communities, Attracting 
Audiences and Strengthening the Sector) will be replaced 
with the four themes from A City Imagining (A City Belonging, 
A City Challenging, A City Creating and A City Exploring). 

2. Imagine and Activate festivals should be ineligible from 
applying to CFF. 

It is then recommended that in 2021/22: 

• CFF transfers to City and Neighbourhoods. This is in keeping 
with the FEI recommendation and outcomes-focused 
funding best practice, providing separation between 
festivals with a primarily social purpose and festivals with a 
significant economic return, while levelling the playing field 
for applicants from the community sector.

• AHPF and SfS are amalgamated as Open grants (see Open 
grants section below). 

• Experiment grants - themed funding for bespoke projects or 
programme enhancements - are introduced. 

Experiment Grants 
The purpose of Experiment grants is to support work that 
contributes to A City Imagining, but does not commonly occur 
in Belfast. As it is therefore essential that this investment is 
both focused and reflexive, Experiment projects should be 
commissioned biannually around a theme or provocation. 

A number of potential themes can already be identified in A 
City Imagining and by gap analysis of the anticipated impact 
of CMAG. These include the environment, technology, heritage, 
meanwhile use and creation of “extraordinary ordinary space”. 
Gaps may change or further emerge after CMAG is awarded. 

Experiment grants may also support new work or 
enhancements to existing work themed around A City 
Imagining’s strategic projects, such as Listening in, At home, 
Looking out or Obviously Belfast. 

So that fundraising is not detrimental to experimentation, it 
is recommended that any requirement to lever funding from 
other sources in minimal. However, to allow Enable, Activate 
and Anchor investees to experiment while ensuring maximum 
additionality, no public sector core funding (including CMAG 
and ACNI annual funding) can be used as match. 

It is recommended that the Experiment themes are mapped 
and prioritised in consultation with the City Compact. 

Implementation of Experiment grants should be incremental 
with the view that, if successful, Experiment grants will have 
phased out open grants by the end of 2023/24. Consideration 
should then be given under the next investment model to 
larger, longer-term project investment that would allow 
successful Experiment projects to be repeated, developed or 
main streamed. 

This investment model strand may also be a vehicle for to 
deliver shared outcomes in partnership with other public 
sector agencies, for example, arts and health, sport and 
criminal justice or food and good relations. 

To this end, Experiment grants should have an annual theme 
or priorities overlying the basic OPG criteria. This might be 
thematic, such as “Listening in” or “At home”; it could be 
activity-based, such as digital arts, animation of “extraordinary 
ordinary spaces” or international work; it could be outcomes-
focused, such as art with an environmental impact; or some 
combination of the three.

Multi-annual 
grants 

Project Funding

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

Legacy Project 
Funding

Experiment  
(from 2021/22)

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

Page 193



A City Imagining

12

Open Grants 
Open grants are an interim measure intended to support 
organisations exiting out of CMAF and the transition from 
Legacy to Experiment project funding. 

From 2021/22 to 2022/23, Open will replace the biannual SfS 
and AHPF with an annual call for funding for one-off projects 
and annual programmes in any cultural discipline (however, the 
interface with sports development, which is funded through 
City and Neighbourhoods, requires further consideration) are 
based on the current AHPF. 

Applicants will be required to demonstrate their impact 
against one A City Imagining theme (compared to CMAG, 
where organisations must demonstrate impact against all four 
themes). 

As detailed above (see Experiment grants), it is intended that 
Open grants are phased out in their entirety by 2023/24. 

Annual grants

Arts, heritage, 
festivals and events 

project grants 

2 yeAr

The Investment Model
(sustaining the cultural ecosystem)

Enable 
MAG

4 yeAr
Anchor 

MAG

Commissioned 
on need

Makespaces

Other Capital
Programmes

(what we already have)

ANchOr 

Annual Programme infrastructure Central Resourcing

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

4 yeAr

Arts and Heritage
Multi Annual Grants

Year 1, e.g. 
The environment 

Year 2, e.g. 
Listening in  

Microfinancing

Competition

Year 3, e.g. 
Home 

Experiment
(annually themed 

enhancements)

Support for 
Heritage

(where we want to be)

ImaGinE 

An events 
destination

Festivals and 
events MAGs

2 yeAr
Activate 

MAG

Imagine  
MAG

Alternative 
investment models

annual  
grants 

Open  
(2021/22 to 2023/24)

oPEn

Page 194



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030:  Investment Model

13

Alternative investment 

Infrastructure 
As the city rapidly develops, creating more infrastructure for 
people to work in and live in the city, land is an increasingly 
valuable commodity. This means that some cultural 
organisations have had to move out of their existing premises. 
Other organisations are in premises that are not fit for purpose, 
whether due to organisational growth or building maintenance, 
but have limited opportunity to move. 

Makespaces 
Visual artists are essential to the city’s cultural ecosystem. 
However, artist studios have historically struggled to access 
funding. This is because studios generally support individual 
artists in their own practice, which cannot be described as a 
programme or project, the usual premise of funding. 

It is recommended that the Council develops a scheme to 
support visual artist workspaces. Other schemes globally have 
adopted different approaches to supporting artist workspaces, 
including harnessing bulk-buying power in relation to utilities; 
technical support to secure long-term or below-market leases; 
technical or financial support for capital purchases; meanwhile 
use; residencies or shared space in public (central and local 
government-owned, libraries, schools, colleges and so on) or 
private facilities (such as offices, shopping centres, vacant 
buildings and new developments); subsidised rents; and 
alternative operating models. 

While the need to support workspace for visual artists has 
been evidenced, the Council should also consider the need 
to support other cultural makers. The council should also 
seek opportunities to learn from and work with other sectors 
and subsectors that have successfully developed shared 
workspaces, such as the creative industries, hackerspaces 
and fab labs. This would have the additional benefit of cross-
sectoral knowledge sharing and collaboration. 

In scoping its options, the Council should carefully consider 
applicability to the city’s particular ecosystem and any 
potential disbenefits of intervention (see Other capitalisation 
section below). 

Any scheme should be developed in consultation with the 
sector and in partnership with ACNI, which has a remit to 
directly support individual artists, and relevant resource 
organisations, such as Craft NI. 

The partnership should also consider how best to support the 
capacity of makers and the market to increase opportunities 
for earned income. 

Other capitalisation 
Under the current Cultural Framework’s Strengthening the 
Sector, the Council supported a number of requests for funding 
to develop business cases, economic appraisals and feasibility 
studies to help arts organisations purchase their own 
premises. Few of these organisations have now purchased 
a premise, although some have been able to secure longer-
term or more fit-for-purpose tenure. (Prior to 2012, of course, a 
sizeable number of arts organisations, such as the MAC, Lyric 
and Youth Action, did open new, purpose-built premises.) 

Capitalisation projects are usually undertaken with the aim 
that the organisation becomes more sustainable. However, it 
should be noted that there is little evidence that capitalisation 
achieves this, and some evidence that capitalisation makes 
organisations more reliant on public subsidy. 

While it is likely that the Council will continue to be asked to 
invest in capitalisation, it is recommended that a framework 
is put In place to assure the quality of the output. It should 
also consider alternatives to cash finance, such as technical 
support. If capitalisation is supported or funded, consideration 
should be given to the evaluation of non-economic indicators 
of sustainability balanced against the risk of disbenefits such 
as increased reliance on public sector funding. 

Central resourcing
Resource organisations provide advice and guidance to other 
organisations, either clustered around cultural practice (such 
as dance, theatre or minority language) or business function 
(such as marketing, volunteering or fundraising). Because 
these organisations do not work directly with the public, it 
can be difficult to demonstrate impact on par with more 
frontline organisations when applying for funding: no resource 
organisations were funded through CMAF. However, they can in 
themselves be a form of subvention by providing valuable and 
cost-effective support services to the cultural sector. 

Arts and heritage resource organisations can apply for legacy 
project funding, and Open funding may extend this option 
to other cultural sectors. Resource organisations are more 
likely to be successful under these schemes as they require 
a concentrated, rather than broad impact (for example, 
Strengthening the Sector or A City Creating). 

ACNI’s draft five-year strategy, Inspire, Connect, Lead, also 
includes an objective to “invest I resource organisations to 
support practitioners through the creation of networks and the 
provision of training and professional development”. 

Rather than directly investing in these organisations, it is 
recommended that the Council tenders for specialist support 
services based on the needs of the cultural sector. This should 
include the tendering for the provision of centralised support to 
the CMAG portfolio (see Programme delivery section above). 

Joint commissions 
and initiatives

CompetitionMicrofinancing Support for  
heritage

Central  
resourcing 

Infrastructure 

alternative investment

Page 195



A City Imagining

14

Support for heritage 
Organisations that have the primary purpose of promoting or 
conserving heritage have historically been underrepresented 
both in terms of applications made to and money invested 
through strategic grants. By comparison, heritage activity has 
been relatively well serviced through project funding, which will 
continue under this investment model, including with an option 
to prioritise heritage under Experiment grants. 

However, supporting discrete heritage projects is not a 
substitute for supporting the sector. It is recommended that 
the Council develops a programme of support for the heritage 
sector to help ready key organisations for strategic investment. 

Microfinancing 
The NI code of practice for reducing bureaucracy in grant 
funding to the voluntary and community sector sets down a 
number of light-touch principles to allow for microfinancing, 
that is grants under £1,500. This may be a useful mechanism 
to support study visits, forums, networking, partnerships and 
such ad hoc opportunities that build international cultural 
relations and contribute to A City Exploring. 

Micro-financed Participatory Budgeting - that is where 
residents decide on which projects to invest in - could also 
be piloted as an alternative mechanism to develop active 
citizenship under A City Belonging. 

Competition 
Competition as a form of investment is often overlooked. It 
is particularly applicable to supporting individual cultural 
practitioners. It can be practical, such as a city historian or 
civic artist-in-residence; it can be honorific, akin to freedom of 
the city; or it can be cash, such as the Dublin Literary Award. 
Such competitions can also generate substantial publicity for 
the sponsoring city. 

Joint commissions and collaborative 
initiatives 
The Council has already adopted the Cultural Cities Enquiry’s 
City Compact recommendation. The City Compact will bring 
together like minded people and institutions to support 
the implementation of the strategy and lever additional 
investment, including for joint commissions and other 
collaborative initiatives. 

It is recommended that the City Compact considers its 
relationship to the community planning partnerships to ensure 
that culture is integral in to all community planning outcomes 
and create additional investment opportunities. 

The City Compact should also consider the recommendations 
made in the Cultural Cities Enquiry to increase spending on 
culture, namely: 

1. Enterprise development partnerships 
2. Contactless donations 
3. Corporate social venture funds 
4. Tax reliefs 
5. BIDs+ model and tourist levy 

Page 196



Cultural Strategy for Belfast 2020 - 2030:  Investment Model

15

Bridging the change

While the sector was substantively supportive of proposals for 
changes in investment during the consultation process for A 
City Imagining, it is inevitable that some organisations will be 
negatively affected by the move from CMAF to CMAG. Notably, 
where the CMAF portfolio comprised 56 organisations, CMAG 
will likely comprise of a lower number.. The CMAF portfolio also 
includes a small number of organisations with a turnover less 
than £100,000 that will not be eligible to apply for CMAG. 

While CMAF made a relatively small contribution to 
organisations’ income at an average of 4 per cent between 
2012 and 2016, the average grant over the same period was 

Sustain 
The purpose of the Sustain programme is to assist 
organisations exiting out of the current CMAF portfolio, which 
will affect an estimated 20 organisations. It is recommended 
that Sustain comprises two strands. 

1. Technical assistance which can be procured on behalf of 
an organisation to assist with an immediate issue, such as 
financial planning or options appraisal in response to the 
absence of core funding. 

£26,400, which could equate to an annual salary. For some 
organisations, such as small organisations or artforms with 
less opportunity to earn income, such as community or 
disability arts, the proportion of income made up by CMAF is 
likely to be higher. However, new CMAF applicants in 2016 were 
advised to use 8 per cent of income as a benchmark of the 
amount of funding they should apply for. 

To mitigate any negative impact of the proposed changes, it is 
recommended that the full investment model is introduced in 
phases as outlined below. 

2. Funding to support organisational development and 
innovation. Based on Arts Council England’s OD Thrive 
programme, this could include support for: 

a. Networks: groups trying to form deeper relationships 
and collaborations and develop their co-design and co-
production ethos 

b. Aggregations: projects seeking to aggregate two or 
more organisations 

c. Individual organisations: undertaking organisational 
development on themselves 

Funding thresholds should be set based on the funding deficit 
capped at Council procurement and grant ceilings. 

Year CMAG Sustain Annual and project 
funding 

Alternative investment 

2020/21 CMAG investment 
allocated 

Programme to support 
organisations exiting the 
CMAF portfolio

Imagine investees 
ineligible to apply; Activate 
investees ineligible to 
apply to CFF; no other 
changes to legacy project 
funding 

2021/22 Applications for two-year 
CMAG re-open 

CFF transferred to City 
and Neighbourhoods; 
AHPF and SfS 
amalgamate as Open 
Grants to support projects 
and annual programmes; 
pilot Experiment grants. 

New investment rolled out 
subject to need, feasibility 
and resource 

2022/23 CMAG two-year 
investment allocated 

Open and Experiment 
with Experiment budget 
increased (subject to pilot) 

New investment rolled out 
subject need, feasibility 
and resource

2023/24 CMAG contracts end; 
review and revise scheme 

Last year of Open funding; 
Experiment budget 
maximised 

New investment rolled out 
subject need, feasibility 
and resource

BridGinG 
tHE change 

2019/20

sustain 
programME

legacy 
project 
funding

oPEn 
grants 
2021/22

Page 197



B
C

C
 0

50
2

culture@belfastcity.gov.uk

028 9050 0543

@belfastcc

@belfastcitycouncil

Belfast City Council
Page 198



Draft Equality Assessment  April 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 199



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

2 

Access to Information Statement 

This document has been developed in Arial 12 point with 1.5 spacing.  As part of 

our commitment to promoting equality of opportunity and good relations, we want 

to make sure that everyone is able to access the documents we produce.  We 

are happy to provide any of the information in this document in alternative 

formats on request.  

 

Overview and Executive Summary 

As part of the development of the Council’s Cultural Strategy A City Imagining 

2020-2030, Belfast City Council carried out an Equality Impact Assessment 

(EQIA) at a strategic level to ensure these obligations were met to the fullest 

possible extent and that the promotion of equality of opportunity was at the core 

of the Programme. This was undertaken at the same time as the development of 

the Cultural Strategy, so that the EQIA could help inform the development of the 

strategy and influence the investment and implementation programme to 

maximise the potential for positive impacts.   

 

The Cultural Strategy has four key strategic themes that recognise and nurture 

the role of culture through four spheres: 

A City Belonging – focuses on supporting active citizenship and participation in 

cultural life. 

A City Challenging – focuses on diversity through use of public and cultural 

spaces. 

A City Creating – focuses on supporting innovation and creativity across the 

cultural sectors. 

A City Exploring – focuses on Belfast’s relationship to the rest of the world both 

inward and outward including support for cultural tourism. 

 

Further information on the themes and priorities is contained in section 2. The 

strategy document presents the overall approach and commitments over a ten 

Page 200



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

3 

year period. This will be supported by an additional body of work that will include 

the development of initial three year implementation plans that will specifically 

address the delivery of:  

 The priorities set out in the strategy 

 The strategic projects set out in the strategy 

 The proposed investment and governance model 

The implementation plans and the investment model that support the strategy will 

specifically address the need for targeted initiatives. These will be subject to 

relevant screening and/or equality impact assessments at an appropriate time 

when relevant information to conduct a full analysis is available.  

 

Following the 12 week public consultation process, a consultation report has 

been produced (www.belfastcity.gov.uk/culturalstrategy) and the equality 

assessment has been updated.  This will help inform the ongoing assessment 

and monitoring of equality implications as part of the ongoing development and 

delivery of the Cultural Strategy. Key issues emerging from the responses related 

to:  

 Developing a good evidence base to inform decision making, with annual 

research to develop our understanding on participation levels 

 Effective engagement and consultation  

 Ensuring that an inclusive and accessible approach to design and delivery 

 

  

Page 201



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

4 

  

Contents 

 

  Page 

1 Introduction 4 

2 Aims of the policy 9 

3 Analysis of available data and research 15 

4 Assessment of impacts 25 

5 

6 

Overall assessment of impacts  

Consideration of measures 

37 

38 

7 

 8 

 9 

Consultation  

Monitoring for adverse impacts 

Further steps 

39 

40 

41 

 Appendix A:  Belfast City Profile (by S75 category)  

   

Page 202



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

5 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Belfast City Council has developed a 10 year Cultural Strategy for Belfast 

-  A City Imagining -  and it was decided that a strategic level equality impact 

assessment should be undertaken, along with full consultation on the draft 

strategy. Following this period of public consultation; detailed implementation and 

investment plans will be put in place and will also be subject to appropriate 

equality assessments. 

 

1.2 This is a new strategic framework for the city and is set firmly within the 

context of the Belfast Agenda and Local Development Plan to create a vision and 

coherent framework for Belfast that will fully embed culture in the wider city 

agenda and to enable Belfast’s vision to be a ‘culturally vibrant city’.  The ten 

year Cultural Strategy for Belfast recognises that over the years, the Council has 

made a commitment to strengthening and promoting the cultural scene in Belfast.  

Significant steps have informed the development of the strategy; notably: 

 

(i)  Securing agreement on the first integrated cultural framework for the 

city in 2012.  This demonstrated the Council’s commitment and leadership 

in establishing a strong vision for the future cultural city.  Developed as a 

result of significant engagement and consultation with the cultural sector in 

the city, resulting in an agreed vision and action plans for the city.   The 

vision of the Cultural Framework is that: 

By 2020, everyone in Belfast experiences and is inspired by our 

city’s diverse and distinctive culture and arts. Arts and heritage are 

valued for enriching quality of life and creating wealth, and the 

city’s culture and creativity is recognised throughout the world. 

 

(ii)  Securing agreement for a bid for European Capital of Culture 2023 by 

Belfast in partnership with Derry City & Strabane District Council in 2017.  

This process was designed to enhance the city’s cultural vibrancy and 

strengthen the profile of Belfast as a culturally rich destination.  The 

Page 203



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

6 

development of the bid for European Capital of Culture generated 

significant interest and momentum; highlighting the potential economic 

and social impact of investing in cultural and creative development. 

 

1.3 Both the Cultural Framework 2012-2020 and the European Capital of 

Culture 2023 bid programmes have involved substantial developmental work.  

This includes a significant programme of engagement and consultation; including 

engagement with stakeholders, community, voluntary groups representing the 

arts, heritage, business and culture sectors as well as residents and government 

departments.  In addition there has been regular updates and briefings provided 

to Belfast City Council’s councillors, through the City Growth & Regeneration 

Committee and through party briefings to focus on the development of the 

strategy. 

 

1.4 The process of developing this new ten year Cultural Strategy has built on, 

and been informed by, this engagement and participation.  The Strategy will also 

be supported by Belfast City Council’s decision in 2018 to participate in the 

Agenda 21 for Culture - pilot cities programme.  This international programme 

supports the role of culture as an additional dimension, alongside the social, 

economic and evironmental dimensions, that are needed in order to deliver 

sustainable city development.  Participation in the pilot cities programme 

provides Belfast with a 2 year framework that highlights the distinct role of culture 

in policy and place-making.   More information on this international programme 

can be found at the following website: Agenda 21 for Culture. 

 

1.5 The Council have agreed that the Cultural Strategy will be developed in 

two phases: 

 First phase – Cultural Strategy vision and strategic priorities  

 Second phase – Cultural Strategy implementation plans and investment 

programmes 

Page 204

http://www.agenda21culture.net/documents/culture-21-actions


Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

7 

As a result it was agreed internally that the EQIA process would follow this 

approach: 

 Cultural Strategy Equality Assessment - at a strategic level to guide the 

development of the implementation plans and investment programme  

 Cultural Strategy implementation plans and investment programme would 

be subject to appropriate screening and assessment as required.  The 

issues identified at the strategic level will guide the development of the 

implementation and investment programmes. 

 

1.7 The purpose of this Equality Assessment is to: 

 consider the potential equality and good relations impacts of the Cutural 

Strategy at a strategic level focusing on the key inequalities which the 

strategic themes and priorities can help to reduce;  

 provide an outline analysis of data and research on current major 

inequalities experienced by people in the Section 75 groups in relation to 

the key commitments under the Cultural Strategy;  

 establish the positive equality impacts which the future Cultural Strategy 

can make.  

 

Section 75 

1.8 Section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act 1998 requires all public authorities 

in carrying out their functions relating to Northern Ireland to have due regard to 

the need to promote equality of opportunity between :  

 persons of different religious belief, political opinion, racial group, age, 

marital status or sexual orientation;  

 men and women generally;  

 persons with a disability and persons without; and  

 persons with dependants and persons without.  

 

Page 205



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

8 

1.9 In addition, without prejudice to the above obligation, public authorities 

must, in carrying out their functions relating to Northern Ireland, have regard to 

the desirability of promoting good relations between persons of different religious 

belief, political opinion or racial group.  

 

1.10 The Disability Discrimination (NI) Order 2006 introduced new duties 

requiring all public authorities in carrying out their functions relating to Northern 

Ireland, to have due regard to the need to –  

 promote positive attitudes towards disabled people; and  

 encourage participation by disabled people in public life.  

 

1.11 Screening and EQIAs are carried out in accordance with the guidance 

issued by the Equality Commission for Northern Ireland (ECNI). The relevant 

guidance currently in place includes: 

 Guide to the Statutory Duties (April 2010) 

 Practical Guidance on Equality Impact Assessment (February 2005) 

 Promoting Good Relations – A Guide for Public Authorities (October 

2007). 

 

1.12 The guide to the statutory duties makes it clear that ‘policies’ is a broad, 

inclusive term which covers all the ways in which an authority carries out or 

proposes to carry out its functions relating to Northern Ireland.1   The Cultural 

Strategy is regarded as a policy and subject to the statutory duties. 

 

EQIA methodology 

1.13 When undertaking an EQIA, the council closely follows the ECNI guidance 

which recommends that there should be seven steps in the EQIA process : 

                                            
1 Guide to the statutory duties, ECNI, April 2010, page 30. 

Page 206



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

9 

 

 Step 1 : Definition of the aims of the policy 

 Step 2 : Consideration of available data and research 

 Step 3 : Assessment of potential and actual impacts 

 Step 4 : Consideration of measures to mitigate adverse impact 

 Step 5 : Formal consultation 

 Step 6 : Decision and publication of the results of the EQIA 

 Step 7 : Monitoring for negative impact. 

 

1.14 Thisreport has been written firstly to provide information to consultees 

during the formal consultation phase and was subject to a 12 week consultation 

period, alongside the draft Cultural Strategy. It has now been updated with the 

findings from the consultation process to provide the Council with all available 

information on which to base a decision.   

 

 

2. Aims of the policy 

2.1 Belfast’s culture and arts scene has developed rapidly over the last 10 

years and with the city’s first community plan in place and the development of the 

local development plan for Belfast which sets out a vision of the city for 2035.  

This Belfast Agenda vision is that by 2035: 

‘Belfast will be a city reimagined and resurgent.  A great place to live and 

work for everyone.  Beautiful, well connected and culturally vibrant, it 

will be a sustainable city shared and loved by all its citizens, free from the 

legacy of the conflict’ 

This is further reinforced by the Local Development which sets out an ambitious 

spatial plan for the city and that by 2035: 

Belfast will be a globally successful, smart regional city that is 

environmentally resilient with a vibrant economic and social heart’ 

Page 207



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

10 

 

2.2 This vision and commitment for Belfast to be a culturally vibrant city; 

makes this both an exciting and a challenging time in Belfast’s transfomation.  In 

the challenging economic climate, it is vital that the Council shows leadership by 

establishing a strong vision for our future cultural city and defines its role in taking 

this forward. The Cultural Strategy presents a 10 year vision for cultural 

transformation and establishes strategic priorities to guide future creative and 

cultural capacity and place-making in the city.  This provides the framework for 

the investment and implementation programmes that will deliver on the strategy.  

 

2.3 The ambition of the Cultural Strategy is is set out in the opening cultural 

statement that has been shaped by the extensive engagement process that has 

taken place since 2017. This statement recognises that culture has many 

meanings and that cultural expression can take many forms.  

 

2.4 The Cultural Strategy has four key strategic themes that recognise and 

nurture the role of culture through four spheres – from the individual, to the 

community, to the cultural and creative sector and to the city’s connections 

globally.  The following strategic themes and priorities have been developed to 

guide our cultural activity: 

 

2.5 Theme 1: A City Belonging 

Cultural belonging can be defined as an individual’s feelings in relation to their 

sense of identity, their relationship to other people around them and their sense 

of place. 

Agenda 21 for Culture states that cultural rights guarantee the ability of everyone 

to identify with one or several cultural communities and to adapt this choice 

throughout their life.   

The exercise of cultural rights is essential for the development of a sustainable 

city. 

Page 208



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

11 

We believe that arts and creative practices can foster the confidence to imagine 

new and diverse senses of belonging in Belfast.  Priorities under this theme will 

support citizens to be active agents of change and co-creators of cultural activity.   

The priorities are: 

i. Developing a people focused approach to cultural development by 

facilitating citizens and sector participation in setting priorities, decision 

making and in the evaluation of cultural policies 

ii. Building the creative capacity of our citzens and cultural sector to allow 

people to express their own cultural identities 

iii. Protecting and promoting cultural heritage in all its dimensions, both 

tangible and intangible including the plurality of the citys cultural narratives 

iv. Enabling a sense of belonging and sense of place through cultural 

participation 

 

2.6  Theme 2: A City Challenging 

Globalisation and migration have increased diversity in cities across the world.  

Different dimensions of diversity intersect in multiple ways between individuals 

and communities. One of the city’s challenges is to create the conditions 

whereby Belfast’s open spaces offer opportunities for diverse encounters across 

and beyond different cultures, lifestyles and attitudes.  

Priorities under this theme will aspire to create the conditions for dynamic co-

creation and synergy in our public realm. 

i. Embedding cultural impact in city development and local placemaking 

ii. Investing in connected and sustainable infrastructure of quality cultural 

spaces across the city 

iii. Supporting high quality cultural events and activities that are accessible, 

diverse and inclusive 

iv. Transforming under-used public spaces into vibrant and diverse cultural 

destinations 

Page 209



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

12 

 

2.7 Theme 3: A City Creating 

A culturally vibrant city must take risks.  The citizens of Belfast have indicated 

that they are ready to challenge traditional mind-sets and take a culture-led leap 

into the future.  Cultural, arts and heritage organisations have a key role to play 

as creative leaders, innovators and challengers.   

Priorities under this theme will facilitate and explore new ways of working, taking 

more risks and helping artists to have more autonomy to engage with citizens in 

new and creative ways. 

i. Increasing the autonomy of the creative sectors to shape the city’s 

evolving, rich and multiple cultural narratives 

ii. Supporting cultural excellence, cultural planning and cultural 

entrepreneurialism by providing support for artistic innovation and 

imporved networking 

iii. Investing in a stronger and more sustainable cultural sector by supporting 

artists and producers to work beyond boundaries. 

iv. Empowering the innovative capacity of the creative economy to connect 

technology and society 

 

2.8 Theme 4: A City Exploring 

The depth and breadth of existing partnerships and networks between a wide 

range of cultural players is already evident in Belfast.  The positive impact of 

these connections has ripple effects across many sectors at a city and regional 

level as well as securing Belfast’s place within the global creative and cultural 

economy.  Belfast will facilitate, support and maintain city, regional and 

international networks and collaborative partnerships on a range of levels, from 

the individual artist to established cultural institutions.   

Priorities under this theme will sustain and strengthen the city’s cultural 

ecosystem. 

i. Strengthening our city, regional and international cultural networks 

Page 210



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

13 

ii. Growing our sustainable cultural tourism product through local place-

making 

iii. Encouraging environmental responsibilitity by understanding and adapting 

cultural behaviours 

iv. Increasing the contribution of both public and private cultural sectors to 

inclusive economic growth 

2.9 The Strategy operates at an individual, community, sectoral and city level.  

It recognises that people are at its the core – everyone who lives, works and 

visits Belfast will have the opportunity to access, experience, contribute to and be 

inspired by a diverse, authentic and vibrant culture.   

 

2.10 As a result of the significant programme of engagement and pre-

consultation in developing the strategy, culture has been defined in its widest 

sense – including the formal and professional arts and cultural activities, to 

people being cultural in their own ways and in their own spaces.  The ambition of 

the strategy is to recognise, value and celebrate the role that culture plays in 

shaping the city and the lives of those who live, work and visit it by adopting an 

inclusive and open approach.  In this way, we will contribute to the economic 

ambitions of the city, creating creative spaces and attractive places, building 

capacity and improving quality of life for the people of Belfast.  Through this 

approach, it contributes to the inclusive economic and social growth of the city. 

 

2.11 To deliver this strategy, we will work in partnership with our city 

stakeholders, including the culture arts and heritage sectors and strategic 

stakeholders, to develop supporting implementation plans and investment 

programmes. We will take an outcomes based approach to deliver on the 

strategic themes and priorities and in turn, contribute to the Belfast Agenda 

outcomes. 

 

2.12 The Strategy also includes a commitment to identifying new mechanisms 

to finance and invest in cultural activity and assets.  As the civic leader,  Belfast 

Page 211



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

14 

City Council will take a lead role in developing public-private forms of investment, 

working with partners, to leverage new investment into the city.  The aims of the 

cultural investment programme are to: 

i. Support the cultural life of the city by enabling citizens to be active, 

dynamic and creative agents of change 

ii. Invest in our cultural and creative sector to develop the skills and capacity 

for production and innovation 

iii. Position Belfast as an international testing ground for new approaches to 

cultural engagement, development and placemaking 

iv. Establish Belfast as a cultural destination 

   

2.13 The approach is shaped by two external bodies of work: 

 Agenda 21 for Culture – an international methodology that supports 

cultural development in cities and regions. The focus of Culture 21 is to 

embed culture as the fourth dimension of sustainable cities alongside 

existing economic, social and ecological pillars. Belfast’s participation in 

the Culture 21 pilot cities programme has already been approved and this 

programme will support the implementation of this strategy. 

 Core Cities Network Cultural Enquiry – Belfast is a partner member of 

the core cities network. The enquiry presents a number of practical 

recommendations on investment and governance of culture in cities. It 

presents an opportunity to increase the ability of cities to use culture to 

drive inclusive growth and sets shared priorities for culture along with a 

more effective approach to investment to maximise the overall return. The 

development of the investment programme and implementation plans will 

continue during 2019/20.  

 

2.14  Given the strategic and transformational nature of the ten-year Cultural 

Strategy for Belfast, A City Imagining, the equality impacts of the individual 

programmes, plans and projects, are not specifically considered as part of this 

EQIA. The programmes, plans and projects to deliver on this strategy, will 

Page 212



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

15 

continue to be co-designed with stakeholders and partners.  These programmes, 

plans and projects will be subject to equality screening in line with the Council’s 

Equality Scheme and in accordance with the criteria set out in the guidance 

produced by the Equality Commission. 

 

2.15 This Equality Assessment report provides an assessment of the potential 

impacts of the overall strategic vision, themes and priorities on the Section 75 

groups.  This final report has been informed by the feedback received from the 

public consultation and a summary will be made available on the Council 

website.  (www.belfastcity.gov.uk/culturalstrategy) 

 

 

 

Page 213

http://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/culturalstrategy


Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

16 

3. Analysis of available data and research 

3.1 The ECNI guidance requires the council to collect and analyse existing 

quantitative and qualitative data and research by relevant equality categories in 

order to make a judgement of the extent of any likely adverse impact. However, 

these headings simply provide a framework; it is acknowledged that the effects of 

the Cultural Strategy will be different for each individual person and will not 

necessarily relate to a specific Section 75 characteristic.   

 

The EQIA includes information on: 

 research on the benefits and value of culture and arts; 

 data on inequalities in terms of engagement/participation in culture and 

arts; 

 data on the population of the Council area by Section 75 groups (a profile 

of Belfast is contained in Appendix 1) 

 

3.2 Recognising that this is a new strategic framework for the city and that 

there will be ongoing development work to produce detailed implementation 

plans and projects; the analysis within this EQIA focuses on the potential of the 

Cultural Strategy across the 4 strategic themes. 

 

3.3 The main purpose of this EQIA is to ensure that, in identifying and taking 

forward implementation programmes that the Council and its partners give due 

regard to the need to promote equality of opportunity by addressing inequalities 

within and between Section 75 groups.  It is therefore important to identify clearly 

the key inequalities which the Strategy has the potential to address. 

 

Strategic Context and Influences shaping the Cultural Strategy 

3.4 The Council has a range of existing grant programmes,development 

support and direct delivery services that are primarily geared towards promoting 

and developing cultural activity in the city.  Several strategies, frameworks and 

Page 214



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

17 

delivery plans that direct this activity have been subject to appropriate equality 

screening in line with the guidance set out by the Equality Commission: 

 Belfast Integrated Cultural Framework 2012-2020  

 Belfast City Centre Regeneration & Investment Strategy 2015-2030 

 Integrated Tourism Strategy 2015-2020 

 City Events Annual Delivery Programme 

 

3.5 These strategies have been supplemented in 2017/18 by a mid-term 

review of the Tourism Strategy and a review of Events and Festivals which have 

been instrumental in highlighting the need for a more integrated and sustainable 

model for city-wide programme delivery in order to create a culturally vibrant and 

attractive city.   

 

Existing funding administered to deliver the Cultural Framework 2012-2020 

3.6 The Council currently has a range of small grants and multi-annual 

funding programmes in place to support cultural life in the city.  The primary 

routes to access this funding have been via the Place & Economy Department’s 

Tourism, Culture, Heritage & Arts Unit.   

 

3.7 The analysis that follows includes an indication of the current funding 

programmes that have a specific cultural, arts and heritage focus.  However, the 

draft Cultural Strategy recognises that further developmental work to future-proof 

the delivery and investment model. A summary of the current funding streams is 

below: 

Scheme  Description  

Core Multi-

annual Fund 

(core revenue 

support) 

The Council committed over £5.8m to support56 arts and 

cultural organisations over a four year period (2016-20). 

Page 215



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

18 

Grants range from £30,000 to £150,000 per annum. Multi-

annual funding is awarded for a four-year period. It is open to 

arts and heritage organisations only.  

An internal evaluation of this fund has supported the need for 

a longer term, multi-annual funding programme to support and 

sustain accessible cultural activity but that a more tailored 

approach to the investment may yield greater results. 

Annual Arts & 

Heritage Fund 

(core revenue 

support)  

Through cycles of two tranches of funding per year; this fund 

supports approximately 35 organisations per funding round.  

Applicants apply every year for a maximum grant of up to 

£10,000. It is open to arts and heritage organisations only. 

Creative & 

Cultural Belfast  

 

This programme supported ‘flagship’ projects providing longer 

term funding for the sector, enabling projects to run over 2-3 

years. Belfast City Council and the Arts Council NI jointly 

funded £900,000 to the Creative and Cultural Belfast 

programme.   

Its purpose was "to challenge social exclusion by providing 

everyone in Belfast with the opportunity to experience high-

quality culture, arts and heritage  

Its target primary beneficiaries were "people and communities 

[that] are less likely to take part in culture and arts than others 

due to lack of economic opportunity, educational achievement 

or other barriers". This included “hard-to-reach” groups 

already identified in the 2012-2020 Cultural Framework: 

namely, disabled people, minority ethnic communities and 

people living in deprived areas.  

 

Community 

Festivals Fund 

(project funding)  

This fund is match funded by the Department for Communities 

(formerly Department for Culture, Arts and Leisure). This Fund 

opens twice a year to recognise the role that festivals can play 

in increasing social cohesion, celebrating cultural identity and 

Page 216



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

19 

strengthening community relations. Festivals can receive up 

to £10,000 in any tranche. It is open to arts, heritage and 

community organisations. This fund was subject to an 

independent evaluation and the evaluation report produced in 

2015. 

 

3.11 All applicants are asked:  

 to provide a profile of their target audience and participants by gender and 

age 

 indicate whether they comply with the accessibility requirements under the 

Disability Discrimination Act 1995 or, if this is not possible, what reasonable 

adjustment they are making;  

 provide the location of their organisation and the location where activity will 

take. 

 

3.12 All funding applications are assessed on a range of criteria including how 

the organisation or project would support good relations and enrich and extend 

opportunities to take part in culture and arts activities.   

 

3.13 Many organisations operate across the whole or most of the city, and most 

organisations aim to be inclusive of everyone. While specific Section 75 

monitoring was introduced many groups in the cultural sector choose not to 

complete and return this information.  While every effort has been taken to 

ensure that the data presented is accurate, classification of applications targeting 

specific Section 75 dimensions was an arbitrary decision based on the 

knowledge and experience of council officers.  

 

3.14  The Council has an established track record in using culture and arts as a 

means for engaging hard to reach groups and evaluating their success. The 

Creative and Cultural Belfast evaluation report, prepared by Council officers, 

Page 217



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

20 

reported that 1,076 activities were delivered through the seven funded projects, 

attracting an audience of 102,626 and engaging 9,478 participants. All projects 

used a range of measures to remove barriers to access and promote inclusion, 

such as free events, concessionary ticketing, companion tickets, accessible 

venues, and so on. The evaluation report included an analysis of the level of 

engagement and participation by Section 75 groups. As the programmes 

targeted those who were hard to reach, it is likely that the level of engagement 

with some Section 75 dimensions would be higher than across the main council 

funding schemes. 

 

3.15 Evaluations of the Creative Legacies programme (2009-2011) and the 

Creative and Cultural Belfast programme have  concluded that culture and arts 

programmes have been effective tools in targeting hard-to-reach groups in the 

following ways:  

 Stimulating individual change, including increased self-confidence, self-

esteem and skills  

 Building healthy relations and making connections between groups, 

including skills transfer and capacity building  

 Creating a shared space and civic identity  

 Peace building and conflict resolution – participants gained a greater 

understanding of, willingness to engage with and tolerance of other 

cultures and traditions  

 

3.16 The evaluations have also provided recommendations to inform the 

emerging Cultural Strategy for Belfast; as follows: 

 Alternative and staged funding models to allow for more time for planning 

and co-design 

 The role of co-funders in programme delivery 

 Striving for a one-council approach to and appreciation of culture and arts 

Page 218



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

21 

 Marketing and communications to maximise social media and capitalise on 

word-of-mouth mechanism and attention to be given to marketing to tourists 

 Training and development needs to support programme planning, including 

financial and risk management 

 Ongoing oversight of evaluation to ensure evidence is collected 

systematically, efficiently and effectively 

 

3.17 While there are limitations with the current approaches, the research and 

engagement process that has informed the draft Cultural Strategy have 

reinforced the Council’s commitment to the development of cultural vibrancy and 

its commitment to an outcomes based approach.  The most recent research, 

carried out by Thrive (2018) recommends ‘a focus on particular demographics in 

particular areas will be the best way to achieve overall growth in the city’s rates 

of engagement’. 

 

Other External Data and Research  

3.18 Council Officers have reviewed relevant research and data from other 

sources as part of the development of Cultural Strategy and this EQIA, including 

the following:  

 

 Annual Funding Survey 2017/18 Arts Council NI 

 Belfast Arts & Culture Baseline – The story so far  (Thrive, 2018) 

 Belfast City Council Residents Survey 2017 (Social Market Research) 

 10 Year Cultural Framework for Belfast Equality Impact Assessment 

2012 (Belfast City Council) 

 Engagement in culture, arts and leisure by adults in Northern Ireland: 

analysis by Section 75 groups: DCAL Research Findings 15/2014-15 

 Engagement in culture, arts and leisure by adults in Northern Ireland’s 

local government districts 2017; DfC 2017 

Page 219



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

22 

 Engagement in culture, arts and leisure by young people in NI (Young 

Persons Behaviour & Attitudes Survey 2016); DfC 2017 

 Opening Doors – an arts led approach to building social capital - 

Evaluation Report, Arts Council of Northern Ireland Intercultural Arts 

Programme 2012-2015 (ACNI 2015) 

 Older people and engagement in culture, arts and leisure 2015: A 

literature review DfC 2015 

 Five Year Strategic Framework for the Development of the Arts 2019-

2024 and Equality Screening (ACNI 2018) 

 

3.19 The Department for Communities (DfC) published statistics in 2017 

showing the levels of adult engagement in culture, arts and leisure across the 

Northern Ireland's local government districts.  The continuous household survey 

figures for the levels of participation and engagement in Belfast are broadly 

consistent with the figures for NI, as outlined below: 

 87% of residents in Belfast engaged in culture, arts and leisure, compared 

to a regional figure of 89% 

 81% of people in Belfast surveyed reported that they engaged with the 

arts and 32% participated in arts activities in the previous year; compared 

to a regional figure of 82% engaging and 34% participating with the arts  

 78% of people in Belfast attended an arts event, compared to 79% 

regionally 

 53% of people in Belfast reported that they participated in sports in the 

previous year, compared to 54% regionally 

 

3.20 In 2018 Thrive carried out a quantitative survey of 2,200 residents 

selected randomly from across Belfast to establish if and how those residents 

engaged with arts and culture in the preceding 12 months.  This survey 

broadened the definition of what we mean by culture, so that it includes a range 

of activities from the less formal and personal activities to the more structured 

Page 220



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

23 

programme engagement and attendance.  The survey baseline reported that 

94% of Belfast residents engaged with arts and culture in the previous year.  

While there are variations amongst certain groups and geographic areas across 

the city, the engagement level did not fall below 75%. 

 

Consultation  

3.21  Council officers undertook extensive consultation and engagement in the 

development of the Cultural Strategy. This has included: 

 Holding 62 civic conversations 

 Engaging with 5,361 citizens 

 Supporting 625 creators 

 Working with 106 artists 

 Across 85 places 

 Through 137 events 

Workshops and briefings were also held with Councillors; a series of workshops 

with arts and community organisations; workshops, meetings and 

communications with the heritage sector and other key stakeholders; and 

presentations to Belfast City Council’s Policy Offcers Group, Equality 

Consultative Forum, Youth Forum and Older People’s Forum. In addition 

meetings of the city’s Culture Forum provided vital contributions to the 

development of the strategy. 

3.22  A number of ‘deep dive’ engagement projects were undertaken throughout 

2018/19.  The (Y)Our Home Pilot projects took place in neighbourhoods citywide 

(north, south, east, west and city centre).  This programme made connections 

between artists and citizens through a variety of creative ventures to explore 

what it means to feel @Home in Belfast and how creative engagement can feed 

into the Belfast Agenda priorities of Living Here, Working and Learning, City 

Development and Growing the Economy. Taking place over a period of six 

months, each project ran for 12 weeks delivering creative sessions led by artists 

from various disciplines from visual arts to theatre production.   Over 500 

Page 221



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

24 

participants engaged as creators; from primary schools, older people’s 

programmes, migrant support groups, LGBTQ++ groups and support agencies 

for young people in care. The outcomes of which ranged from film, installation 

art, theatre showcases, product development and environmental installations, 

reaching audiences of over 5000 people from across the city. 

As an extension of the pre-consultation process, over 15 facilitated sessions on 

accessing culture, both as an audience member and as an artist/performer, were 

held across the city for disabled people with each session catering for, and 

consulting on, the needs of specific disabilities.  

 

3.23  Most of the culture and arts organisations that were consulted attracted 

audiences and participants representing all or many Section 75 groupings, and 

recognised that this included those with multiple identities. However, there is a 

recognition that there may be benefits in targeting some groups to encourage or 

increase opportunity, recognition or access to ensure equality of opportunity is 

felt.  This may include organisations targeting specific communities or places; 

minority ethnic groups; disabled people; children and young people; older people 

and the LGBTQ++ community.   

 

Limitations, constraints and definitions 

3.24 There are a number of inherent difficulties of capturing personal data in a 

cultural/arts setting, the variety and scale of the cultural scene in Belfast can 

make it difficult to directly assess its impact. This is particularly pertinent when 

considering the broad definition of culture that is applied to this Cultural Strategy 

i.e. that includes individual and informal cultural participation as well as more 

formalised programme engagement and audience involvement.  

 

3.25 Crucially, it is worth noting the following limitations with the current data 

and analysis of culture and arts activities: 

 In some instances, the collection of Section 75 data is not possible, for 

example, attendees at a large, city-centre, non-ticketed festival.  

Page 222



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

25 

 Some cultural organisations feel that recording Section 75 data intrudes 

on their aim to deliver activities irrespective of cultural or community 

background.  

 Monitoring data supplied via funded organisations is self-reported and not 

independently verified.  

 With the exception of age and gender, funded organisations are not as 

standard asked to monitor the demographic breakdown of their audience 

or participants. While every effort has been taken to ensure that the data 

presented is accurate, in most cases, the classification of applications 

primarily targeting a Section 75 group is an arbitrary decision based on the 

knowledge and experience of council officers, but with no truly objective 

assessment possible. 

 The nature and type of art form may influence a person’s choice to 

participate in or attend a cultural activity, rather than represent a specific 

barrier to taking part. For example, older people are more likely to attend 

the opera than young people. The Cultural Strategy does not differentiate 

between or prioritise genres or art-form.  

 

3.26 This Cultural Strategy aims to embed culture, in its widest sense, into 

many aspects of life in order to increase awareness of the role that culture plays 

in the city and enrich the diversity and vibrancy of life in the city.  The strategic 

themes and priorities target the individual, community, sectoral and city levels.   

 

3.27 Overall, delivering and investing in cultural life and activity in Belfast, 

through the Cultural Strategy is likely to have a positive impact on all Section 75 

groups, both directly and indirectly by contributing to the economic, social and 

environmental regeneration and wellbeing of the city.  

 

 

 

Page 223



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

26 

4. Assessment of impacts 

4.1 This EQIA has been carried out utilising a wide range of both quantitative 

and qualitative data, from sources both within and external to the council.  Much 

of the general research relates to Northern Ireland as a whole, but is particularly 

pertinent to Belfast. Where possible, data from the Council’s own Section 75 

monitoring systems has been included. 

 

4.2 The analysis is presented under the headings of the nine Section 75 

equality categories.  However, these headings simply provide a framework; it is 

acknowledged that the effects of the Cultural Strategy will be different for each 

individual person and will not necessarily relate to a specific Section 75 

characteristic.  This point was reinforced by consultees in the pre and formal 

consultation period. 

 

4.3 The purpose of the Cultural Strategy is to recognise and value the role of 

culture in the city.  The draft strategy is based on Agenda 21 for Culture which 

has its foundation in enabling citizens to exercise their cultural rights to support 

the development of a sustainable city.  This approach states that cultural rights 

give the ability of everyone to identify with one or several cultural communities 

and to adapt this choice throughout their life. 

   

4.4 The four strategic themes of the draft Strategy promote active citizenship; 

inclusion and diversity; new perspectives and connecting Belfast and its place in 

the world.  Therefore, overall the Council considers that, based on previous 

experience, the Cultural Strategy will deliver significant benefits to Belfast. These 

include:  

 Increasing the levels of engagement and participation in culture and arts 

events  

 Increasing the participation of those from those groups that are harder to 

reach 

Page 224



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

27 

 Raising the positive international profile of the city 

 Improving the city’s reputation as a welcoming and  inclusive tourist 

destination  

 Increasing the city’s reputation as a cultural destination 

 Supporting the growth of the City’s creative economy  

 

4.5 However, the Council accepts that the need to prioritise investment will 

result in some users benefiting more than others.  The analysis below identifies 

some of the issues for people in the various Section 75 categories.  

 

4.6 Recognising the strategic nature of this investment across the city, the 

analysis focuses on the potential of the Cultural Strategy across the aims and 

objectives.  As the detailed implementation plans and investment programmes 

are developed to deliver on the strategy, the positive impact of the programmes 

/ initiatives to be identified will depend on how each are targeted and located, 

designed and implemented; and the degree of consultation and involvement of 

diverse local or relevant communities. Further equality screenings/assessments 

will be carried out on the implementation plans and investment programmes, as 

appropriate. 

 

 

Page 225



Draft Equality Assessment  April 2019 

 

Analysis of data and research and assessment of potential impacts 

The assessment is based on an analysis of available data and research and is set out under the categories in Section 75.   

However, while these headings may provide a framework for analysis, it is recognised that the effects of the proposals will be 

different for each individual person and will not necessarily relate to a specific Section 75 characteristic.   

 

Strategic Themes and Priorities Assessment of impact on section 75 group 

A City Belonging 

 

Priorities under this theme will support people  to be 

active agents of change and co-creators of cultural 

activity.   

The priorities are: 

1 - Developing a people focused approach to 

cultural development by facilitating citizens and 

sector participation in setting priorities, decision 

making and in the evaluation of cultural policies 

Community and Religious belief 

In NI and in Belfast, research indicates that the majority of culture and arts activity is 

all or mainly cross-community. Section 75 analysis of the Continuous Household 

Survey (2013/14) reports that adults stating that they were of other/no religion were 

more likely to have attended the arts (88%) and participated in sports activity (65%) in 

the previous year than either Catholic or Protestant adults.  

 

Section 75 equality monitoring forms are provided to successful applicants of BCC 

funding; however, the vast majority of those in receipt of culture and arts funds 

choose not to submit these forms. Only 7% (5) forms were submitted in 2016/17 and 

13% (8 out of 58) in 2017/18, therefore it is not possible to provide further analysis on 

this data. 

P
age 226



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

29 

2 - Building the creative capacity of our citizens 

and cultural sector to allow people to express 

their own cultural identities 

3 - Protecting,promoting and using cultural 

heritage in all its dimensions, both tangible and 

intangible including the plurality of the city’s 

cultural narratives 

4 - Enabling a sense of belonging and sense of 

place through cultural participation 

 

Political Opinion 

As above 

 

Dependants 

There is very limited evidence of differential impacts on people with and without 

dependants.  However it is recognised that those with family commitments and/or 

caring responsibilities may be a barrier to participation/attendance. 

 

Racial Group 

Just over 3% of Belfast’s population are from a black and minority ethnic background 

according to the 2011 Census. This is likely to be slightly higher in 2019, with 

increasing numbers of new communities recognised in the city.  The culture and arts 

scene is diverse, and minority ethnic communities in general are well represented. 

The level of activity specifically targeting minority ethnic communities is considered to 

correlate with the population share of Belfast, while other activities aim to be inclusive 

regardless of ethnic background. Applications targeting minority ethnic communities 

P
age 227



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

30 

are as likely to secure funding as applications targeting any other Section 75 

dimension.  

 

It is worth noting that ACNI state that many people responding to their survey choose 

not to report ethnicity or disability. Research indicates that people from minority ethnic 

groups can face multiple social, economic and cultural barriers to arts engagement. 

These barriers to participation may include communications and language; perceived 

irrelevance of arts to own culture; money; lack of transport; and lack of time and 

timings of events.  

 

Age  

DCAL’s analysis of the Continuous Household Survey results by Section 75 category 

(2013/14) age impacts on engagement rates in all aspects of culture, arts and leisure. 

ACNI  and NISRA’s General Population Survey 2016 reports that although the 

engagement, attendance and participation of older people in the arts is lower than 

other age categories there has been an increasing trend - a 15% rise in engagement, 

over 10% increase in attendance, and a 5% rise in participation. Despite a drop in 

P
age 228



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

31 

engagement during 2014 to 54.7%, engagement of older people in 2016 is recovering 

(59.3%). 

 

Disability 

20.3% of people in NI and 23.5% in Belfast have a long-term health problem or 

disability that limits their daily activities or the work they can do.  According to DCAL 

(now DfC), adults who have a disability were less likely than those who do not have a 

disability to play sports, attend the arts, museums and libraries.  In Belfast, there is a 

difference between the level of activity primarily targeting disabled people and their 

population share. While the majority of activity aims to be inclusive of people with and 

people without disabilities, attendance and participation rates in Belfast are not 

known. 

 

Sexual Orientation 

ACNI’s Annual funding Survey 2017/18 reports that 4.8% of programmed ACNI 

funded activity targets LGBTQ++ communities.  Most arts organisations aim to be 

inclusive of LGBTQ++  people, and there is little information on rates of cultural 

attendance and participation among this community. However, barriers to participation 

P
age 229



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

32 

may include services designed on the assumption that the users are heterosexual and 

events and activities are not reflective of their culture.  

 

Multiple Identities 

The cumulative impact of multiple sources of disadvantage – low incomes, benefit 

dependency, low skills levels and qualifications – are likely to combine together to 

impact on an individual’s ability to access opportunities to participate and their 

capacity to participate in cultural activities, heritage and cultural policies. Deprivation 

levels vary considerably across the city with the majority of the most deprived wards 

being in north and west Belfast. 

 

A City Challenging 

Priorities under this theme will aspire to cultivate 

creative environments  for dynamic co-creation and 

synergy in our place-making . 

5 - Embedding cultural impact in city 

development and local placemaking 

The aim of the strategy is to retain or increase access to and inclusion in a vibrant 

inclusive cultural scene, and to create opportunities for cultural participation and 

expression, including more marginalised and/or deprived communities.  Increasing the 

accessibility of cultural infrastructure, either in terms of getting into these buildings or 

spaces, or the distances people are required to travel to get there, removes barriers to 

participation in cultural activities. 

 

P
age 230



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

33 

v. 6 - Investing in connected, resilientand 

sustainable infrastructure of quality cultural 

spaces across the city 

7 - Supporting high quality cultural events and 

activities that are accessible, diverse and inclusive 

8 - Transforming under-used public spaces into 

vibrant and diverse cultural destinations 

94% of people in Belfast have engaged in arts and culture in some way, shape or 

form in 2016/17 with general agreement around the importance and value of the type 

of festivals and large scale events which Belfast City Council fund (Thrive 2018); 

however, there is room for improvement and an opportunity to deepen and solidify the 

participation.  Key to this is recognising that individuals may face multiple barriers to 

participation and engagement.  Applying the Council’s Linguistic Diversity Policy and 

Inclusive Events Guide will be important elements in planning and delivering the 

strategy to ensure accessible, diverse and inclusive events, places and spaces.  

 

Community and Religious belief 

In NI and in Belfast, research indicates that the majority of culture and arts activity is 

all or mainly cross-community. The majority of Belfast organisations operate across 

the whole or most of the city and are all or mainly cross-community. Funded 

organisations are not required to record the religious beliefs or political opinions of 

their audiences and participants. However, while the location of an organisation is not 

always indicative of their catchment area or typical target audience, for the purposes 

of analysis, applications for funding were classified according to the postcode of the 

organisation where this could be associated with a predominantly Catholic or 

P
age 231



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

34 

Protestant area.2  In the 2016/2020 period3 the vast majority of core multi-annual 

funding awarded to organisations were based in areas that are not dominated by one 

single religious belief/community background - only two of the 56 organisation’s 

receiving core multi-annual funding located in a predominantly Catholic community 

(3.6%)10 

 

 

Political Opinion 

As above 

 

Dependants 

There is very limited evidence of differential impacts on people with and without 

dependants.  However it is recognised that those with family commitments and/or 

caring responsibilities may be a barrier to participation/attendance. 

                                            
2 Where more than 90 per cent of the population of the Super Output Area was Catholic or Protestant. It should be noted that the above statistics do not 
include Duncairn 1 and Bloomfield 1 super output areas, in which, respectively, 89.7 and 89.5 per cent of the population are from a Protestant background. A 
total of 176 applications were received from these areas, mostly from arts organisations based in the Cathedral Quarter, of which 125 were successful.  
 
3 As a result of Local Government Reform and boundary changes there were some changes to Belfast wards.  NISRA census figures have been used as the 
basis for the community background per ward. 

P
age 232



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

35 

 

Age  

DCAL’s analysis of the Continuous Household Survey results by Section 75 category 

(2013/14) age impacts on engagement rates in all aspects of culture, arts and leisure. 

In keeping with the social trend and analysis to date, younger people are more likely 

to participate and engage in cultural activity than other age groups it is likely that they 

will benefit more from this Strategy than other age groups.  Research has indicated 

that tailoring activities and events that are more likely to attract older people such as 

music and reading/literature offer the greatest opportunities to create greater 

participation, engagement as well as contributing to increased vibrancy and inclusion 

in city life.  The most frequently cited barriers to participation by the young and old are 

access to transport. 

 

Racial Group 

Just over 3% of Belfast’s population are from a black and minority ethnic background 

according to the 2011 Census. This is likely to be slightly higher in 2019, with 

increasing numbers of new communities recognised in the city.  The culture and arts 

scene is diverse, and minority ethnic communities in general are well represented.  

P
age 233



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

36 

 

The level of activity specifically targeting minority ethnic communities is considered to 

correlate with the population share of Belfast, while other activities aim to be inclusive 

regardless of ethnic background. Funding applications to the Council’s Tourism, 

Culture, Heritage & Arts Team targeting minority ethnic communities are as likely to 

secure funding as applications targeting any other Section 75 dimension.  

 

Disability 

Analysis indicates that disabled people are less likely to attend and participate in 

culture and arts activities than people without disabilities. The opportunity to attend 

cultural events at venues and participate in activities taking place within them is 

constrained if the building’s infrastructure has poor physical accessibility.  

 

While we have not identified any adverse differential impacts on disabled people, 

there may be an opportunity to improve access and participation. Funded 

organisations are not required to record the number of disabled people who attend or 

participate in their activities.  

 

P
age 234



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

37 

All funded organisations are required to comply with the accessibility requirements 

under the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 or, if this is not possible, to make 

reasonable adjustments. Organisations and projects also employed other measures 

to include disabled people, such as the use of captioning and audio description.    The 

Council’s Inclusive Events Guide is being included in contracts to promote inclusive 

and accessible events for all. 

 

Sexual Orientation 

Most arts organisations aim to be inclusive of LGBTQ++ people, and there is little 

information on rates of cultural attendance and participation among this community. 

ACNI’s Annual funding Survey 2017/18 reports that 4.8% of programmed ACNI 

funded activity targets LGBTQ++ communities.   

 

Most arts organisations aim to be inclusive of LGBTQ++ people, and there is little 

information on rates of cultural attendance and participation among this community. 

From 2016-2018, four applications for funding were received for Community Festivals 

and Arts & heritage Funds to support programmes and projects highlighting specific 

aspects of sexual orientation. Of these, three applications were successful. Funding 

applications to the Council’s Tourism, Culture, Heritage & Arts Team targeting 

P
age 235



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

38 

LGBTQ++  communities are as likely to secure funding as applications targeting any 

other Section 75 dimension.  However, research has indicated that barriers to 

participation may include services designed on the assumption that the users are 

heterosexual and events and activities are not reflective of their culture. Through the 

co-design approach to cultural programmes and the integration of culture in 

placemaking  there is scope to build in more inclusive practice. 

 

Multiple Identities 

The cumulative impact of multiple sources of disadvantage – low incomes, benefit 

dependency, low skills levels and qualifications – are likely to combine together to 

impact on an individual’s ability to access opportunities to participate and their 

capacity to participate in cultural activities and events. Deprivation levels vary 

considerably across the city with the majority of the most deprived wards being in 

north and west Belfast.  A city development and local placemaking approach provides 

a neighbourhood and city-wide perspective; transforming under-used public space will 

ensure that the impact of ease of access, connectivity and affordability are factored 

into the cultural strategy. 

A City Creating In 2016, employment in the creative industries accounted for an estimated 24,000 

jobs, representing 2.9% of total employment in NI and just over 2,900 businesses 

P
age 236



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

39 

Priorities under this theme will facilitate and explore 

new ways of working, taking more risks and helping 

artists to have more autonomy to engage with people  

in new and creative ways. 

9 - Increasing the autonomy of the creative sectors to 

explore and shape the city’s evolving, rich and 

multiple cultural narratives 

10 - Supporting cultural excellence, cultural planning 

and cultural entrepreneurialism by providing support 

for artistic innovation and improved networking 

11 - Investing in a stronger and more sustainable 

cultural sector by supporting new and established 

creative practitioners  to work beyond boundaries. 

This will create an environment where risks can be 

taken across a broader range of activities, sectors 

and disciplines 

12 - Empowering the innovative capacity of the 

creative economy to connect technology and society 

 

(DfC 2018).   Almost two-fifths (38%) of all creative industries were in IT, software and 

computer services; followed by 12% in film, TV and 7.6% in music, visual and 

performing arts. As an urban centre, Belfast is a hub for the region’s creative sector.  

This is evidenced in recent research on the employment of Belfast residents (Ulster 

University Economic Policy Centre, 2018) reports that  BCC residents have a high 

proportion of NI’s jobs in creative sectors; for example, over half the jobs in film, Tv 

and music are held by BCC residents (55%), while just over two fifths of the jobs in 

creative arts and entertainment are help by BCC residents (41%).  However, it is not 

possible to break this down to an analysis by Section 75 group.   

 

A range of enterprise and business start-up and growth programmes are available 

and have identified creative sector business as a growth sector.  These programmes 

have been equality screened and targeted engagement and support available for 

those groups who are traditionally under-represented (disabled, black and ethnic 

minority groups, women and those with caring responsibilities).   

 

ACNI (2017/18) reported that 8% of their core funded client workforce were from a 

minority ethnic background; many employed in an artistic capacity.  This is an 

P
age 237



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

40 

indication that those from minority ethnic groups are well represented in the arts and 

cultural sector, when considering the proportion in the population.   

 

Further research will also be undertaken to ensure an appropriate outcomes focused 

impact evaluation of Council funded activities.  We will also continue to work with the 

cultural and creative sector to consider effective measures of hard-to-capture 

audiences, for example, audiences at non-ticketed events.  We want to ensure that 

the impact of our investment is felt across all communities and creates a positive 

impact, particularly in terms of inclusive economic and social growth for people, 

communities and the city.     

 

Multiple identities 

The cumulative impact of multiple sources of disadvantage – low incomes, benefit 

dependency, low skills levels and qualifications – are likely to combine together to 

impact on an individual’s opportunity and capacity to access and participate in cultural 

and creative life .  Deprivation levels vary considerably across the city with the 

majority of the most deprived wards being in the inner city areas and north and west 

Belfast. 

P
age 238



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

41 

 

A City Exploring 

Priorities under this theme will sustain and strengthen 

the city’s cultural ecosystem. 

13 - Strengthening our city, regional and international 

cultural networks 

14 - Growing our sustainable cultural tourism product 

through a creative approach that respects the city’s 

heritage and communities  

15 - Encouraging environmental responsibility by 

understanding and adapting cultural behaviours 

16 - Increasing the contribution of both public and 

private cultural sectors to inclusive economic growth 

 

This theme builds on the three previous themes to position the city as a connected, 

outward facing city.   

 

Strengthening the city’s cultural networks will not only recognise the city’s distinct 

characteristics and events but also build on the city’s calendar of diverse cultural 

festivals and events, including Belfast Mela, Diwali and Samhain, Holi, Chinese New 

Year and Polish Cultural Week.   

 

As the brand and other actions and initiatives develop to deliver on the priorities, such 

as maritime tourism, the story of Belfast and “Beyond peace”, the Council will ensure 

that these remain inclusive of all people and be subject to appropriate equality 

considerations, to ensure that there is no differential impact. 

 

A number of initiatives to support the tourism infrastructure and visitor management, 

such as coach parking and tours, neighbourhood tourism trails and routes across the 

city, have the potential to promote equality of opportunity for both visitors and 

residents, including those with disabilities.  

P
age 239



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

42 

 

The Inclusive Events Guide and Council’s Linguistic  Diversity Policy adopted in 2017 

will also be applied in the delivery plans for the Cultural Strategy’s themes and 

priorities.  

 

Marketing and communication platforms should be inclusive of and respond to the 

needs of disabled people, LGBTQ++, race, age and language needs.  

 

New signature ‘Imagine’ festivals and visitor attractions will include design principles 

to ensure they are inclusive and accessible. 

A City Investing 

 The aims of the cultural investment programme are 

to: 

i. Support the cultural life of the city by enabling 

citizens to be active, dynamic and creative 

agents of change 

A City Investing outlines the four pillars that will guide the development of the Cultural 

Investment Programme. 

 

91% of those surveyed by Thrive (2018) agreed to some extent that having culture 

and arts available in Belfast is important; this applied across genders and age ranges.   

 

P
age 240



Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

43 

ii. Invest in our cultural and creative sector to 

develop the skills and capacity for production 

and innovation 

iii. Position Belfast as an international testing 

ground for new approaches to cultural 

engagement, development and placemaking 

iv. Establish Belfast as a cultural destination 

 

An important aspect of the Cultural Strategy is to incentivise and invest in the city’s 

cultural offer and to increase future events and activities available for all residents and 

visitors to participate in. The cultural offer and future events and activities will be 

designed and programmed to ensure inclusivity, diversity and accessibility in order to 

create a city that is welcoming and attractive for everyone. 

 

Testing new approaches to cultural engagement is likely to enhance and diversify 

links at a community level which should support increased participation levels.  This 

will be built on best practice and learning from cities elsewhere. 

 

 

P
age 241



Draft Equality Assessment  April 2019 

 

 

5. Overall assessment of impacts  

5.1 The development and implementation of the Cultural Strategy will make 

an important contribution in terms of the development economic, social and 

environmental growth and regeneration of the city. In addition it supports the 

aspirations set out in the Belfast Agenda and the Local Development Plan. The 

Council believes that the Cultural Strategy strategic themes and priorities will 

not have specific adverse impacts for any Section 75 group but the analysis of 

available data and research shows that there are a number of key inequalities 

that the Cultural Strategy may help to address. 

 

5.2 The main purpose of this EQIA is to ensure that the Council and 

delivery agents will have due regard to the need to promote equality of 

opportunity by addressing inequalities within and between Section 75 groups. 

 

5.3 Feedback from the consultation process has highlighted the importance 

of building equality implications into the future development of the Cultural 

Strategy implementation plans and investment programme. 

 

5.4 The importance of engagement and co-design principles is fundamental 

to the delivery of the Strategy. The gaps in the data have emphasised the 

importance of the engagement and consultation process in order to understand 

the nature of cultural impact.  Priority 1 of the strategy commits to ‘a people 

focussed approach to cultural development’ therefore over the next 10 years 

this engagement methodology will continue to evolve.  

Page 242



Draft Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

45 

6. Consideration of Measures 

 

6.1 The Cultural Strategy is likely to have a positive impact on all Section 75 

groups, both directly and indirectly, by contributing to economic growth and social 

progress.  It is anticipated, however, that some areas of development may have 

a differential impact on a number of Section 75 groups in a positive manner by 

addressing recognised need and these are highlighted below. 

 

 Investment in the Cultural Strategy will help the city to encourage 

economic growth and position Belfast as a primary tourist destination and 

international city. This economic growth will provide opportunities to target 

under-represented groups such as disabled people and those from black 

and minority ethnic backgrounds.  The opportunities for economic growth 

will provide opportunities for those from deprived communities in the city. 

 Seek to maximise the opportunity to participate in cultural activity by 

ensuring that events, venues and facilities are inclusive and accessible. 

This will have particular benefits for those groups who currently 

experience barriers to access, including people from black and minority 

ethnic communities, LGBTQ++, disabled people, older people and people 

with dependants.  

 The four strategic themes and priorities will also help to reduce 

segregation and social isolation. 

 

6.2 The potential impacts of the Cultural Strategy will only be realised when 

the Cultural Strategy investment programme and implementation plans are 

developed. An equality assessment will be undertaken on the investment 

programme and equality will be factored in to the design and delivery of the 

implementation and action plans resulting from the Strategy. It is recognised 

that the positive impact of programmes / initiatives will depend on how each are 

targeted and located, designed and implemented; and the degree of 

consultation and involvement of diverse local or relevant communities. 

Page 243



Draft Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

46 

7. Consultation 

7.1 Following a significant programme of pre-consultation and engagement in 

the development of the draft strategy; the formal consultation period for the draft 

Cultural Strategy, including this strategic level equality assessment report was 

carried out over a 12-week period from 17th April 2019 to 10th July 2019.  

 

7.2 During the 12 week consultation period the draft equality assessment 

report was available on the Council’s website consultation platform Citizenspace, 

together with the draft rural needs assessment and the draft Cultural Strategy A 

City Imagining.  A press release was issued on 18th April on the launch of the 

public consultation.  Media coverage took place along with pulse screen public 

advertising for the initial two weeks of the consultation period; advertising in 

Queen’s Film Theatre, Crescent Arts Centre, The Mac and Lyric Theatre as well 

as articles in City Matters and through the Council’s social media channels (with 

a Facebook discussion group specifically set up for A City Imagining 

consultation) .   

 

7.2 A composite report on the public consultation is available on the Council’s 

website (www.belfastcity.gov.uk/culturalstrategy).  In total, 3,264 people engaged 

in the process in a variety of ways with over 80 events taking place across the 

city.  The formal consultation period included:  

 Exhibitions & workshops in community venues in North, West, South and 

East of the city 

 Opening of pop-up consultation space A City imagining Hub in the city 

centre for a five week period 

 Bespoke stakeholder and sector engagement workshops 

 Workshops with those from Section 75 groups representing those who 

may face barriers to participation including those with dependants, young 

people, LGBTQ++, refugees and asylum seekers. 

Page 244



Draft Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

47 

 In addition to the Council’s online Citizenspace Survey platform, there was 

an opportunity to submit electronic and written responses as well as have 

one-to-one/drop-in sessions.   

 

7.3 The main issues raised in terms of the equality and rural needs include: 

 The strategy document did not reference specific Section 75 groups such 

as members of the LGBTQ++ community, minority ethnic groups or 

disabled people.   

 The importance of equality of access and equality of opportunity. 

 Making information readily available on the accessibility of venues. 

 Consider accessibility issues when planning and delivering cultural 

events/activities, including the cost/pricing and infrastructure issues such 

as transport and parking. 

 Increasing staff capacity and training around the use of language and 

assistance around disability 

 The need for monitoring to be manageable. 

 

7.4 The development of the strategy was strongly influenced by the extensive 

pre-consultation engagement. Through this process there was a strong message 

that a truly inclusive civic society embraces all people and that we should 

challenge the current use of language to enable the city to move forward. 

Therefore the decision was taken that the Cultural Strategy A City 

Imagining’would adopt a language of inclusivity and that specific Section 75 

groups would not be referenced. 

 

7.5 The engagement and consultation activity that has informed the strategy 

will continue to develop and inform the implementation plans and delivery of the 

strategy.  

 

Page 245



Draft Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

48 

8. Monitoring for adverse impact 

8.1  As part of the investment programme and implementation plans, a 

monitoring and evaluation framework is being developed. This will consider the 

need to monitor the equality impacts.  As a result of the feedback on the equality 

assessment, this will also take account of the need to ensure that monitoring 

requirements are manageable and commensurate.   

8.2 In addition, research will be undertaken on an annual basis to inform our 

understanding of participation and measuring harder to capture audiences.   

 

8.3 The results of ongoing monitoring of the equality impacts will be reviewed 

on an annual basis and included in the annual review on progress to the Equality 

Commission. This review will be published on the Council’s website. 

 

9. Further Action 

9.1 The implementation of the strategy aims to ensure a more inclusive 

approach to cultural engagement and investment. The potential to promote 

equality and good relations will only be realised where the delivery is informed by 

due consideration of the inequalities that need to be addressed. The 

implementation plans and the investment programme that support the strategy 

will specifically address the need for targeted initiatives and ensure that the 

principle of equality is fully realised in the outcomes of the strategy. These will be 

subject to relevant screening and/or equality impact assessments at an 

appropriate time when relevant information to conduct a full analysis is available.  

  

Page 246



Draft Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

49 

Appendix A 

 

Belfast City Profile (by Section 75 category) 

 

Religious belief  

Based on the 2011 Census4, there is a higher proportion of of residents from a 

Catholic community background (48.8%).  42.3% state that they are from a 

Protestant and other Christian community background.  Compared to the NI 

level, there is a slightly higher proportion of residents stating that they are of no 

religious persuasion (7.1%, compared to 5.6% regionally); this has also 

increased since the 2001 census when 4.2% indicated they were non-religious.   

 

However, there are many neighbourhoods comprising people almost exclusively 

from one community background; in the 2007 council public survey, 78% of 

residents described their area as mainly one religion5.  In the council’s 2010 

public survey, 51% of those surveyed stated ‘that their local area is a place 

where people from different religious and political backgrounds get on well 

together’.  

 

Political opinion   

In the last local government election held on 22 May 2014, 31.8% of first 

preference votes were cast for Sinn Féin (SF), 20.8%% for the Democratic 

Unionist Party (DUP), 12.5% for the Alliance Party, 10.9% for the Social, 

Democratic and Labour Party (SDLP), 9.8% for the Ulster Unionist Party (UUP), 

7.1% for the Progressive Unionist Party (PUP), 2.88% for Traditional Unionist 

Voice (TUV), 2.53% for the Green Party, and 1.69% for the People before Profit 

Alliance. A total of 60 councillors were elected to Belfast City Council. Note that 

Local Government elections are scheduled for May 2019.  

                                            
4 NISRA (2011) Census of Population 
5 Ipsos MORI (2007) Survey of Belfast Resident Population 

Page 247



Draft Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

50 

 

Ethnic background  

According to Census 2011, 96.7% of Belfast’s population is white. Just over 3% 

of the Belfast population are from an ethnic background.   As is the case in NI, 

the largest minority ethnic groups in Belfast are the Chinese (0.7%), Indian 

(0.7%) and Asian (0.6%) communities .  The proportion of ethnic groups from a 

non-white background has increased in Belfast since the 2001 census (1.4%). 

 

While 95% of Belfast’s population (aged 3+years) have English as their main 

language, recent years have seen an increase in the number of migrants to the 

region and city, with 1.4% of those aged 3+years stating other as their main 

language and 1.2% of those aged 3+years having Polish as their main language. 

 

Age 

Belfast has a lower percentage of young people (aged under 16 years) and a 

lower percentage of older people (aged 60 years and over) than the NI average. 

In 20116, 19.8% of Belfast residents were under 16 years (compared with 20.9% 

in NI as a whole) and 19.6% were aged 60 and over (compared with 21.5% in NI 

as a whole).  The Belfast Agenda and Local Development Plan ambitions are 

putting programmes in place to support the growth of the city’s population, by an 

extra 66,000 people by 2035.   

 

Marital status  

A relatively high percentage of residents are single at 45% compared with the NI 

average of 36.1%.  There is also a higher percentage of those who are separated 

and divorced (11.5%), compared with the NI level of 9.4%.  Belfast also has a 

higher proportion of residents who are in a same sex civil partnership at 0.13%, 

                                            
6 NISRA (2018) 2017 Mid-Year Population Estimates 

Page 248



Draft Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

51 

compared to 0.09% regionally.  There are fewer married people at 35.6% 

compared with the NI average of 47.6%7.   

 

Sexual orientation   

According to ONS statistics, 2.0% of the UK population identified themselves as 

lesbian, gay or bisexual (LGB) in 2017. ONS report that 1.2% of the NI 

population identify themselves as LGB8.  The council currently has no data 

specific to Belfast.  

However, estimates for the LGB population range from 0.3-10% using different 

sources. A commonly used estimate of LGB people in the UK, accepted by 

Stonewall UK, is approximately 5-7% of the population.  

 

Gender  

Belfast has a slightly higher proportion of females (51.5% of residents).  This is 

slightly higher than the NI figure of 50.8% (NISRA 2017 mid year estimates). 

 

Disability  

The Census 2011 showed that 23.5% of Belfast residents has a long term health 

problem or disability that limits their daily activities or the work they can do, 

compared with the NI average of 20.3%9.   

 

Dependants   

30.4% of households in Belfast include dependant children, compared with the NI 

average of 36.5%.  12.1% of households in Belfast consist of a lone parent and a 

dependant child or children, compared with the NI average of 9.1%.   

 

                                            
7 NISRA (2011) Census of Population 
8 ONS (2019) Sexual identity, UK: 2017  
9 NISRA (2011) Census of Population 

Page 249



Draft Final Report - Equality Assessment   

 
 

52 

At the time of the Census, 12.3% of people stated that they provided unpaid care 

for a to family, friends, neighbours or others; this is slightly higher than the NI 

average of 11.8%10. 

 

Multiple deprivation  

On many measures of socio-economic performance there has been a narrowing 

of the gap between the Belfast region and UK averages; however, on most 

measures a gap remains.  As the Northern Ireland Poverty and Social Exclusion 

Survey noted, exclusion remains a fact of life for a large section of the regional 

population with Belfast containing more than its proportionate share11.   

 

Half of the 100 most deprived Super Output Areas in NI are located in Belfast, 

accounting for 29% of its 174 SOAs; the highest proportion of all LGDs. 

Waterworks 2 is ranked as the second most deprived area in NI.  12.4% of the 

Belfast population are living in households with an income below 60% of the NI 

median (compared with 25% in NI as a whole) and 13.1% of the working age 

population are identified as employment deprived (compared with 20.6% in NI as 

a whole).  In terms of access to services, none of Belfast’s Super Output Areas 

fall within the most deprived 100 super output areas in NI12. 

 

 

Links: 

 

https://yoursay.belfastcity.gov.uk 

www.belfastcity.gov.uk/culture  

culture@belfastcity.gov.uk 

 

                                            
10 NISRA (2011) Census of Population 
11 OFMDFM (2008) Poverty and Social Exclusion Survey 
12 NISRA (2017) NI Multiple Deprivation Measures 

Page 250

https://yoursay.belfastcity.gov.uk/
http://www.belfastcity.gov.uk/culture
mailto:culture@belfastcity.gov.uk


Page 1 of 8 
 Page 251



Page 2 of 8 
 

Rural Needs Impact Assessment Template (RNIA) 
 

Section 1 - Defining the activity subject to Section 1(1) of the Rural 
Needs Act (NI) 2016 

 

1A. Name of Public Authority 
 

 

Belfast City Council 

 

 

1B. Please provide a short title, which describes the 
activity being undertaken by the Public Authority 
that is subject to the Section 1(1) of the Rural Needs 
Act (NI) 2016. 

 

 

Development of a 10 year Cultural Strategy for Belfast 

 

 

1C. Please indicate which category the activity 
specified in Section 1B above relates to. 

 

Developing a                           

Adopting a                               

Implementing a                       

Revising a 

Designing a Public Service 

Delivering a Public Service 

 

1D. Please provide the official title (if any) of the 
Policy, Strategy, Plan for Public Service 
document or initiative relating to the category 
indicated in Section 1C above. 

 

 

Cultural Strategy 2020-2030: A City Imagining 

 

 

 

1E. Please provide details of the aims and/or 
objectives of the Policy, Strategy, Plan or Public 
Service. 

 

Policy                    Strategy   X                 Plan 

Policy                    Strategy                    Plan 

Policy                    Strategy                    Plan 

Policy                    Strategy                    Plan 

Page 252



Page 3 of 8 
 

The purpose of the cultural strategy is to present a series of priorities to contribute significantly to the 

Belfast Agenda and the vision to be a culturally vibrant city.  The cultural strategy presents a 10 year 

cultural statement for Belfast and sets out 4 strategic themes and 16 priorities to guide future creative and 

cultural capacity and place-making in the city.  This will provide the framework to develop a new ‘fit for 

purpose’ investment model and implementation plans. The implementation of the strategy aims to ensure 

a more inclusive approach to cultural engagement, programming and investment. 

 

The strategy, A City Imagining, opens with a cultural statement for the city shaped by a public 

engagement programme that commenced in 2017. This is taken forward through four strategic themes 

with each theme having a particular area of focus as follows: 

Theme 1: A City Belonging – focuses on supporting active citizenship and participation in cultural life. 

Theme 2: A City Challenging – focuses on diversity through use of public and cultural spaces. 

Theme 3: A City Creating – focuses on supporting innovation and creativity across the cultural sectors. 

Theme 4: A City Exploring – focuses on Belfast’s relationship to the rest of the world including support for 

cultural tourism 

 

Section 2 – Understanding the impact of the Policy, Strategy, Plan or 
Public Service 

 

2A. Is the Policy, Strategy, Plan or Public Service 
likely to impact on people in rural areas? 

 

Yes             No       X   If the response is NO GO TO Section 2E. 

 

2B. Please explain how the Policy, Strategy, Plan or 
Public Service is likely to impact on people in 
rural areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 253



Page 4 of 8 
 

2C. If the Policy, Strategy, Plan or Public Service is 
likely to impact on people in rural areas 
differently from people in urban areas, please 
explain how it is likely to impact om people in 
rural areas differently. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2D. Please indicate which of the following rural policy areas the Policy, Strategy, Plan or 
Public Service is likely to primarily impact on. 

 

Rural Businesses 

Rural Tourism 

Rural Housing 

Jobs or Employment in Rural Areas 

Education or Training in Rural Areas 

Broadband or Mobile Communications in Rural Areas 

Transport Services or Infrastructure in Rural Areas 

Poverty in Rural Areas 

Deprivation in Rural Areas 

Rural Crime or Community Safety 

Rural Development 

Agri-Environment 

Other (Please state) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 254



Page 5 of 8 
 

If the response to Section 2A was YES GO TO Section 3A 

 

2E. Please explain why the Policy, Strategy, Plan or 
Public Service is NOT likely to impact on people 
in rural areas. 

 

 

The strategy is an overarching strategy, setting out how we will deliver on the Belfast Agenda’s vision for 

Belfast to be a culturally vibrant city. As a high-level, city-wide strategy it sets out the broad direction and 

strategic priorities that will shape the development of more detailed implementation plans and investment 

programmes.  It recognises the importance of cultural diversity and inclusion as core elements and 

therefore, does not differentiate impacts on any specific community.  It is therefore considered that the 

strategy will not have any major impact on communities directly. The detailed implementation plans and 

investment programmes that will be developed to deliver on the strategy will specifically address the need 

for targeted initiatives and will be screened for Equality and Good Relations and Rural Needs and this 

process would be more likely to identify any particular impact on people in rural areas. 

Section 3 – Identifying the Social and Economic Needs of Persons in 
Rural Areas 

 

3A. Has the Public Authority taken steps to identify 
the social and economic needs of people in rural 
areas that are relevant to the Policy, Strategy, 
Plan or Public Service? 

 

Yes             No     X     If the response is NO GO TO Section 3E. 

 

3B. Please indicate which of the following methods 
or information sources were used by the Public 
Authority to identify the social and economic 
needs of people in rural areas. 

 

Consultation with Rural Stakeholders                     Published Statistics  

Consultation with Other Organisations                   Research Papers 

Surveys or Questionnaires                                     Other Publications 

Other Methods or Information Sources (include details in Question 3C below).  

 

3C. Please provide details of the methods and 
information sources used to identify the social 
and economic needs of people in rural areas 
including relevant dates, names of organisations, 
titles of publications, website references, details 
of surveys or consultations undertaken etc.  

 

Page 255



Page 6 of 8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3D. Please provide details of the social and economic needs of people in rural areas which 
have been identified by the Public Authority 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If the response to Section 3A was YES GO TO Section 4A 

 

3E. Please explain why no steps were taken by the Public Authority to identify the social 
and economic needs of people in rural areas? 

 
A public consultation was carried out on the draft city-wide strategy.  Public Consultation workshops and 

events took place in various locations across the city with over 80 event taking place in total, in order to 

enable people in rural areas participate in the consultation. This allowed any issues that are relevant to 

people in rural areas to be identified and informed the development of implementation plans and 

investment programmes that will deliver on the strategy.   

The research carried out by Thrive (2018) in the development of the draft cultural strategy did not identify 

any specific issues for people in rural areas in terms of accessing or participating in cultural activities. The 

development of detailed implementation plans and investment programmes to deliver on the cultural 

strategy will be subject to equality and rural needs assessment to ensure that relevant issues are 

considered. 

 

 

 

Page 256



Page 7 of 8 
 

Section 4 – Considering the Social and Economic Needs of Persons in 
Rural Areas 

 

4A. Please provide details of the issues considered 
in relation to the social and economic needs of 
people in rural areas. 

 

The draft strategy was subject to a 12 week public consultation period consultation. As part of the public 

consultation, events took place in various locations across the city as well as an on-line survey, enabling 

people in rural areas to participate in the consultation. Just over one third of the 95 people responding to 

the on-line Citizenspace survey answered the specific rural needs assessment question (31 responses).  

While the majority of these responses (70%) stated that they had no further comments or issues.  The 

comments that were made included the importance of equality of access and equality of opportunity and 

the need to consider accessibility issues when planning and delivering cultural events/activities, including 

the cost/pricing and infrastructure issues such as use of IT, transport and parking.  These comments have 

also been factored in to the equality assessment.  This will inform the development of implementation 

plans and investment programmes that will deliver on the strategy.   

 

Section 5 – Influencing the Policy, Strategy, Plan or Public Service 

 

5A. Has the development, adoption, implementation 
or revising of the Policy, Strategy or Plan, or the 
design or delivery of the Public Service, been 
influenced by the rural needs identified? 

 

Yes             No       X   If the response is NO GO TO Section 5C. 

 

5B. Please explain how the development, adoption, 
implementation or revising of the Policy, Strategy 
or Plan, or the design or delivery of the Public 
Service, has been influenced by the rural needs 
identified? 

 

 

 

 

If the response to Section 5A was YES GO TO Section 6A 

5C. Please explain why the development, adoption, implementation or revising of the 
Policy, Strategy or Plan, or the design or the delivery of the Public Service, has NOT been 
influenced by the rural needs identified. 

 

 

Page 257



Page 8 of 8 
 

The strategy is a high level, city-wide strategy, which has been developed with an overall city-wide focus 

and recognises the diversity and inclusion of all communities. The draft strategy was subject to a 12 week 

consultation period which included, a number of events in various locations across the city and an on-line 

survey in order to enable people in rural areas participate in the consultation. A report on the consultation 

is available at (www.belfastcity.go.vuk/culturalstrategy).  The majority of respondents raised no specific 

needs; however comments to ensure access to events/activities is communicated and available to people 

who live in rural areas will be factored in to the development of the resultant implementation plans and 

investment programmes that will deliver on the strategy.   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 258



1

CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE

Subject: Infrastructure Presentation Briefing

Date: 28th August 2019

Reporting Officer: Cathy Reynolds, Director of City Regeneration and Development

Contact Officer: Sean Dolan, Senior Development Manager

Restricted Reports

Is this report restricted? Yes No

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                               

After Committee Decision
After Council Decision
Some time in the future
Never

Call-in

Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                 
Yes No

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues
1.1 The purpose of this report is to bring to Members attention the key infrastructure areas 

which will be covered in presentations from Northern Ireland Water (NI Water), Department 

for Infrastructure (DfI) Roads and Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company (NITHC). In 

addition to draw Members attention to the further issues agreed at the City Growth & 

Regeneration Committee Meeting on 7th August 2019. 

2.0 Recommendations
2.1 The Committee is asked to note the content of this report. 

X

X
X

Page 259

Agenda Item 3



2

3.0 Main report

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Background

City Growth and Regeneration Committee, at its meeting on 5th June 2019, agreed to 

receive presentations from NI Water and NITHC. Representatives from DfI Roads will 

attend to present their 2019/2020 Annual Report.

The Belfast Agenda recognises that infrastructure is key to the delivery of sustainable 

development and identifies that infrastructure planning for Belfast needs to be taken 

forward in a strategic and integrated way. A core goal of the Agenda is to work in 

partnership to plan for sustainable urban infrastructure.

City Growth & Regeneration Committee at its meeting on 7th August 2019 noted the main 

issues to be considered at the Special meeting to be attended by the Department for 

Infrastructure, the Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company and NI Water which included 

with previous report attached at Appendix 1:

I. NIW

Living with Water Programme (LWWP)

Belfast Tidal Flood Alleviation Scheme

II. NITHC

Belfast Transport Hub

Weavers Cross

Belfast Rapid Transit (BRT) / Glider Phase One

Belfast Rapid Transit (BRT) / Glider Phase Two

III. DfI Roads

Park & Ride Facilities

York Street Interchange (YSI)

Belfast Bicycle Network 

Residents Parking Zones

Key Issues

In addition to the key issues above which are further detailed in Appendix 1 Members 

agreed that the following issues be raised also at the meeting:

Page 260



3

3.5

3.6

 the proposed Gamble Street rail halt alluded to within the draft Greater Clarendon 

(Sailortown) Masterplan;

 an update on the Local Transport Plan, in the context of establishing safe cycling 

networks;

 overgrown entries and laneways;

 electric vehicle infrastructure; and

 the upgrading of existing drainage and water infrastructure.

Financial & Resource Implications

There are no additional resource implications associated with this report.

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment

There are no Equality, Good Relations or Rural Needs implications at this stage.

4.0 Appendices
1. City Growth & Regeneration Committee 7th August – Briefing Infrastructure 

Presentation 

Page 261



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CITY GROWTH AND REGENERATION COMMITTEE

Subject: Infrastructure Presentation Briefing

Date: 7th August 2019

Reporting Officer: Cathy Reynolds, Director of City Regeneration and Development

Contact Officer: Sean Dolan, Senior Development Manager

Restricted Reports

Is this report restricted? Yes No

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                               

After Committee Decision
After Council Decision
Some time in the future
Never

Call-in

Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                 Yes No

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues

1.1 The purpose of this report is to brief Members on key city infrastructure issues in advance 

of presentations from Northern Ireland Water (NI Water), Department for Infrastructure (DfI) 

Roads and Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company (NITHC) at the special City 

Growth and Regeneration Committee on 28th August 2019.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 The Committee is asked to note the content of this report and consider any strategic city 

infrastructure questions in advance of the Special City Growth and Regeneration 

Committee on 28th August 2019.

X

X
X

Page 263



2

3.0 Main report

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

Background

City Growth and Regeneration Committee, at its meeting on 5th June 2019, agreed to 

receive presentations from NI Water and NITHC. Representatives from DfI Roads will 

attend to present their 2019/2020 Annual Report.

The Belfast Agenda recognises that infrastructure is key to the delivery of sustainable 

development and identifies that infrastructure planning for Belfast needs to be taken 

forward in a strategic and integrated way. A core goal of the Agenda is to work in 

partnership to plan for sustainable urban infrastructure.

Belfast Infrastructure Study

City Growth & Regeneration Committee, at its meeting on 13th September 2017, agreed to 

commission the Belfast Infrastructure Study. The study is intended to present a realistic 

phased approach to infrastructure delivery to support the growth outlined in the Belfast 

Agenda. Arup were appointed to develop the Infrastructure Study in July 2018 and are 

currently working to finalise a draft report by end of summer 2019. City Growth & 

Regeneration Committee, at its meeting on 13th February 2019, agreed to a Members 

Briefing at which the initial out-workings of the Infrastructure Study will be presented. This 

will be scheduled during autumn 2019.

Infrastructure Initiatives

Below is a brief overview of strategic infrastructure initiatives relevant to NI Water, NITHC 

and DfI Roads and a summary of each organisations responsibilities. The brief descriptions 

below are intended to assist Members when considering strategic city infrastructure 

questions in advance of the Special City Growth and Regeneration Committee on 28th 

August 2019.

NI Water

NI Water is a Government Owned Company and non-departmental public body within DfI. 

NI Water was set up in April 2007 as the sole provider of water and sewerage services in 

Northern Ireland.

Living with Water Programme (LWWP)

The LWWP is led by DfI’s Water and Drainage Policy Division. LWWP is developing a 

Strategic Drainage Infrastructure Plan for Belfast (Belfast SDIP) to manage the flooding risk 

Page 264



3

3.16

3.17

3.18

3.19

3.20

in Belfast, address the risk of infraction proceedings under the Water Framework and 

Urban Waste Water Treatment Directives in respect of Belfast Lough, and support 

economic growth.

The sewerage networks and wastewater treatment works serving Belfast require significant 

upgrades to facilitate future growth and development. One of the key aims of LWWP is to 

support economic growth. In addition, the Executive’s North Eastern Flood Risk 

Management Plan identifies the LWWP as the primary measure for managing future flood 

risk in Belfast. There have been a number of flooding events across Belfast on several 

occasions in recent years and Belfast is the largest of the 20 significant flood risk areas 

(SFRAs) identified by the EU Floods Directive Preliminary Flood Risk Assessments.

At the Special City Growth and Regeneration Committee on 28th August, NIW will present 

an overview of the LWWP, outline the work undertaken to date, and set out the proposed 

next steps and associated costs and timeframes.

Belfast Tidal Flood Alleviation Scheme

The Belfast Tidal project is an £18 million scheme of works led by DfI Rivers to provide a 

long-term approach to flooding from the sea in Belfast. The proposed scheme extends from 

Belfast Harbour to Stranmillis Weir and will comprise a number of different forms of both 

permanent and temporary flood defences. It is anticipated construction will commence in 

winter 2019/20 with completion the following winter 2020/21.

NITHC

NITHC is the public corporation providing public transport services in Belfast via subsidiary 

companies, operating under the brand name Translink. They include Metro (serves Belfast 

area), Ulsterbus (serves regional network), Glider and Northern Ireland Railways (NIR). 

Last year there were 84.5 million passenger journeys across Translink’s network; the 

highest in over 20 years and the third year successive year of growth.

Belfast Transport Hub

DfI granted planning permission for the new integrated Transport Hub in March 2019. The 

hub forms part of the wider proposed 20 acre Weavers Cross regeneration project and is a 

flagship project prioritised by the NI Executive. The scheme supports the Belfast Agenda 

growth aspirations and is identified in the Belfast City Centre Regeneration and Investment 

Page 265



4

3.21

3.22

3.23

3.24

3.25

Strategy (BCCRIS) as one of the key transformative interventions for the city centre within 

the Linen Quarter Special Action Area.

Translink is liaising with Council on Buy Social clauses and a draft Memorandum of

Understanding has been prepared and will be implemented upon appointment of the 

contractor. This Memorandum of Understanding agrees partnership working arrangements 

for Council and Translink to deliver employability and skills interventions.  This will optimise 

the ability of those long-term unemployed and economically inactive within Belfast to 

access employment opportunities arising from the Buy Social requirements within the 

Belfast Transport Hub. This will initially focus on embedding the Construction Employment 

Academy model within the enabling works and construction phases of this redevelopment 

as a demonstrator project for the wider partnership to optimise the employment 

opportunities resulting from the wider redevelopment of the surrounding area.

Weavers Cross

Weavers Cross is the wider 20 acre proposed mixed use regeneration project that the 

Transport Hub will be situated within. NITHC will be engaging with a range of stakeholders 

including Members in the near future regarding this project. 

Belfast Rapid Transit (BRT) / Glider Phase One

BRT Phase 1 went live in September 2018 with Glider services G1 (East-West) and G2 

(Titanic Quarter). The Colin Connect Transport Hub opened March 2019. Translink 

reported in May 2019 that the Glider has led to over 45,000 additional passenger journeys 

every week.

Belfast Rapid Transit (BRT) / Glider Phase Two

BRT Phase 2 (North-South) has been included as a key project within the proposed Belfast 

Region City Deal (BRCD). An outline business case for BRT 2 is being prepared for the 

BRCD process and further details on BRT 2 will be presented to a future meeting of City 

Growth and Regeneration committee.

DfI Roads

DfI Roads is the sole Roads Authority in Northern Ireland responsible for transport policies 

and initiatives. DfI Roads previously presented their annual report to City Growth and 

Regeneration Committee in November 2018.

Page 266



5

3.26

3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

Park & Ride Facilities

Proposals for Park and Ride sites are developed under the Park and Ride Programme 

Board which includes representatives from DfI and Translink. An expanded Park and Ride 

at Blacks Road opened in November 2018 and DfI are currently developing proposals to 

expand Park and Ride capacity at Ballymartin, Cairnshill, Moira, Mossley, Newtownards 

and Sprucefield and create new facilities at Comber, Tillysburn and Trooperslane.

To support the Park and Ride facilities new hard shoulder bus lanes on the M1 and M2 

motorways began operation in March 2019.

York Street Interchange (YSI)

The YSI scheme is intended to address a major bottleneck on the strategic road network, 

replacing the existing signalised junctions at York Street with direct links between Westlink, 

M2 and M3, the three busiest roads in Northern Ireland. It will also separate strategic traffic 

from local traffic movements via underpasses below the existing road and rail bridges and 

underneath a new bridge at York Street.

Recognising the need for careful design to reduce the visual impact of the interchange and 

enhance connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists, DfI Roads established a Strategic 

Advisory Group (SAG) in January 2015. The SAG comprises statutory and community 

representatives. Significant engagement has been undertaken to inform design changes 

that will reduce the impact of the YSI on local communities and enhance connectivity.

The tender process to appoint a contractor to bring the scheme to a construction ready 

stage was undertaken in 2016. However, the tender was not awarded due to a legal 

challenge. The hearing to consider the legal challenge took place in the High Court 

between February and March 2018. The court ruled that the contract award should be set 

aside and the matter will have to be reconsidered by DfI. The decision was appealed by DfI 

in November 2018. DfI will provide an update at the Special City Growth and Regeneration 

Committee on 28th August 2019.

Belfast Bicycle Network 

A key Government priority for growing a sustainable economy involves promoting a modal 

shift from private car usage to cycling and walking. DfI have responsibility for coordinating 

relevant cycling and walking policy. DfI established a Cycling Unit in 2013, published a 

Bicycle Strategy for NI in August 2015 and published the draft Belfast Bicycle Network Plan 

Page 267



6

3.31

3.32

3.33

for public consultation in January 2017. The consultation report was published in February 

2018 however the final Network Plan has yet to be published. Members may recall that a 

representative from DfI’s Safe and Sustainable Travel Division attended a special City 

Growth and Regeneration Committee on 28th November 2018 to present and update on the 

Belfast Bicycle Network Plan.

Residents Parking Zones

DfI Roads have completed one Residents’ Parking Zone in the Rugby Road area, which 

began operation in April 2018. DfI intend to carry out a project evaluation in due course 

taking into account the lessons learnt and subsequently a review of the Resident’s Parking 

Zone Policy will be completed to address how schemes are delivered going forward. DfI 

are also designing options to progress a Residents’ Parking Zone in the Iveagh Drive area 

that will be subject to consultation in due course. DfI will provide an update on Residents 

Parking Zones at the Special City Growth and Regeneration Committee on 28th August 

2019. Members may also recall that there was a DfI / Members meeting in May 2018 to 

discuss problem parking. As a follow up to this and in light of various concerns that 

Members have raised on the issue of problem parking, including a Notice of Motion from 

February 2018, DfI have advised that they will facilitate a further meeting on this issue and 

Members will be notified when DfI confirm a date.

Financial & Resource Implications

There are no additional resource implications associated with this report.

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment

There are no Equality, Good Relations or Rural Needs implications at this stage.

4.0 Appendices

None

Page 268



Document is Restricted

Page 269

Agenda Item 3a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 287

Agenda Item 3b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 309

Agenda Item 3c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Cultural Strategy
	Appendix 1 A City Imagining Public Consultation Report
	0503-Cultural Strategy Public Consultation Report (22 August 2019)
	B
	C
	0503C
	Question 1: To facilitate more open and transparent government, Belfast City Council would like your permission to publish your consultation response in the public domain. Should you prefer us to treat your submission as confidential - either by publishing it as an anonymous response or by not publishing it at all - Please indicate your publishing preference. 
	Question 1: To facilitate more open and transparent government, Belfast City Council would like your permission to publish your consultation response in the public domain. Should you prefer us to treat your submission as confidential - either by publishing it as an anonymous response or by not publishing it at all - Please indicate your publishing preference. 
	Please indicate your publishing preference.

	Question 2: What is your name?
	Name

	Question 3: What is your email address?
	Email

	Question 4: Please tell us what you think about our draft cultural statement for Belfast 
	Please tell us what you think about our draft cultural statement for Belfast

	Question 5: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City belonging’ (page 13)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City belonging’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy?

	Question 6: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’ (page 14)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City belonging’ within the draft strategy?

	Question 7: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Challenging’ (page 17)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Challenging’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy?

	Question 8: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Challenging’ (page 18)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Challenging’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Challenging’ within the draft strategy?

	Question 9: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Creating’ (page 21)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Creating’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy?

	Question 10: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Creating’ (page 22)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Creating’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Creating’ within the draft strategy?

	Question 11: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Exploring’ (page 25)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Exploring’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic theme within the draft strategy?

	Question 12: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Exploring’ (page 26)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 strategic priorities for ‘a City Exploring’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to this proposed strategic priorities for ‘A City Exploring’ within the draft strategy?

	Question 13: Please give your comments on our strategic initiatives below 
	At home in 2023: Our approach to 2023 – year of culture (page 30)
	The Roadmap: Our approach to City Events (page 32)
	Looking out: The Destination Hub (page 34)
	Listening in: UNESCO City of Music (page 35) 
	Obviously Belfast: Our draft tourism narrative (page 38)
	Obviously Belfast: Our draft tourism themes (page 39)

	Question 14: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our approach to governance: ‘A City Connecting’ (page 41)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Connecting’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed approach to governance within the draft strategy?

	Question 15: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our commitments laid out in ‘A City Connecting’ (page 42)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our commitments laid out in ‘a City Connecting’ (pg 42)
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed commitments for ‘A City Connecting’ within the draft strategy?

	Question 16: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our approach to investment: ‘A City Investing’ (page 45)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our strategic theme: ‘A City Investing’
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed approach to investment within the draft strategy?

	Question 17: To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 investment priorities for ‘A City Investing’ (page 47)
	To what extent do you agree or disagree with our 4 investment priorities for ‘A City Investing’ (page 47)
	Do you have any suggested changes or improvements to the proposed investment priorities for 'A City Investing’ within the draft strategy? 

	Question 18: An Equality and Good Relations screening has been undertaken on the draft strategy. Are there any aspects of this that you would like to comment on, or change? 
	Comments
	A Rural Needs screening has been undertaken on the draft strategy. Are there any aspects of this that you would like to comment on, or change?

	Question 19: Please tell us of anything else that you feel we should include in our draft cultural strategy that has not been included?
	Comments

	Question 20: What is your postcode?
	What is your postcode?

	Question 21: Which of the following best describes your interest as a respondent?
	Which of the following best describes your interest as a respondent?
	If replying on behalf of a group or an organisation, please specify: 

	Question 22: What is your gender? 
	What is your gender?

	Question 23: What is your age? 
	What is your age?

	Question 24: Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? 
	Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months?

	Question 25: If yes, please say how this disability affects you (please select all that apply)
	If yes, please say how this disability affects you (please select all that apply)
	If other, please specify

	Question 26: What is your ethnic group? 
	What is your ethnic group?
	Mixed Ethic group (please specify)

	Question 27: Please indicate your community background 
	Please indicate your community background

	Question 28: Do you have dependents or caring responsibilities for family members or other persons? 
	Do you have dependents or caring responsibilities for family members or other persons?

	Question 29: If yes, please indicate which of the following caring responsibilities you have. (select all that apply)
	If yes, please indicate which of the following caring responsibilities you have. (select all that apply)
	If other please specify





	Appendix 2 A City Imagining Final Strategy
	Appendix 3 A City Imagining Draft Implementation Plan
	Appendix 4 A City Imagining Draft Approach to investing to culture
	Appendix 5 A City Imagining Final Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix 6 A City Imagining Final Rural Needs Impact Assessment

	3 Presentations
	Appendix 1 - CGR Infrastructure Briefing - Aug 2019 FINAL

	3a Northern Ireland Water (NIW)
	3b Northern Ireland Transport Holding Company (NITHC)
	3c Department for Infrastructure (DfI) Roads



